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THE PRC CITY GAS DISTRIBUTION FLAGSHIP
OF CHINA RESOURCES GROUP

China Resources Gas Group Limited ("CR Gas”), substantially
owned by China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited, one of
the largest state-owned conglomerates in China, is a leading gas
utilities group in China, the principal businesses of which include
the purchases and sales of natural gas, the construction and
operation of pipeline facilities, comprehensive service, combined
cooling, heating and power, and gas for vehicles and vessels, etc.
Its operations are strategically located in areas of China, which are
economically more developed and densely populated and areas
with rich reserves of natural gas.

Leveraging on the excellent industry fundamentals and the Group’s
execution competency, CR Gas continues to expand rapidly in 2023
via organic and acquisition growths. At the end of 2023, CR Gas's
portfolio consisted of 276 city gas projects in 25 provinces of China
including 15 provincial capitals and 76 prefecture level cities with
an annual gross gas sales volume of some 38.8 billion cubic meters
and 57.78 million customers.

The optimization of energy structure and environmental pollution
control will promote the sustainable growth of natural gas
consumption in China. The PRC government has, in recent years,
taken various measures to promote the development and utilization
of less polluting energy sources. The natural gas industry is in sync
with the core development idea of innovation, harmony, green, open
and sharing as compared with conventional energy resources. In
“The 14th Five-Year Plan” and the draft of “Long-Range Objectives
through the Year 2035”, the state once again emphasized that the
promotion of green and low-carbon development, the enhancement
of the construction of ecological civilization and the promotion and
application of natural gas played an important role in protecting
the ecological environment and promoting the transition to green
development.

The natural gas market in China is still in the important
development period, as China remains the most important
region in the global rise of natural gas development. CR Gas
is well placed to take advantage of such a favorable operating
environment and to become the most respectable leader in the
PRC’s gas industry by continuously expanding through organic
and external growths; diligently enhancing its operational
efficiency in pursue of excellence; delivering a safe and reliable
supply of clean energy as well as the caring, competent and
efficient service to our customers; offering growing and sustainable
performance to shareholders; creating extensive professional
and personal development opportunities to employees; and
contributing to the protection and improvement of the Chinese and
global environment.
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ANNUAL RESULTS

In 2023, in the context of intensified geopolitical conflicts, complex
changes in the international situation, and high inflation in many
countries, the overall world economy has shown a weak recovery
trend. The International Monetary Fund forecasts that global economic
growth by 3.1% in 2023. During the year, China’s economic recovery
took the lead among major economies in the world and experienced
an economic upturn, with the gross domestic product (GDP) growing
by 5.2% year-on-year. The China Natural Gas Development Report
published by the National Energy Administration points out that
natural gas, as the cleanest and lowest-carbon fossil energy, is an
indispensable and important component in the construction of China’s
new energy system and its usage will continue to grow steadily for a
long time. Natural gas’s flexible and efficient characteristics can also
support synergistic development of various energies and continue to
play a positive role in the carbon peak and carbon neutrality.

During the year, the Group has adhered to the spirit of pursuing
excellence by formulating the annual management theme of
“benchmarking, rebeginning and creating first-class”. Benchmarked
against the leading companies in the industry, the Group efficiently
promotes business innovation and continuously improves the
operating efficiency in order to constantly consolidate the core
advantages of the Group in the city gas market of sophisticated
regions and cities. By leveraging on excellent operating capabilities,
the Group’s total natural gas sales volume increased by 8.1% from

> CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2023
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The Group will expand steadily via sustainable organic growth and quality
external acquisitions while at the same time proactively exploring new
opportunities arising from its gas value chain and customer base.
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the same period last year to 38.78 billion cubic meters, the revenue
increased by 7.3% from the same period last year to HK$101.27
billion and the profit attributable to owners of the Company increased
by 10.4% from the same period last year to HK$5.22 billion. It is
proposed to distribute a final dividend of 100.69 HK cents, resulting
in a total dividend of 115.69 HK cents for the year, representing a
dividend payout ratio of 50.3%.

SALE OF NATURAL GAS

In 2023, the national apparent consumption of natural gas reached
394.53 billion cubic meters, representing an increase of 7.6% as
compared with the corresponding period of last year. The domestic
natural gas procurement costs still remained high. During the year, the
Group took a number of measures to safeguard the supply capacity
of natural gas and improve the cost of natural gas procurement, with
a total gas volume of approximately 3.00 billion cubic meters and
representing a year-on-year increase of 68.0%. A total of 400 million
cubic meters of unconventional natural gas resources such as coal-
to-gas and shale gas were contracted, which is expected to save
approximately RMBO0.01/cubic meter of natural gas procurement cost.
The leasing of 160 million cubic meters of underground gas storage to
achieve “summer gas for winter use” (&% H) through the model of
natural gas production and storage is expected to save approximately
RMB16.50 million in the procurement cost of natural gas during the
heating season.
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During the year, the Group sold 38.78 billion cubic meters of natural
gas, an increase of 8.1%, of which industrial gas sales was 20.11
billion cubic meters, an increase of 7.2%, accounting for 51.9% of
the Group’s gas sales; commercial gas sales was 8.21 billion cubic
meters, an increase of 9.0%, accounting for 21.2% of the Group’s gas
sales; and residential gas sales increased by 11.1% to 9.44 billion
cubic meters, accounting for 24.3% of the Group’s gas sales.

DEVELOPMENT OF NEW USERS

Benefiting from the Group’s relatively large-scale city gas projects,
most of which are located in major national strategic regions such
as the Beijing-Tianjin-Hebei Region, the Yangtze River Delta Region,
the Chengdu-Chongqging Shuangcheng Economic Zone and the
Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macau Greater Bay Area, the Group will
continue to have a stable user market development space. The Group
continued to focus on the development of urban gas users, seized the
policy opportunity of promoting urban village transformation in mega-
cities to accelerate the development of residential users, promote
the transformation of energy-saving technology for industrial users,
and took the opportunity of national security rectification to promote
commercial “bottled-to-piped-gas conversion” through the linkage of
government and enterprises. The Group prudently developed rural
“coal-to-gas conversion” users around its projects, and optimised the
energy structure by replacing bulk coal.

During the year, the Group had 41,310 new industrial and commercial
users; 3,313,000 residential users were newly developed, including
the connection to 2,833,000 new houses users, 384,000 old houses
users, and 46,000 rural “coal-to-gas conversion” users. The average
gas penetration rate of city gas projects operated by the Group in
China increased from 58.2% for the same period of 2022 to 59.3%.

b CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2023
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EXPANSION OF NEW PROJECTS

The Group continues to focus on the core business development of
city gas by leveraging on its reputable corporate brand image. In
2023, 3 new projects were signed and 8 projects were registered
at the Group and subsidiary level. The new projects expanded the
operational region by 4,057 square kilometers, and the scale of the
city gas business was further expanded. During the year, EEMRRE
E AR AF was consolidated into the financial statements of the
Group, and it acquired 51% equity interest in EFAER (£F)ZkRE
[R/27], and the increase of 2% shareholding in EFIZEBERREE L
7] was completed and consolidated, thus further consolidating the
Company’s leading position in the city gas core business.

As of 31st December, 2023, the number of registered city gas projects
at the Group level reached 276, spanning across 25 provinces,
including 15 provincial capital cities, and 76 prefecture-level cities.
The ever-expanding operational regions and prime geographic
locations of the projects have laid a solid foundation for the sustained
and rapid growth of the Group’s core business.
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COMPREHENSIVE SERVICE BUSINESS

In 2023, the Group comprehensively promoted the integrated network
service model of maintenance, safety inspection, meter reading and
comprehensive services, covering more than 30 million users. The
Group has endeavoured to develop “Gas Butler (AREZ)", which
enables customers to change from doing business in a sales office to
having a Gas Butler providing online service; Over 10,000 Gas Butlers
has become a “mobile shop (REIFEJE)" operating comprehensive
services, creating the “one million shops in one hundred cities (B
HEJE)" model characterised by the comprehensive services of CR
Gas. The Group aims to improve customer service experience in
all aspects, empowering Gas Butler to better serve its users and to
realise that customers’ needs can be met with our network through the
management tools such as Enterprise WeChat and the core intelligent
carriers such as the 95777 national unified service hotline and the
public account content management platform. We provided one-stop
intelligent kitchen and residence assembly solutions with the use of
quality products and services as the core, providing customers with
a hassle-free experience throughout the process. During the year, the
Group held the fourth online marketing campaign of the “Good Life
Festival (S£4F4JE5S)", with a turnover of RMB93.61 million, hitting a
record high. The Group has built the online store of “Runran Selection
(EMRERIE)” to provide customers with better comprehensive products
and services.

During the year, the comprehensive service turnover increased by
27.0% from HK$3.19 billion to HK $4.04 billion, and the segment
profit increased by 19.0% from HK$1.15 billion to HK$1.37 billion.
Excluding the effect of exchange rate fluctuations, the comprehensive
service turnover and segment profit increased by 33.3% and 24.9%,
respectively. The penetration rate of the Group’s comprehensive
service business is still at a low level. The Group believes that through
continuously vigorous promotion, the comprehensive service business
will step into a stage of rapid development in the future and become
an important part of the Group’s business.

b CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2023
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COMPREHENSIVE ENERGY BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT

In 2023, the Group fully explored the energy demand of large-scale
industrial and commercial users in the operational region, made use
of the pipeline advantage and land resources advantage of the city
gas business, selected the best distributed photovoltaic, distributed
energy and transportation charging business. Based on the gas
supply, we created opportunities for the integration of green power,
cooling and heating, solar energy storage and charging, energy and
carbon management and other businesses with the main business,
continued to enhance its comprehensive energy solution capability
and built a comprehensive energy business with the characteristics of
CR Gas.

During the year, the distributed energy business contracted 30 new
projects, and the cumulative number of projects reached 173, with
an installed capacity of 1.2GW; 98 new distributed photovoltaic
projects were signed, with the cumulative number of projects reaching
168, and the installed capacity reaching 213.7MW. During the year,
the Group leveraged on the strengths of its city gas business and
shared resources and pipelines to jointly develop an area-wide
distributed photovoltaic project in Jiangning District, Nanjing City,
Jiangsu Province, with an installed capacity of 100MW and electricity
generation of 100 million kwh per annum. In Yiliang Industrial Park in
Kunming City, Yunnan Province, the Group developed a distributed
central heating project, with a project investment of RMB48.96 million
and steam sales volume of 380,000 tons per annum. The Group has
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also actively expanded the transportation charging business by setting
up specialised vehicle charging companies in Taizhou City, Zhejiang
Province and other places, continued to expand its sites for bonding
bus users and piloted social charging station business. During the
period, 61 charging stations were newly put into operation, resulting
in a total of 232 charging stations being put into operation; the sale
of electricity increased by 14.7% to 310 million kwh as compared with
the same period of last year.

SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT

In the course of its rapid development, the Group proactively
facilitated the development of the corporate governance of the Board.
It kept enhancing the role of the Board and the management, whereby
each had defined terms of reference and responsibilities, executed
effective check and balance, and conducted rational decision-making,
thus forming a corporate governance structure with high efficiency.
The Group has always attached great importance to honesty &
integrity management, and complied with laws and regulations,
international practice, and business ethics. It has also insisted that the
relationship among staff, suppliers, customers, relevant government
authorities, partners, competitors, and other stakeholders shall be
dealt with on an arm’s length basis and in good faith, so as to gain
market share and win respect with integrity and to improve the
Company’s inherent qualities and value with compliance management.

The Group also attaches great importance to environmental, social
and governance (ESG) management, and has established an ESG
working group under the leadership of the Board with the participation
of all departments of the Group to promote the full implementation
of the ESG sustainable development management system. We also
continue to engage consulting firms to provide professional advice on
the Group’s ESG management system, policies, information disclosure,
performance, and practice, and strive to further improve the Group’s
ESG performance. The Group believes that these measures in place
will promote the Group’s sustainable development and contribute to
the construction of a better ecological environment.

b CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2023
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In 2023, the Group organised members of the Board and management
to conduct anti-corruption and environmental protection training by
carrying out an in-depth study to strengthen the culture of integrity
and awareness of environmental protection. During the year, MSCI
maintained the Company’s ESG rating of A. The Group will obtain
recognition and affirmation from all walks of life through pragmatic
and accountable ESG quality management measures, integrating
the national dual goals of “peak carbon dioxide emissions target
by 2030 and reach carbon neutrality by 2060” into daily operational
management to achieve substantive business development.

FINANCIAL INFORMATION

The Group achieved a turnover of HK$101.27 billion in 2023,
representing a year-on-year increase of 7.3%. Overall gross profit
margin of the Group was 18.2%, representing a decrease of 1PPT as
compared with that of last year. The decrease in overall gross profit
margin was mainly due to the decrease in the share of revenue from
gas connection with a higher gross profit margin from 12.9% the same
period last year to 10.8%. The Group believes that revenue structure
will continue to be optimised in the future, and the Group is optimistic
that it will maintain high quality and sustainable development in the
future.

The Group has been adopting prudent financial resources management
policies to keep borrowings and capital expenditure at a sound
level. In 2023, the Group’s operating cash flow achieved HK$10.16
billion, representing a year-on-year increase of HK$5.80 billion and
continuously optimising the operating quality. The Group has sufficient
funds and available banking facilities to meet capital expenditures
and operating requirements in the future. Given the Group’s sustained
in performance, Moody's, Standard & Poor’s and Fitch maintained the
credit rating of the Group at A2, A- and A- during the year. The ratings
reflect the Group’s development strategy of focusing on its core
business comprehensive services and comprehensive energy and its
financial performance for current period has been widely recognised
by the market, which will further reduce the finance costs to be
incurred by the Group in its potential financing activities, and provide
sufficient financial resources for the long-term healthy development of
the Group.

HONESTY & INTEGRITY CULTURE

The Group always regards honesty & integrity as its foundation of
development, and has issued and implemented a series of measures
in recent years, including Regulation on Honesty & Integrity (&
BEEPHEL)) and Rules for Staff Responsible for Honesty & Integrity
Culture (FIEEHEBIIEHE)) and requires every staff to sign the
Honesty & Integrity Declaration (GREEREE)).
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Group is committed to enhancing its standard of corporate
governance by benchmarking with good corporate governance
practices and has adopted a Corporate Governance Handbook
based on the Corporate Governance Code (the “Code”) issued by
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).
The Corporate Governance Report is set out on pages 41 to 61 of this

annual report.

CAPITAL MARKET PERFORMANCE

From 2008 to 2023, the share price of the Group has increased by
7.5 times from HK$3.4 to HK$25.6 and its market capitalisation has
increased by 19.2 times from HK$3.08 billion to HK$59.24 billion.

From 2008 to 2023, the profit of the Group increased by 21.8 times
from HK$240 million to HK$5.22 billion, turnover increased by 33.9
times from HK$2.99 billion to HK$101.27 billion and total assets
increased by 37.2 times from HK$3.71 billion to HK$137.87 billion.

Based on Bloomberg'’s report, as at 31st December, 2023, the Group
was covered by 49 analyst reports.

Given the Group’s robust performance, Moody's, Standard & Poor’s
and Fitch maintained the credit rating of the Group at A2, A- and A- in
2023. The ratings reflect the Group’s development strategy of focusing
on its core business comprehensive services and comprehensive
energy and its financial performance for current period has been
widely recognised by the market, which will further reduce the finance
costs to be incurred by the Group in its potential financing activities,
and provide sufficient financial resources for the long-term healthy
development of the Group.

DEVELOPMENT PROSPECT

In 2023, despite the complex and severe international environment
and the arduous tasks of domestic reform, development and stability,
China’s economy rebounded well with steady improvement in supply
and demand, economic transformation and upgrading were actively
promoted, employment and commodity prices were generally
kept stable, and people’s livelihood was effectively safeguarded,
advancing high-quality development steadily. In 2024, the government
work report of the PRC proposed to actively and steadily promote
the carbon peak and carbon neutrality, and solidly carry out the Top
Ten Actions for Carbon Peak. At present, natural gas, as the cleanest
and lowest-carbon fossil energy, is an indispensable and important

b CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2023



MR IR R S 1B B % TR RE R 5 (R B /R
EHGEETDEWRP MERSEZERRE
- EHUERERERAERT  RA
REXNAXBEEELEEHACHEINE
28R ﬁi%*éﬁﬁﬁ/ WAL~ SLHEHTRE
BREAEER RE_ZT_MF  REZRE
MW%%%%*#E‘%%E%%%%E
RIFEHFTRBY  REAXARITES
ERBERENERSY -

—ECF - AREREF1+2+N EB
B AWM ERREERNERLE E
BERENBERERERNER 28
ARBETERD  2EEFERESN
ﬁ@@%%ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ HERTHEAR
BEBNLZER  DRESERORE
ﬁﬁ%ﬁ%*ﬁﬁ'xﬁhﬂhﬁﬁﬁ'
ERAEENAHEER

B

AEBAREEBEN FPERENS
NXFHEM2EE T H )R 58 5 ik A
EHARENERTEE  AAZBRRESF
ERREFBAROIE

EER
E

B —ZT-_NMF=A=-—+/\H

FERSE
Chairman’s Statement

component in the construction of China’s new energy system and
its usage will continue to grow steadily for a long time. Natural gas’s
flexible and efficient characteristics can also support synergistic
development of various energies and continue to play a positive
role in the carbon peak and carbon neutrality. In the context of the
construction of a new energy system, natural gas is becoming an
important energy source to support the overall green transformation
of the economy and society, continuously replacing high-polluting
fuels and supporting the large-scale development of new energy.
Looking forward to 2024, China’s macro-economy will continue to
grow steadily. As international natural gas prices continue to go
down, China’s natural gas industry will show a healthy and stable
development trend.

In 2024, the Group will adhere to the business strategy of “1+2+N”".
Based on the steady growth of principal business, the Group will
follow its country’s objective to develop clean energy, enrich the
self-controlled natural gas resources, comprehensively enhance the
industrial control, promote investment in external high-quality projects,
continuously raise the penetration rate of the comprehensive service
businesses, upsize the integrated energy, facilitate steady growth
in results, constantly improve shareholders’ return and realise the
sustainable development of the Group.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | would like to take this opportunity to express
our most sincere appreciation to our business partners, customers
and shareholders for their unfailing support as well as all the Group’s
employees for their hard work and dedication in carrying out their
duties and in achieving the Group’s business goal.

WANG CHUANDONG
Chairman

28th March, 2024
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OPERATING RESULTS

Active in pursuit of excellence, the Group reduced the negative impact

of multiple events beyond expectation during the year ended 31st
December, 2023. During the year, the Group’s revenue increased by
7.3% to HK$101.27 billion and we recorded profit attributable to the
owners of the Company of HK$5.22 billion, representing a increase of
10.4% over the previous corresponding period. The operating profit
of the Company increased by 6.3% to HK$9.21 billion and the cash
generated from operations increased from HK$4.35 billion in 2022 to
HK$10.16 billion in 2023.

The revenue of the Group was derived from sales and distribution
of gas fuel and related products, gas connection, comprehensive
services, design and construction services and gas stations, which
respectively accounted for 81.6%, 10.8%, 4.0%, 0.4% and 3.2% of
the revenue for 2023 (2022: 79.6%, 12.9%, 3.5%, 0.5% and 3.5%,
respectively).

Gross gas sales volume increased by 8.1% from 35.89 billion m® to
38.78 billion md.
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The management team continuously improves
the operational efficiency of the Group to achieve
sustainable organic growth.
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REERHERFHIER M RMNERE TS With excellent project planning and active market development
HEFRE  FEZERTHREIER A strategy, the Group continued to focus on the development of new
FR% —T_=FHEREEAFEH users of city gas projects. The total number of newly connected
A331EF - residential users in 2023 was 3.31 million.

RITZ=F ANEBBEERETHHEG In 2023, the Group continued to make new acquisitions and invested
B A1 ERTRRIBEBERER L 16.5 or paid HK$1.65 billion in 11 city gas projects. Most of these projects
BATLT ERABHBEBRRAEEREER are either wholly owned or majority owned by the Group.
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The investments will enable the Group to further extend its coverage
and footprint in the PRC. The Group has existing city gas operations in
these provinces and has 84 regional offices set up in various strategic
locations in the PRC. The projects of the investments will be efficiently
integrated and managed by the relevant regional office depending
on their geographical locations. As such, the Group considers that
the investments will create synergies with the Group’s existing gas
operation, thereby broadening the Group’s revenue base as well as
enhancing and sustaining its profitability.

The Group also conducts ongoing evaluation of past investments,

which are essential for making decisions on future investments.

PRECISE BENCHMARKING

“‘Benchmarking” is the process of comparing one’s business
processes and performance metrics to the best practices of the
industry. The Group has implemented benchmarking initiatives from
best practitioners in all business sectors. “Benchmarking” has started
off internally with intra-group benchmarking and have extended to
benchmarking against external best practices of the industry.

Implementing “Benchmarking” measure is an indispensable choice for
CR Gas to accomplish the fundamental transformation of its growth
model from resources-driven growth to efficiency improvement, and
is also one crucial approach taken by CR Gas to achieve its strategic
goal to become the leading world-class gas enterprise in China.

This combination of internal and external benchmarking helps each
member company to identify the most important gaps between its
current state and where it wants to be. It creates a road map for
change and generates the rigorous cost and performance baseline
necessary to effectively track progress on that road map over time in
terms of cost reductions and performance improvements. All member
companies were required to sign “Benchmarking Responsibility
Contracts” with head office, and continued to deepen 30 quantitative
benchmarks, highlighting the key objectives and becoming more
focused and precise. This ongoing campaign has led to many
satisfying results in 2023.

b CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2023
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Report from the Chief Executive Officer

CONTINUOUS EFFICIENCY IMPROVEMENT
OF REGIONAL CENTRES AND DESIGN &
CONSTRUCTION CENTRES

The Group has 84 regional centres to decentralise the management
of the day to day operation of the Group’s city gas projects across
China. Each regional centre is responsible for the day to day operation
of a cluster of cities within their respective regions. This enhances the
operation efficiencies and provides better services that respond faster
to changing local demand and conditions.

Members of the Group’s management team concurrently serve as
regional general managers. The arrangement minimises the increase
in headcounts or resources, thereby achieving the goal of attaining
maximum results with minimum resources.

The centralisation of the Group’s design and construction activities will
further enhance standardisation of pipeline construction and central
procurements thereby resulting in further cost reductions.

FEERFERERAT —S-=FER q



BERE

Report from the Chief Executive Officer

FEEBRBELRAEERR

AEBEBHEZERTNRERNER
MEBRIBETRERSMEOME - EBEE
AREREREHTMREENEBRES
K -

AEENHEREECE T BL BB
WHBRHNECBEIIRER - &ML
TTBEXRIRE RE S H %
AR R - REMNITRSETRE
BT RE DM EHREE P ETT
—E_ZHEREPREREMEHRER
X AAFE90.14% © LZBEEPT%T%E% F EREE
mEEMERLE - BARBRA -

BEBTHIE B HFHERETHRER
B LA AN EIRERIRAE - (A A

MBS ETRERRE - B LB E R
EEAAONER - FHRRNE R E K
BHEDR  EZR BERIBZIHEREK
BOAT - BB HREERHE—ESA
MENTERREAHNNEENENILER
FER-

ERRLEFEERBEZEN  ~EH
RERERRENAE

HERITEEE -
ﬂﬂﬁlﬁ*”% CTTRER EFREE

CBIBERE ANER ERRERE
}5HE%%EWE’Uiﬁﬂﬂ&%ﬁ?\iﬁﬂ&%ﬂ$
SEZENEEERD -

ERERTEPRBERE - BBTEH
LEEMES RBAPRREKIE - M
ERPKRFRERMRE HEIBEME -
AEAGRREERSHEE  BLEFPE
B BERAEPHEE -

BUSINESS PROCESS STREAMLINING AND
OPERATION ENHANCEMENT

The Group continued its systematic review of the business and
management processes of its various city gas projects. This ongoing
process is expected to continuously enhance the overall operational
efficiency of city gas projects.

The Group’s supply chain management was further streamlined with
rigorous tender system covering construction projects, and the new
or revised guidelines covering various categories of projects and
quality control measures were issued and implemented. With the help
of centralised procurement IT system, the procurement of most of our
materials has been centralised, representing 90.14% of total material
procurement expenditure up to the end of 2023. While safeguarding
product quality, the Group reduced procurement costs through
centralised procurement.

Improvements were also carried out on the employee recruitment,
assessment, remuneration and staff retention policies to enhance
the human resources management process with the objective of
recruiting, promoting and retaining the best talents, from both internal
and external sources. CR Gas’s management team comprises utility
professionals with significant expertise and experiences across
financial, law, commercial and engineering disciplines. We strive to
provide and maintain a satisfying and rewarding working environment
for employees and commit to their training and professional
development.

In view of the significant increase in operation size of the Group in
recent years, we continued to promote the application of information
technology systems covering project management, top-up cards for
gas stations, office administration, centralised cash management,
financial reporting, human resources, centralised procurement and
customer service at various levels of the Group’s operation, so as to
improve our operational efficiency.

On the continuous enhancement of customer service, through
continuously diversifying product portfolio, enhancing the success
rate of household safety inspection, shortening user complaint
processing time, promoting internet payment, quickening the response
of user hotlines and other measures, the Company has optimised user
experience to continuously increase user satisfaction.

b CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2023
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Report from the Chief Executive Officer

On the financial and tax management areas, the Group has
successfully promoted value-oriented management system to each
member company and thus effectively reduced costs and expenses.
In particular, we further enhanced the centralisation of cash
management with the inclusion of more member companies in the
system with significant increase of cash pool size. By doing so, the
Group has greatly reduced the overall cost of borrowing. Furthermore,
various taxation rationalisation and reduction measures were taken to
reduce tax exposure and speed up tax setoffs and refunds.

SAFETY MANAGEMENT ENHANCEMENT

The Group has formulated a number of safety management policies
and procedures, and has hired qualified engineers and technical
staff as well, to manage and prevent any potential accidents in the
Group’s natural gas related facilities which may cause damage to the

environment.

In addition to our internally commissioned control, hazard prevention
and emergency recovery procedures, the Group have fully complied
with the relevant local and national environmental protection
regulations and licensing requirement.
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To improve our safety standard, the Group carried out a range
of company-wide safety and environment conscious campaigns.
Meanwhile, the Group applied new technologies such as big data and
intelligence to explore intelligent monitoring and dispatch management
of gas, so as to strengthen key aspect and potential defect treatment.
The Group continued to carry out safety audit, completed auditing
work for 74 regional companies throughout the year, discovered over
5,031 hidden safety hazards, and vigorously promoted the rectification
of units at all levels. In 2023, the Group invested HK$0.111 billion and
completed the transformation of 80 km of cast iron pipeline.

The Group places emphasis on educating staff and users in respect
of safety procedures. Accordingly, the Group regularly organized
trainings and seminars for relevant staff, and the training for certified
safety engineers, with an aggregate of 372,800 persons/times of
training received which effectively regulated employees’ safety
behavior. For end users, explanations of safety procedures are given
and regular seminars as well as distribution of brochures and booklets
on safety are arranged.
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Report from the Chief Executive Officer

TRAINING AND REWARD FOR EMPLOYEES

As at 31st December, 2023, the Group have approximately 58,608
employees. The Group values human resources and recognises the
importance of attracting, training and retaining quality staff for its
continual success. In addition to the “Gas Faculty” in China Resources
University, which designs courses and provides training programs to
the Group’s workforce, the Group also operates 5 regional training
centres covering Eastern, Northern, Central, Southern and South-
Western China. These centres are located in our regional centres
of Wuxi, Jining, Zhengzhou, Fuzhou and Chengdu. Various types of
management and technical trainings are conducted through the Group
for different levels of staff to enhance their knowledge and skills.
Improvements were also carried out on the employee recruitment,
assessment, remuneration and staff retention policies to enhance
the human resources management process with the objective of
recruiting, promoting and retaining the best talents, from both internal
and external sources. CR Gas’'s management team comprises
utility professionals with significant expertise across financial,
law, commercial and engineering disciplines. We strive to provide
and maintain a satisfying and rewarding working environment for
employees and commit to their training and professional development.
The Group remunerates its employees based on their performance,
work experience and the prevailing market wage level. Further,
bonuses are granted to employees and incentive awards are made
to employees based on merit and performance. The Group believes
this will assist to attract and retain quality staff and at the same time
encourage the employees to give their best performances.
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RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group is constantly alert to the threats or uncertainties with
negative consequences facing the industry and has been taking
various measures to safeguard the Group’s interest.

The system of annual and regular safety audit has been established
continuously on all operating member companies of the Group to
ensure compliance with national and local safety regulations.

The Company has set up 6 audit centers across the country and
continued to promote regional companies to improve audit and risk
control functions. A total of 22 audits were carried out at the Group
and member company levels, covering areas such as operation,
finance, and project procurement. The Group has revised and issued
various audit and risk control management guidelines, organized
major risk management and internal control self-investigation, and no
systemic risks occurred throughout the year.

In 2023, the Group kept improving its institutional system, equipped
its internal control system with information technologies, and took
comprehensive measures to prevent and control major risks and to
supervise and inspect how the internal control system worked, thereby
setting up an internal control system that can strengthen internal
control, prevent risks and promote compliance. By doing so, the
Group made full use of the internal control system to safeguard its
operations and control risks, prevented systemic and major risks from
happening, and boosted the high-quality development of the Group.

TR T
Y

b CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2023



RRREEER

AEBEERBMRERBENRKAREB X
FPEBRNEERTHRREE - KRE
RTOORIEEHERER  2EX%
B —Z_ZFHERFERER - HIELR
BERBUERIEAFR -BE_T-=
FE - AEE-SRIPBRE B8
FWRA(FTLLE) &R E8eRE - BTEINE
(REBE)GRERBR_Z_ZFEDH TR
50.17% ~ 23.73% ~ 10.60% -

AEETBBRTEAELHALEMEE
B XKERREZHEZREREDR -

BEDE HERKERUARZRES
B FREREAEHER ﬁ$¥%ﬁm%ﬁ% :
WY TRENGETYR - —T_=F  F

>Fﬁ%¢k'ﬁﬁm§%ﬁ7ﬁi§9‘o N AE
%ﬁbﬁj}jﬁuzﬁz = 1¢ =M
RIEFE fR4a%E - 369.58 870 @ Rt

/mﬁﬁﬂfﬁ‘%}\u\ CT9B AR

Bt

AAEHHEREAFRZEE TSN TR
BB MRBEAR OB E - RIEBRAR

ol 1 R R E (2R TS
SRBREREAMEE -

B
#i7E SRR

&8 —T-OF=A-+N\R

Il Ch ﬁ#&i
Report from the Chief Executive Officer

ENVIRONMENT AND SOCIAL CONTRIBUTIONS

The Group is supporting the ongoing green environmental policies of
the PRC government by actively expanding our cleaner natural gas
business. In accordance with the national 14th Five-Year Plan and
the Group’s own development status, and with reference to its energy
conservation and emission reduction targets in 2020, the Group
has formulated the major development targets for green and low-
carbon transformation. As of the end of 2023, the Group’s carbon
dioxide emission intensity, comprehensive energy consumption per
RMB10,000 of revenue (comparable price) and the comprehensive
energy consumption per RMB10,000 of added value (current price)
decreased by 50.17%, 23.73% and 10.60% as compared with those at
the end of 2020, respectively.

The Group also carried out charitable activities as token of measure
to contribute to society. The Group’s member companies conducted
activities such as poverty alleviation, donation for education, caring
for particular groups as well as volunteer services in a number
of regions, making donation (including money and materials) for
various public welfare undertakings during the year, thus building a
reputable corporate image of the Group. In 2023, CR Gas vigorously
implemented sustainable charity and public welfare undertakings,
taking positive actions to help build a harmonious society.
Throughout the year, CR Gas’s total charitable donations amounted to
HK$3,695,000, with cumulative volunteer services of 79,000 persons/
times.

APPRECIATION

| would like to express my deepest gratitude to our management
team and staff members for their unfailing hard work and dedication.
We would continue to work hand in hand to improve service to
our customers, increase efficiency to enhance the values of the
shareholders and employees.

YANG PING
Executive Director & Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 28th March, 2024
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BREE FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
i,/
—E=-= ST F CR)
For the year ended Increase/
BZE+=-A=1+—HLEE 31st December, 2023 2022 (Decrease)
FExT FHT
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
- Turnover 101,271,905 94,338,329 7.3%
EF) Gross profit 18,451,671 18,081,851 2.0%
KEEF N EMISR A KR Profit from operations
EEEERBENTIEE) (before finance costs and
share of results of joint ventures
and associates) 9,205,654 8,663,040 6.3%
F iz A Profit for the year 7,058,886 6,308,519 11.9%
RARRAFEHE AL & F Profit attributable to the Company’s
equity holders 5,223,705 4,733,455 10.4%
KRBTSR e F5E Net cash from operating activities
(ZEBRZ%) (after tax payments) 10,156,593 4,351,390 133.4%
BREXRBNOCET) Basic EPS™ (HK$) 2.30 2.09 10.0%
BURARABRR S - "I OB Final dividend proposed per share
(HK cents) 100.69 90 11.9%
2FRES - G OBW) Total dividend per share for the year
(HK cents) 115.69 105 10.2%

R < (1)

75 o

FREARMZRD BHITROAOMETF
BYEE - T REEEE 8RA R

Note: (1)

scheme.
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Basic earnings per share is calculated based on weighted average
number of issued shares, excluding shares held for incentive award
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For the year ended 2023 2022 Increase/
BZE+=-A=1+—HLEE 31st December, (Restated) (Decrease)
FET FAET
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
BEE Total assets 137,871,085 112,303,585 22.8%
RITHEMRRIRS Bank balances and cash 9,978,468 6,437,479 55.0%
EEHEREN Total borrowings™” 26,528,718 22,462,820 18.1%
BEFHE Net borrowings 16,550,250 16,025,341 3.3%
RRABRAFEE AEGER Equity attributable to the
Company’s equity holders 40,772,231 39,307,612 3.7%
AR M 2 Non-controlling interests 22,611,451 13,237,811 70.8%
S maE Total equity 63,383,682 52,545,423 20.6%
—Z2=-= —EF- bk
MBER Financial Indicators 2023 2022 Change
ERE Gross profit margin 18.2% 19.2% (1.0ppt)
FRE(FA) Net profit margin (for the year) 7.0% 6.7% 0.3ppt
SRR (AR FEML) Net profit margin (attributable to
shareholders) 5.2% 5.0% 0.2ppt
BERBELE® Debt to capitalisation ratio® 29.5% 29.9% (0.4ppt)
BEAM/BLLERO Debt to assets ratio® 19.2% 20.0% (0.8ppt)
=ENEEES Return on equity 12.8% 12.0% 0.8ppt
B 5E Notes:

(1)

(2)

®)

ENARAHEERARARBE(ZZE ==
F:83,804,920F &L ZTZZF ¢
2,507,449 F#70) « FETF RHTE A B
BH(ZEZ=F:0F#8x ZT==F:
2,238,960 T4 T) st AfE E 458 -

AABBELEEREEREGELRRK
KB -

AEABLTEERARRAERENL
Bl o

(1

&)

(3)

The amount due to an intermediate holding company (2023:
HK$3,804,920,000; 2022: HK$2,507,449,000), as well as the amount due
to a fellow subsidiary (2023: HK$0 ; 2022: HK$2,238,960,000) are included
in total borrowings.

Debt to capitalisation ratio is the ratio of total borrowings to total
borrowings and total equity.

Debt to asset ratio is the ratio of total borrowings to total assets.

EPERBIERERDLET —B-ZEFH d
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Financial & Operational Highlights

EERE OPERATIONAL PERFORMANCE
“ECCFEEHE Operational data for 2023
R-B=-=F i S
+=-A=t+-H +-A=+-H
As at As at
31st December, 31st December, )
EERE Operational Performance 2023 2022 Change
BEE¥H Number of projects 276 273 3
ERTEEFY (BEFR) Connectable householders
(million) 97.08 93.02 4.4%
ERAFBEXR Penetration rate of residential
household 59.3% 58.2% 1.1 PPT
BHERE (BEIHXK) Gross sales volume (million m?) 38,784 35,889 8.1%
ERAF Residential 9,444 8,497 11.1%
T¥RF Industrial 20,111 18,762 7.2%
EERP Commercial 8,209 7,533 9.0%
CNGNE CNG station 670 716 (6.4%)
LNG 0534 LNG station 350 381 (8.2%)
FYHERE KL EF Average gas tariff/Cost/Gross margin
(ARMEIHX) (RMB per m?) 3.50/2.99/0.51 3.52/3.07/0.45  (0.02)/(0.08)/0.06
ERRE (RE) Total length of pipeline (km) 306,955 291,605 15,350
BERAE Connected customers 57,779,698 54,367,130 3,412,568
ERBF Residential 57,294,810 53,924,848 3,369,962
T¥/RFP Industrial 42,481 36,819 5,662
EERP Commercial 442,407 405,463 36,944
FHEREBRUA (ARY) Average residential connection fee
(RMB) 2,660 2,663 @)
FRERERS (BEWX) Gross new households with paid
connection fee
el Total 3,312,582 4,076,574 (763,992)
AfOE Consolidated 2,654,374 3,076,036 (421,662)
15835 (CNG/LNG/L-CNG) Gas station (CNG/LNG/L-CNG) 315 (193/70/52) 332 (202/76/54) (17)(9)/(6)/(2)

b CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2023
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Management Discussion and Analysis

FINANCIAL RESULTS

The Group’s annual revenue in 2023 amounted to HK$101.27 billion
(2022: HK$94.34 billion).

The city gas distribution business contributed an after tax but before
non-controlling interest profit of HK$7.06 billion (2022: HK$6.31 billion)
and profit attributable to owners of the Company of HK$5.22 billion
(2022: HK$4.73 billion).

Turnover

In 2023, the Group recorded a gross gas volume of 38.78 billion cubic
meters, representing an increase of 8.1%. The turnover of CR Gas
registered an increase of 7.3% from HK$94.34 billion to HK$101.27
billion for the year ended 31st December, 2023, mainly due to the
rapid development of the Group’s gas sales business during the year
and the rise in the price of upstream natural gas.

The Group recorded profit attributable to the owners of the Company
of HK$5.22 billion, representing a increase of 10.4% as compared to
HK$4.73 billion for the previous corresponding period.

Gross Margin

The Group'’s overall gross profit margin was 18.2%, representing a
decrease of 1 percentage point as compared with that of last year.
The decrease in overall gross profit margin was mainly because the
revenue from the Group’s sale and distribution of gas fuel and related
products and revenue from gas stations as a percentage of operating
revenue increased from 83.2% last year to 84.8% in 2023, while
the percentage of revenue from gas connection with higher gross
profit margin decreased from 12.9% last year to 10.8%. The Group
believes that the revenue structure will continue to be optimised in
the future, and the Group is optimistic of high-quality and sustainable
development in the future.

EPERBIERERDLET —B-ZEFH 4



EEEFNWE DA

Management Discussion and Analysis
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Other income, costs and expenses

The increase of HK$1.49 billion in other income was mainly due to the
fact that in 2023, EEMEA and EFPIZEMIRE were consolidated into
the consolidated financial statements of the Group, resulting in a one-
off gain of HK$1.08 billion.

As a percentage of revenue, selling and distribution expenses as
well as the administration expenses were 6.7% and 4.5% respectively
(2022: 6.7% and 4.1%, respectively).

Finance expense increased by HK$384 million was mainly due to the
increase in total borrowing.

The increase in share of results of joint ventures by HK$194 million
was mainly due to the overall revenue brought by the launch of Hefei
project and the improvement in the operation of Tianjin project. And
the decrease in share of results of associates by HK$60 million was
mainly due to EEHE become the Group’s subsidiary in 2023.

Taxation amounted to HK$1.85 billion, representing 20.8% of profit
before taxation (2022: 26.8%).

Operating and free cash flow generation

The city gas distribution operation continued to bring in healthy cash
flow with a net operating cash flow after tax of HK$10.16 billion. The
Group recorded bank balances and cash of HK$9.98 billion at the end
of 2023. The Group continued to leverage on its strong balance sheet
to raise low cost finance during 2023 and had a total borrowings of
HK$26.53 billion outstanding as at 31st December, 2023. The Group
maintains a very healthy balance sheet with a low gross debt to total
asset ratio of 54.0% (2022: 53.2%).

Reasonable rates of return

In view of the fact that the Group is still in expansion phase, the city
gas distribution operation maintained reasonable return on equity of
12.8% in 2023, representing a increase of 0.8 percentage points from
2022. The Group invested a total of 11 new projects in 2023. The rates
of returns were expected to improve once all these newly acquired
projects started to attain higher operating efficiency and generated
more returns in 2023 and thereafter.

b CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2023
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Major contributors

Previously, the earlier projects of Chengdu, Wuxi and Suzhou acquired
in 2008 used to account for more than 80% of the gas sales volume,
connection fee and net profit contribution. As the Group acquired
more new projects from 2009 to 2023, their contribution percentages
decreased and were taken up by others such as Chongqging, Tianjin,
Ningbo, Zhengzhou, Zhenjiang, Fuzhou, Nanjing, Qingdao, Hefei,
Anyang and Wuhan. The percentage contribution from all projects
were expected to gradually become more evenly distributed in the
future. The broadening of the Group’s earning base will ensure that
the Group will not rely heavily on any single city gas project.

Liquidity and Financial Resources

The net cash inflow after tax from operations during the year amounted
to HK$10.16 billion (2022: HK$4.35 billion).

To fund its acquisition expansion, the Group spent HK$2.74 billion in
capital expenditure during the year. The Group spent HK$5.15 billion
in upgrading and expanding of its existing city gas pipelines and
related facilities (2022: HK$6.24 billion). The above required funding
was financed by the operating cash flow, bank borrowings and cash
on hand of the Group. As at year end, the Group’s bank balances and
cash and other deposits was HK$9.98 billion (2022: HK$6.44 billion).
Among the balances, 0.52% was denominated in Hong Kong dollar
and 99.45% in Renminbi and 0.03% in US dollar.

It is the Group’s policy to use the cash flow generated from operations
and appropriate level of borrowings as the principal source of fund to
finance major expansion and acquisition. As at the end of the year,
the Group had total borrowings of HK$26.53 billion (2022: HK$22.46
billion). 32.8% (2022: 55.4%) of the total borrowings are considered
as current liabilities and repayable within one year, and the remaining
are repayable in more than one year. Renminbi, Hong Kong dollar,
US dollar and Japanese Yen, denominated borrowings accounted for
76.2%, 14.8%, 7.6% and 1.4% of the total borrowings respectively
(2022: 67.2%, 24.5%, 7.6% and 0.7%). 23.7% (2022: 30.9%) of total
borrowings are interest bearing on floating rate terms and 76.3%
(2022: 69.1%) are interest bearing bank loans and medium-term notes
with fixed interest rate.

The bank balances and cash of the Group was HK$9.98 billion as at
the year end. The gearing ratio of the Group at the end of the year,
calculated as total borrowings over total assets, was 19.2% (2022:
20.0%). The financial position and liquidity of the Group is very healthy
and stable.

EPERBIERERDLET —B-ZEFH 4
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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The Group has been granted a total of HK$68.12 billion, RMB38.98
billion, JPY8.29 billion, US$0.52 billion and HK$20.33 billion (2022:
HK$15.63 billion, RMB33.89 billion, JPY3.88 billion and US$0.22
billion) banking facilities with maturities from 2023 to 2024. The
facilities are unsecured and with floating interest rates. As at the end
of the year, 16% of the HK$ facilities (2022: 35%), 90% of the RMB
facilities (2022: 7%), 99% of the US$ facilities (2022: 0%) and 30% of
the JPY facilities (2022: 70%) has been drawn down.

Other than the above, the Group has no other committed borrowing
facilities. For day-to-day liquidity management and maintaining
flexibility in funding, the Group has managed to obtain sufficient
uncommitted short-term facilities from banks.

Charge of Assets

As at 31st December, 2023, bank deposits of HK$357.88 million were
pledged as securities for trade payables to suppliers of natural gas.

Property, Plant and Equipment

During the year ended 31st December, 2023, the Group’s city gas
distribution business spent HK$11.52 billion on plant, machinery and
equipment and HK$3.97 billion on construction in progress.

Contingent Liabilities

As at 31st December, 2023, the Group did not have any material
contingent liabilities.

Financial Management and Treasury Policy

The financial risk management of the Group is the responsibility of
the Group’s treasury function at the head office in Hong Kong. One of
the major objectives of the Group’s treasury policies is to manage its
exposure to fluctuation in interest rates and foreign currency exchange
rates. It is the Group’s policy not to engage in speculative activities.

Most of the Group’s assets and liabilities are denominated in Hong
Kong dollar, US dollar and Renminbi with some denominated in JPY.
The Group does not expect significant exposure to foreign exchange
fluctuations in this regard.

b CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2023
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E=EE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
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Mr. WANG Chuandong, aged 60, was appointed as an Executive Director
and General Manager of the Company on 3rd November, 2008. He was

appointed as the Chairman of the Board of the Company with effect from
1st June, 2012. He is also the Chairman of the Company’s Nomination

FERRLELE Committee. He was re-designated as a non-executive Director and the
Mr. WANG Chuandong Chairman of the Board of the Company on 31st January, 2019. He was
appointed as a Director and the General Manager of China Resources
Gas Group Limited in February 2007. He is currently a Deputy General
Manager of China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited. Mr. WANG
joined China Resources Petrochems (Group) Company Limited in 1985
and was previously its Director and Deputy General Manager. He has over
38 years of corporate management experience in the area of petroleum
and related products trading and distribution and holds a Bachelor’s
Degree in Science majoring in Petroleum Refining from the China
University of Petroleum and a Master of Business Administration Degree
from the University of Texas, USA. From 27th March, 2020 to 23rd April,
2023, he served as non-executive director and chairman of the board of
directors of China Resources Power Holdings Company Limited.

ERRRERERAT —B-ZFER 4
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Mr. YANG Ping, aged 49, was appointed as an Executive Director
and Chief Executive Officer of the Company on 23rd December, 2021,
and is also chairman of Corporate Governance Committee. Mr. YANG
was the Chief Representative of the Shanghai Representative Office of

China Resources Gas Group Limited from 2005 to 2011, the General

Bk Manager of the Office & Administration Department of China Resources
Mr. YANG Ping Gas Group Limited from 2011 to 2012, the Vice General Manager of the

Wuhan Region and the General Manager of Wugang China Resources
Gas (Wuhan) Co., Ltd from 2012 to 2014, and the General Manager of
the Greater Hubei Area from 2014 to 2016, and the Vice President of
China Resources Gas Group Limited from 2016 to 2021, successively
responsible for the operation of Central China Region and Southwest
areas. Mr. YANG graduated from Tongji University and holds a Bachelor’s
Degree in Gas Profession.

RNGEEE  BEN+RE R-T_=FT_A/\BEZEARARANTE
o CETRFMAARRF FRIZB-RFEER/RARFRIEE  —T—+
FRERAARERUBE  EUZABEEIARTRESNELIE - it ile
KBRS AR EAECEME AR RREELMBERSEY
LELR  REENBERULKRE  HEKBEBELE -

Mr. LI Xiaoshuang, aged 45, was appointed as an Executive Director of
the Company on 8th December, 2023. He joined the Company in 2005
and was appointed as the Vice President of the Company in 2016 and the
Chief Financial Officer of the Company in 2017. Previously, he had held
the positions of Deputy General Manager of the Investment Department
as well as General Manager of the Audit Department and the Finance
Department of the Company. He has extensive experience in, among

other areas, merger and acquisitions, internal audit, risk management and
RN A financial management. Mr. LI graduated from Guangdong University of
Mr. LI Xiaoshuang Finance & Economics with a bachelor’s degree in economics.

b CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2023
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Mr. WANG Gaoqiang, aged 54, was appointed as a Non-executive Director
of the Company on 15th September 2021, he also serves as an external
director of business unit of China Resources Group. From March 2020
to August 2021, he served as the Deputy General Manager of the Audit

IEmbkt Department of China Resources Group; from February 2012 to February
Mr. WANG Gaogiang 2020, he served as the Vice President of China Resources Power Holdings
Company Limited; from August 2002 to January 2012, he successively served
as the Senior Manager and Deputy Chief Officer of the Audit & Supervision
Department of China Resources Group; from March 2000 to July 2002, he
served as the Manager of the Audit Department of China Resources Logistics
Co. Limited; from August 1992 to February 2000, he successively served as
the deputy chief officer and manager of the Finance Department of China
Resources National Corporation. Mr. WANG has over 30 years’ experience
in corporate finance, internal audit, internal control, risk management and
corporate governance. Mr. WANG holds a bachelor’'s degree of economics
from the Guangdong University of Foreign Studies, and has obtained the
International Certified Internal Auditor qualification and the PRC Accountant
qualification.
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Mr. LIU Jian, aged 63, was appointed as a Non-executive Director of the
Company on 15th September 2021, and is also a member of the Audit
and Risk Management Committee of the Company. He also serves as an
external director of business unit of China Resources Group. He joined
China Resources Group in July 1986. He successively worked in China
Resources Textiles (Holdings) Company Limited and China Resources
Environmental Protection Technology Limited (ZEMRAERFEBRAA)
BYER 4 4 and was responsible for sales and procurement management of such

Mr. LIU Jian two companies. He graduated from the Guangdong University of Foreign
Studies, majoring in imports and exports. He has rich experience in
international trade and sales.
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Ms. GE Lu, aged 52, was appointed as a Non-executive Director of the

Company on 27th September 2023, and is also a designated external
BE4+ director of the business units of China Resources Group. She has been
Ms. GE Lu appointed as an external director of China Resources Healthcare Group
Limited since August 2021, and an external director of China Resources
Digital Holdings Company Limited since November 2021 and a non-
executive director of China Resources Medical Holdings Company Limited
(which is listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange; Stock Code:
1515) since September 2023. Ms. GE served as positions including the
vice general manager and chief information officer of China Resources
Pharmaceutical Commercial Group Limited (ZEEEEFEEB AR AA)
and China Resources Pharmaceutical Group Limited (EHEHEEGE A
A]), and the general manager assistant of Beijing Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd.
(AL RBERMHAERZAA]) (now known as China Resources Pharmaceutical
Commercial Group Limited (EEHBHEEESEBRAT])) from January
2010 to August 2021. Ms. GE has over 30 years of working experience in
the pharmaceutical industry and specializes in supply chain management,
logistics management and information systems management and planning
in the pharmaceutical distribution field. Ms. GE holds a master's degree
of business administration from Tsinghua University ((B%EAZ) and a
bachelor’s degree of computer science from Beijing Jiaotong University
(AL R AE), and holds the title of Senior Engineer.
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Mr. WONG Tak Shing, aged 73, was appointed as an Independent
Non-executive Director of the Company in 1998. He is the Chairman of

EER S the Company’s Remuneration Committee and members of the Audit and
Mr. WONG Tak Shing Risk Management Committee, Nomination Committee and Corporate

Governance Committee. Mr. WONG involves in various professional
appointments and public duties, including Member of Probate Committee
of the Law Society of Hong Kong and Member of Working Party on
Charities and Trust of the Law Society of Hong Kong (2011-2023). He
was admitted as a solicitor of the Supreme Court of Hong Kong in 1984, a
solicitor of England & Wales and Australia respectively in 1989, a solicitor
of Singapore in 1995 and was appointed as a China-Appointed Attesting
Officer with effect from 18th January, 2003 and full member (TEP) of the
Society of Trust and Estate Practitioners (STEP) with effect from 12th
February, 2010. Mr. WONG has been in private practice in Hong Kong
for over 30 years. From 1984 to 1987, he worked as an assistant solicitor
with two local law firms in Hong Kong before setting up his own practice
in 1987. Mr. WONG holds a Master's Degree in Laws from the Peking
University of China and a Master's Degree in Laws from the University of
London of England.
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EE AL Mr. YU Hon To, David, aged 76, was appointed as an Independent
Mr. YU Hon To, David Non-executive Director, Chairman of the Audit and Risk Management
Committee and a member of the Remuneration Committee and the
Nomination Committee of the Company on 28th December, 2012. Mr. YU is
a fellow member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and
Wales and an associate member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. He has extensive experience in the fields of auditing,
corporate finance, financial investigation and corporate management. He
was formerly a partner of an international accounting firm. He is currently
a non-executive director of Haier Smart Home Co., Ltd., which is listed on
the Shanghai Stock Exchange — (stock code: 600690SH) and on the Main
Board of The Hong Kong Stock Exchange Limited (stock code: 6690) and
an independent non-executive director of Keck Seng Investments (Hong
Kong) Limited (stock code: 184), One Media Group Limited (stock code:
426), MS Group Holdings Limited (stock code: 1451) and Playmates
Toys Limited (stock code: 869). In the past 3 years, Mr. YU served as
an independent non-executive director of Media Chinese International
Limited (stock code: 685), China Renewable Energy Investment Limited
(stock code: 987), New Century Asset Management Limited (stock code:
1275 now privatised), and Playmates Holdings Limited (stock code: 635),
all of which are listed on the main board of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited.
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Mr. YANG Yuchuan, aged 60, was appointed as an Independent Non-
executive Director and a member of the Audit and Risk Management
Committee, Nomination Committee and Corporate Governance Committee
of the Company in August 2018. Mr. YANG is the Guest Professor of Hong

BE%E Kong Financial Services Institute, independent non-executive director of
Mr. YANG Yuchuan China Resources Power Holdings Company Limited, the chief executive
and chief macro economist of Prime China Securities Limited, responsible
for the day-to-day management and operation of the company. He has
extensive experience in financial industry. Mr. YANG was an executive
director of Century Sunshine Group Holdings Limited, a company listed
on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange (stock code: 0509); a non-executive
director of TTG Fintech Limited, a company listed on the Australian
Securities Exchange (stock code: TUP); an executive director of Partners
Capital Securities Limited and the chief executive of Sunshine Asset
Management (HK) Limited. Mr. YANG holds a bachelor’'s degree from
Shanghai Jiao Tong University in the PRC and a master’s degree of
business administration from University of San Francisco in the United
States of America.
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Mr. LI Pok Yan Mr. LI Pok Yan, aged 66, was appointed as an Independent Non-executive

Director and a member of the Remuneration Committee of the Company
on 27th September 2023. He is a member of the Hong Kong Institution of
Engineers, Chartered Engineer of the United Kingdom, and a member of
the Institute of Marine Engineering, Science and Technology in the United
Kingdom. He has extensive working experience in different shipyards and is
experienced in managing large-scale projects and leading team operations.
He is proficient in management of personnel, funds, materials, technology,
and information resources, and is familiar with factory and industrial
operations, occupational safety, maritime affairs and the Companies
Ordinance in Hong Kong. Mr. LI is currently an executive director of Yiu
Lian Dockyards Limited and has served as its general manager and deputy
general manager before. He was also the deputy general manager and
senior consultant of China Merchants Industry Holdings Co., Ltd.. Mr. LI
managed the modification and inspection projects of a number of seagoing
vessels and large offshore drilling platforms at that time. Mr. LI was a
member of the Representative Election Conference of the 14th National
People’'s Congress of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region in 2023.
He has been appointed as a member of the Hong Kong Election Committee
(Shipping and Transport Sector) since 2016. From 2009 to 2014, he was
appointed as the Vice Chairman of the 14th and 15th Executive Committee
of the Tsuen Wan Branch of the Hong Kong New Territories Industry and
Commerce Federation. From 2003 to 2009, he was appointed as the 12th
and 13th Vice Chairman of the Tsuen Wan Branch of the Hong Kong New
Territories Industry and Commerce Federation. From 2003 to 2011, he was
appointed as a director of the 12th, 13th and 14th board of directors of
the Hong Kong New Territories Industry and Commerce Federation. Mr. LI
holds a master's degree in management from The Hong Kong Polytechnic
University.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. ZHU Likun, aged 57, was appointed as a Senior Vice President
of China Resources Gas Group Limited in January 2014, responsible
for Party organisation and human resources. Mr. ZHU Likun holds
a Master’'s Degree in Economics from Soochow University and a
certificate of senior engineer. He joined Suzhou China Resources Gas
Co., Ltd. (a member of China Resources Group) in 2003 and has been
working for China Resources Gas Group Limited since then.

Mr. HUANG Weizhong, aged 58, was appointed as a Vice President
of China Resources Gas Group Limited in September 2007,
responsible for legal affairs. Mr. HUANG Weizhong holds a Master’s
Degree in Economics from Fudan University and certificates of
engineer and lawyer. He joined China Resources Petrochemical
Investment & Development Co., Ltd. (EBEA{LREERAR AR, a
member of China Resources Group) in 2000 and has been working for
China Resources Gas Group Limited since 2007.

Mr. YIN Xiaojun, aged 50, was appointed as a Vice President of
China Resources Gas Group Limited in April 2012, responsible for the
work of West China Region. Mr. YIN Xiaojun holds a Bachelor's Degree
of Engineering from Tongji University and a certificate of engineer.
He joined Suzhou China Resources Gas Co., Ltd. (a member of China
Resources Group) in 2003 and has been working for China Resources
Gas Group Limited since 2011.

Mr. LU Hong, aged 53, was appointed as a Vice President of China
Resources Gas Group Limited in March 2012, responsible for the
work of Central Region. Mr. LU Hong holds a Bachelor’'s Degree in
Economics from Tianjin University of Commerce. He joined Yueyang
China Resources Gas Co., Ltd. (a member of China Resources Group)
in 2007 and has been working for China Resources Gas Group Limited
since 2011.

b CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2023



EEBEERLE OtA R-T-_TF+
“HARZEREREMRREEAR AR E R
B BEEERREEKRONDARABTT
E-EREAERERAAEREARRETR
Br8L  URKASRTREMESE - F1
“EZ-FMAERRFMNERRRER
NA WEH T -MFREEHRRER
BRARER -

BoRELSE  t-m RZE-_FF+
THAEZEREBRRERERARLE
EX RELZ KEIfF- HPELXEE
FATIUAZESLSELEMN  UHKAS
ﬁﬁi%\%ﬁAﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁ%ﬁ%°ﬁ
B-ZTLFREEIRRERARA
EB

EMzt MO+t m R-Z-—F+A
EZEAERNRRERERITANEE
BEERARIF - ZRUMLTHAERK
%Iﬁﬂfﬁﬁﬁifﬁﬁ - 3B BN E
RN _EEMEMAEBREARER
>EHW7E|3E Al YBE-E-EFRAEE
R R R AIER

EENRSREEAEBEE
Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

Mr. CHE Dechen, aged 49, was appointed as a Vice President of
China Resources Gas Group Limited in December 2020, responsible
for the work of EEMAEEARMNER AT, Mr. CHE Dechen holds
a Bachelor's Degree of Engineering from Harbin University of Civil
Engineering and Architecture and a certificate of senior engineer. He
joined Suzhou China Resources Gas Co., Ltd. (a member of China
Resources Group) in 2003 and has been working for China Resources
Gas Group Limited since 2014.

Mr. XIAO Zhonghua, aged 52, was appointed as the Secretary of
Disciplinary Committee (4&2Z &%) of China Resources Gas Group
Limited in December 2020. He is responsible for the Disciplinary
Committee and inspection work. Mr. XIAO Zhonghua holds a Master’s
Degree in History from Sun Yat-sen University and certificates of
senior political work specialist and senior human resources manager.
He has been working for China Resources Gas Group Limited since

2007.

Ms. QIN Yan, aged 46, was appointed as a Vice President of China
Resources Gas Group Limited in October 2021, responsible for the
work of East China Region. Ms. QIN Yan holds a Master's Degree in
Business Administration from Nanjing University and a certificate of
economist. She joined China Resources (Nanjing) Petroleum Gas Co.,
Ltd. (BAREBELHAER2AA], a member of China Resources Group)
in 2004 and has been working for China Resources Gas Group Limited

since 2017.
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Mr. LI Xuesong, aged 53, was appointed as a Vice President of China
Resources Gas Group Limited in January 2021, responsible for the
work of South China Region. Mr. LI Xuesong holds a college degree
from Inner Mongolia Radio & TV University (R & EEEEAE). He
joined Zhongshan Public Utility Gas Company Limited (FR LI AFRRA
[R/A7], a member of China Resources Group) in 2007 and has been
working for China Resources Gas Group Limited since 2017.

Mr. HAN Wenchen, aged 51, was appointed as a Vice President
of China Resources Gas Group Limited in March 2022, responsible
for safety management, operational management, intelligence and
digitisation, and technological innovation. Mr. HAN Wenchen holds a
Master’s Degree in economics from Dongbei University of Finance &
Economics, and holds certificates of accountant and certified public
accountant. He joined Shenzhen China Resources Petrochemical
Investment and Development Co., Ltd. CRYITEHA(LIEEZHREAR
‘A7), a member of China Resources Group) in 2001 and has been
working for China Resources Gas Limited (ZEEMIBMRAR]) since
2007.

Mr. JIANG Hougui, aged 53, was appointed as a Vice President of
China Resources Gas Group Limited in March 2022, responsible for
the work of Southeast Region. Mr. JIANG Hougui holds a Bachelor’s
Degree in engineering from Jiangsu Institute of Technology (JL# L
Ef) and holds a certificate of engineer. He joined Shenzhen China
Resources Petrochemical Investment and Development Co., Ltd. (&3]
MEBALIEEZREAFR AR, a member of China Resources Group) in
2006 and has been working for China Resources Gas Group Limited
since 2007.

Mr. SHAO Peng, aged 46, was appointed a Vice President of China
Resources Gas Group Limited in March 2022, responsible for the
work of Northern Region. Mr. SHAO Peng holds a Master's Degree
in business administration from Dalian University of Technology and
holds a certificate of accountant. He joined Huaibei China Resources
Gas Co., Ltd. (EILZFEHRRTER AT, a member of China Resources
Group) in 2006 and has been working for China Resources Gas Group
Limited since 2006.

b CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2023
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Corporate Governance Report

The Group is dedicated to maintaining a good credible framework
of corporate governance with a view to being transparent, open and
accountable to its shareholders.

COMPLIANCE WITH CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
CODE

The Company has adopted the mandatory provisions of the
Corporate Governance Code (the “Code”) set out in Part 2 of
Appendix C1 (formerly Appendix 14) to the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (“Listing Rules”). In line
with the mandatory provisions of the Code, the Company adopted
a Corporate Governance Handbook (the “Handbook”) on 23rd
December, 2005 and subsequently updated it from time to time. The
contents of the Handbook include, among others, directors’ duties,
model code for directors’ transactions in securities, model code for
securities transactions by relevant employees, the functions and
terms of reference of the Audit and Risk Management, Remuneration,
Nomination and Corporate Governance Committees of the Company
(each “Audit and Risk Management Committee”, “Remuneration
Committee”, “Nomination Committee” and “Corporate Governance
Committee”), disclosure of information, communication with
shareholders, procedures for shareholders to propose a person for
election as a director and Board diversity policy. All the mandatory
provisions under the Code have been adopted and reflected in the
Handbook. The Company has throughout the year complied with the
mandatory provisions of the Code except for the deviation from the
code provisions C.3.3 and F.2.2 which is explained as follows:

Under the code provision C.3.3, the Company should have formal
letters of appointment for directors setting out the key terms and
conditions of their appointment. The Company did not have formal
letters of appointment for Directors. However, the Directors are
subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years in
accordance with the Bye-Laws. In addition, the Directors are required
to refer to the guidelines set out in “A Guide on Directors’ Duties”
issued by the Companies Registry and “Guidelines for Directors”
and “Guide for Independent Non-executive Directors” (if applicable)
published by the Hong Kong Institute of Directors in performing their
duties and responsibilities as Directors. Besides, the Directors are
required to comply with the requirements under statute and common
law, the Listing Rules, legal and other regulatory requirements and the
Company’s business and governance policies.
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Code provision F.2.2 stipulates that the chairman of the Board should
attend the annual general meeting. The chairman of the Board was
unable to attend the annual general meeting of the Company held on
25th May, 2023 due to other business commitments.

Save as mentioned above and in the opinion of the Directors, the
Company has met the code provisions set out in the Code throughout
the year.

PURPOSE, VALUES, STRATEGY AND CULTURE

The core purpose of the Company is to create value for its
shareholders. It strives to become a world-class energy service
enterprise that is trusted and beloved by the public. Aiming to
satisfy customers’ needs and its social responsibilities, the Company
supports people’s livelihood, strengthens supply, emphasises safety,
and enhances services, fostering and contributing to the joint efforts
to create a better life. To not only lead in terms of size and profit, but
also become first-class in all aspects including strategy, organisation,
operation, innovation, and digital intelligence, all of us at CR Gas
must make persevering efforts. Customer-centric, the Company serves
a variety of energy needs and provides one-stop solutions to help
customers achieve the dual-reduction goal of reducing energy costs
and reducing carbon emissions.

The Company adheres to the corporate mission and value strategy
of promoting green development and creating a better life. With
shareholders and employees, it innovates development models,
achieves excellent results, realizes co-construction and sharing,
and continuously enhances the sense of gain; with customers and
partners, it upgrades products and services, taps the industry value,
achieves symbiosis and integration, and continuously improves the
sense of happiness; with society and the environment, it adheres
to a low-carbon cycle, promotes stability and harmony, achieves
co-management and co-governance, and continuously enhances
the sense of security. In this connection, it endeavours to maintain
accountability to its employees, consumers, shareholders, the society,
and the environment. These purpose and values shape the Company’s
strategy, which are geared towards becoming a world-class energy
service enterprise trusted and beloved by the public whereby
sustainable values for shareholders are created.

The Company’s purpose, values and strategy form the foundations of
the Company’s corporate culture. Its corporate culture is centered on
adherence to high ethical standards and practices, and striving for
sustainable development.

p CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2023
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Corporate Governance Report

THE BOARD

As at the date of this annual report, the Board consists of two
Executive Directors, four Non-executive Directors and four
Independent Non-executive Directors, one of whom namely Mr. YU
Hon To, David has the appropriate professional accounting experience
and expertise as required under the Listing Rules. The names and
biographical details of each Director are disclosed on pages 29 to 37
of this annual report.

Each Independent Non-executive Director has, pursuant to the
guidelines set out in rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules, confirmed that
he is independent of the Company and the Company also considers
that they are independent. The term of office of each Non-executive
Director, including Independent Non-executive Director, is for a
period of three years subject to the requirement that one-third of all
the Directors shall retire from office by rotation at each annual general
meeting pursuant to the Bye-Laws of the Company. The relationship
(including financial, business, family or other material/relevant
relationship), if any, among members of the Board are disclosed in
this annual report. There is no such relationship between the Chairman
and the Chief Executive Officer.

Mr. LI Pok Yan, Ms. GE Lu, and Mr. LI Xiaoshuang, being Directors
of the Company appointed during 2023, obtained the legal advice
referred to in Rule 3.09D of the Listing Rules on 20th October, 2023,
26th October, 2023 and 14th December, 2023 respectively, and each
of them has confirmed he/she understood his/her obligations as a
Director of the Company.

FUNCTIONS

The Board is responsible both for how the Company is managed and
the Company’s direction. Approval of the Board is required for the
strategy of the Group, yearly budget, major acquisition and disposal,
major capital investment, dividend policy, appointment and removal
of Directors and senior management, remuneration policy and other
major operational, financial, risk management and internal control
matters. Day-to-day operations of the Group are the responsibility of
the Company’s management.
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In 2023, the Board passed one written resolution by all members
of the Board dated 17th February, 2023, to review and approve a
management proposal.

EEEE -

EEGR T -_=—FH8TH
;NS EENERLFIBR

REH - TR

attendance of Directors are set out in the table below:

The Board held five meetings during 2023. Details of individual

—BC-c=E —EBCo=E —E-=E —BC-c=E —ECo=E
A =B=+-8 WA=+NB NA=tEB AAB=ttH +=AtA
31st 28th 25th 27th 7th
March, April, August, September, December,
Date 2023 2023 2023 2023 2023
YTEE Executive Directors
BTEE Mr. YANG Ping V y v 0 y
RNEELE (R-B-=F Mr. LI Xiaoshuang (Appointed on N/A N/A N/A N/A N
+ZAN\BEZT) 8th December, 2023)
BivkE(R=2==% Mr. GE Bin (Resigned on v 0 V v 0
+-ANBEHE) 8th December, 2023)
FeTES Non-executive
Directors
TERLE Mr. WANG Chuandong N N vV V N
TRErE Mr. WANG Gaogiang v v v y y
| Mr. LIU Jian N N N N N
ERat(W-2-=% Ms. GE Lu (Appointed on N/A N/A N/A N N
RAEZ+EREZHE) 27th September, 2023)
AEELELE (WZT=F Mr. LIU Xiaoyong (Retired on N N Vv N N/A
AAZT+LBEM) 27th September, 2023)
ARRELE (M-T==F Mr. HE Youdong (Retired N N Vv N N/A
NEZTERRE) on 27th September, 2023)
BYFHTES Independent Non-
executive Directors
BERBEE Mr. WONG Tak Shing y N N 0 V
MEELE Mr. YU Hon To, David y 0 y | V
BEINEE Mr. YANG Yuchuan V Vv N N \J
FHBAE(R-F==F Mr. LI Pok Yan (Appointed on N/A N/A N/A y v
NAZ+tBEZHE) 27th September, 2023)
HEELE (W_2-=F Mr. HU Xiaoyong (Resigned on 0 0 0 N N/A
NEZTtBET) 27th September, 2023)
EE (TNERRTXER) Remarks (also applicable to the tables set out below)
V= HE \ = attended
O = WRJE O = didn't attend
N/A = i@ A N/A = not applicable
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The Company held one general meeting during 2023. Details of
individual attendance of Directors are set out in the table below:

—E-=HF
=] HA=t+HH
Date 25th May, 2023
HITES Executive Directors
BEEE Mr. YANG Ping N
RNERE (RZTE_ZF+-ANREZT) Mr. LI Xiaoshuang (Appointed on 8th December, 2023) N/A
BWhkE(RZZEZ=F+=-RAN\HET) Mr. GE Bin (Resigned on 8th December, 2023) N
FHITES Non-executive Directors
FEREE Mr. WANG Chuandong 0
FTa®EE Mr. WANG Gaogiang N
Bl Mr. LIU Jian v
BBzt (RZZ_=FNAA=Z+LAEZT) Ms. GE Lu (Appointed on 27th September, 2023) N/A
2gEBErs (R-E-=FNA-+LtBEME) Mr. LIU Xiaoyong (Retired on 27th September, 2023) v
MREEE (RZEZ=ZF A=+ +RHRE) Mr. HE Youdong (Retired on 27th September, 2023)
BIYFHTES Independent Non-executive Directors
w=EBEE Mr. WONG Tak Shing v
AEFLE Mr. YU Hon To, David N
BEINKE Mr. YANG Yuchuan V
FHBGRE(R-ZE-_=ZFAA-THLBEEZE)  Mr. LI Pok Yan (Appointed on 27th September, 2023) N/A
EELE (RZE_=F At HEHE) Mr. HU Xiaoyong (Resigned on 27th September, 2023) 0

RZZB_=%F FTFERARBEIIFNT
BEERTTEH  UEBHGERHE -

In 2023, the chairman has held a meeting with the independent non-
executive directors of the Company without the presence of other
directors.

EEERESZTIEE
ARRAR-E-ZFN\B-TZARME
FERESTACBE ((HR]) IR -F=
—E+ AT HARBETTERE o 1
B2 R ARIT I B $IE 2 7
R A REREERN TXRE -

BERBE
RAARAREEZEEENZ TL AR HF
BENEETEZ - —HEFZTIENES
eHBREABE TR  WERITEL
CEE MAIREMBEENESTENX
B WA MUAA ZEEEERETE
EENRBEAEMBTAERE TR
BRATREBEEYE -EFSMBEEY
RESSBREHAVEEMTEENHERE
BRKFEAEN o

m $5 o

/

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Company adopted a board diversity policy (the “Policy”) on 23rd
August, 2013 and updated the Policy on 26th December, 2022. A
summary of this Policy, together with the measurable objectives set for
implementing this Policy, and the progress made towards achieving
those objectives are disclosed as below.

Summary of the Policy

The Company sees diversity at Board level as an essential element in
maintaining a competitive advantage. A truly diverse Board will include
and make good use of differences in the skills, regional and industry
experience, background, gender and other qualities of the members
of the Board. These differences will be considered in determining
the optimum composition of the Board and when possible should be
balanced appropriately. All Board appointments are made on merit, in
the content of the skills and experience the Board as a whole requires
to be effective.
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Measurable Objectives

The Nomination Committee will discuss and agree annually all
measurable objectives for achieving diversity on the Board and
recommend them to the Board for adoption. At any given time, the
Board may seek to improve one or more aspects of its diversity
and measure progress accordingly. For the year under review, no
measurable objective was set by the Nomination Committee.

As at the end of 2023, the Company has 58,608 employees in total
comprising of approximately 19,341 females and 39,267 males (a
female-to-male ratio of 2:1), reflecting a gender equality principle
generally adhered to by the Company. The Company is mindful of
the objectives as set out in the diversity policy when assessing the
candidacy of the employees, and will ensure that the Company shall
continue to follow the policy. To achieve gender diversity in the Board,
the Company has appointed one female Director during 2023 to
comply with the requirements of the Listing Rules.

The Board will annually review the implementation and effectiveness
of the Board diversity policy. The Board considers that the policy is
effective to achieve diversity at the Board.

Implementation

As at the date of this report, the Board’s composition under major
diversified perspectives was summarised as follows:

L1l Female
Gender 2

EDi
Ethnicity

FHAE R

Age Group 40-49(2)

PR 755 HA

Year of Service

EFE AR

50-59 (2)

60-69 (4)

0-5 (7)

Number of 1 >
Directors
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DIRECTORS’ TRAINING

All Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. Each
newly appointed Director would receive the guides covering the
statutory and regulatory obligations of a director of a listed company.
The relevant updates on the latest developments regarding the
Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory requirements are also

o

BEERFRA2ENKESEERE

provided to the Directors in order to ensure compliance and raise their
concerns on good corporate governance.

AT Participation of Directors in continuous professional development

during the year is as follows:

B3R HER
HE g8k 3% HARFEEER

WiE - RHEE - REAERAFR
28R, AWEHE HEBHNER
Reading
Receiving training; regulatory
attending and/or updates or
giving talks at information
seminars, relevant to
conference the Company or
and/or forums its business
HITES Executive Directors
B EE Mr. YANG Ping \ v
RNESE (RZTZ=F Mr. LI Xiaoshuang (Appointed on v v
+ZAN\BHEZE) 8th December, 2023)
BEWtE (RZ2_=F Mr. GE Bin (Resigned on N v
+=AN\BE&T) 8th December, 2023)
FHTES Non-executive Directors
FEREE Mr. WANG Chuandong \ v
TedkE Mr. WANG Gaogiang N V
BB A Mr. LIU Jian N v
BBt (RZZZ=F Ms. GE Lu (Appointed on v V
NAZ++HBEEE) 27th September, 2023)
BB AE (RZTZ=F Mr. LIU Xiaoyong (Retired on N N
NAZ+ERRE) 27th September, 2023)
AIRREE(RZT_=5F Mr. HE Youdong (Retired on v V
NAZ+ERRMAE) 27th September, 2023)
BYkHTES Independent Non-executive Directors
E5EBLE Mr. WONG Tak Shing v V
EIEIES =S Mr. YU Hon To, David N \J
BEINEE Mr. YANG Yuchuan N N
FEBEE(RNZTZ=F Mr. LI Pok Yan (Appointed on \ v
NAZ+EHEZF) 27th September, 2023)
MEESE (KT =F Mr. HU Xiaoyong (Resigned on N v

A=+ HEBHE)

27th September, 2023)

EERRIZRERAF
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The Board has adopted effective mechanisms to ensure independent
views and input are available to the Board. Subject to approval of
the Chairman of the Board, Directors may seek, at the Company’s
expense, independent legal, financial or other professional advices
from advisors independent from those advising the Company as and
when necessary in appropriate circumstances to enable them to
discharge their responsibilities effectively. The Board will review the
implementation and effectiveness of such mechanisms on an annual
basis.

The Board considers that the above mechanisms are effective in
ensuring that independent views and input are provided to the Board.

CHAIRMAN AND THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

As at the date of this annual report, the Chairman of the Board is
Mr. WANG Chuandong while Mr. YANG Ping is the Chief Executive
Officer. The Chairman provides leadership to the Board and formulate,
together with the Board, the business strategies and long-term
objectives of the Company whilst the Chief Executive Officer
carries out the decisions made by the Board and is in charge of the
Company’s day-to-day management.

BOARD COMMITTEES

To strengthen the functions of the Board and to enhance its expertise,
as at the date of this annual report, there are five committees
namely, the Audit and Risk Management, Remuneration, Nomination,
Investment and Corporate Governance Committees under the Board,
with each performing different functions.

Audit and Risk Management Committee

As at the date of this annual report, the Audit and Risk Management
Committee comprises of three Independent Non-executive Directors
namely Mr. YU Hon To, David (Chairman), Mr. WONG Tak Shing and
Mr. YANG Yuchuan and one Non-executive Director, namely Mr. LIU
Jian. The Committee’s role is to provide an independent and objective
review of the effectiveness of the financial reporting process, internal
control, risk management as well as internal audit function of the
Group. Its functions broadly fall into the following three main areas:

. make recommendations to the Board on the appointment,
reappointment and removal of external auditor, and to approve
the remuneration and terms of engagement of external auditor
and any matters related to the resignation or dismissal of external
auditor;

° review the financial statements of the Company’s annual and
half-year reports and accounts;

b CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2023
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° oversee the Company’s financial reporting system, internal
controls and risk management systems.

The terms of reference of the Audit and Risk Management Committee
have been uploaded to the websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company.

During 2023 and up to the date of this annual report, the Audit and
Risk Management Committee has reviewed the financial statements
and yearly results announcement for 2022, and those for the
half-yearly results and yearly results for 2023. These include the
review of the Group’s financial and accounting policies and practices;
the review of the continuing connected transactions of the Company
conducted in 2022 and 2023; and the review of the internal audit
reports prepared by the Company’s Audit Division.

In 2023, the Audit and Risk Management Committee passed one
written resolution by all its members dated 17th February, 2023 to
review and approve a management proposal.

The Audit and Risk Management Committee held four meetings during
2023. Details of individual attendance of its respective members are
set out in the table below:

I Ha
Chairman Members
HARELE
(R=B==%
NA=t+HR
MEE K4 YZxE  EEBAE BI)I%E RE)
Mr. LIU
Xiaoyong
Mr. YU (Retired on
Hon To, Mr. LIU Mr. WONG Mr. YANG 27th September,
B Date David Jian Tak Shing Yuchuan 2023)
ZZ-=Ff=RA=+H 20th March, 2023 N N N N N
ZEZ=FRAZT-A 21st June, 2023 N N 0 y v
“ZZ=F\A+/\R 18th August, 2023 y y y y 0
—Z-=F+ZA=+A 20th December, 2023 Y N N N N/A
FTMEEE Remuneration Committee

YFNZEENIEREABEE MBI ESNR
SARER A BRE IR ENEE - BFET
IZEJ\EA?EﬁIéJr¥I : ﬁﬁb%iﬂ&,ﬁ\mﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁbﬁ

CUREEEREREEABNE
&%ﬁ%%ﬂ% °

The role and main function of the Remuneration Committee is to
determine and review the compensation and benefit policy of Directors
and senior management, including but not limited to bonus plan,
Incentive Award Scheme and other long term incentive plan, as well
as bonus allocation and salary adjustment of each Director and senior
management.
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The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee have been
uploaded to the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

As at the date of this annual report, the Remuneration Committee
comprises of three Independent Non-executive Directors namely Mr.
WONG Tak Shing (Chairman), Mr. YU Hon To, David and Mr. LI Pok
Yan.

During 2023, the Remuneration Committee held three meetings
to review and determine related bonus and compensation of the

Executive Directors and senior management. Details of individual

A attendance of its respective members are set out in the table below:
Ed:3 KE
Chairman Members

FEREE HEELE
(R=B==% (R=B==%F
BEREBAE MEEEE  AAZTLAEZEA) hBZtTHARE)
Mr. LI Pok Yan Mr. HU Xiaoyong
(Appointed on (Resigned on
27th September, 27th September,
A Date Mr. WONG Tak Shing  Mr. YU Hon To, David 2023) 2023)
S ) ey W= 26th July, 2023 | N N/A 0
27th September, 2023 0 y N/A il
ZZC-FTZAtH 7th December, 2023 | y | N/A
RBEZZE_=F+-A=1+—HBLLEFE " For the year ended 31st December, 2023, the remuneration of the

SREBASRBELZD 2 HHEHIIWT

Mg E ()

members of the senior management by band is set out below:

A

Remuneration band (HKD) Number of persons

078 7% 1,000,000/ 7T

1,000,001/ 7% 1,500,000 7T
1,500,00178 7% 2,000,0007% 7T
2,000,001&7C%2,500,000/8 7T
2,500,001#&7C% 3,000,000/ 7T
3,000,001 7T % 3,500,000/ 7T
3,500,001 7T % 4,000,000/ 7T
4,000,001 L% 4,500,000/ 7T
4,500,001 7C%5,000,00078 7T
5,000,001/ 7L %5,500,00078 7T
5,500,000/ 7L 26,000,000/ 7T

HKDO to HKD 1,000,000 -
HKD1,000,001 to HKD1,500,000

HKD1,500,001 to HKD2,000,000

HKD2,000,001 to HKD2,500,000 3
HKD2,500,001 to HKD3,000,000 4
HKD3,000,001 to HKD3,500,000 3
HKD3,500,001 to HKD4,000,000 1
HKD4,000,001 to HKD4,500,000 -
HKD4,500,001 to HKD5,000,000 -
HKD5,000,001 to HKD5,500,000 -
HKD5,500,000 to HKD6,000,000 -

EHEEHE N AZ RS FALZESH
& - EELETRBIMERD2 (BN ER16) 2
BETURE  THNGATBEREM
110

Further particulars regarding the directors’ emoluments and the five
highest paid individuals as required to be disclosed pursuant to
Appendix D2 (formerly Appendix 16) to the Listing Rules are set out in
note 11 to the consolidated financial statements.
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Nomination Committee

The role and main function of the Nomination Committee is to review
the structure and composition of the Board, to make recommendation
to the Board on the selection of individual nominated for directorships,
to formulate and maintain a director nomination policy and propose
amendments thereto to the Board when necessary, to review the
effectiveness of the implementation of the Board diversity policy at
least annually, and to make recommendations to the Board on the
policy and objectives of gender diversity of Board members.

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee have been
uploaded to the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

As at the date of this annual report, the Nomination Committee
comprises of one Non-executive Director namely Mr. WANG Chuandong
(Chairman), and three Independent Non-executive Directors namely
Mr. WONG Tak Shing, Mr. YU Hon To, David and Mr. YANG Yuchuan.

The selection criteria for Directors is that the candidate(s) must have
substantial experience in business relevant to the Company or in
corporate management, or in relevant profession and must be able to
contribute effectively to the objectives of the Company. In identifying
suitable candidates for appointment to the Board, the Nomination
Committee will consider candidates on merit against objective criteria
and with due regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board. Any
committee member may propose suitable candidates for directorship
for discussion and approval by the Nomination Committee, after which
the Board will consider and, if proper, approve such nomination.
Directors thus selected is subject to re-election by shareholders of the
Company in the next general meeting or next annual general meeting,
as appropriate, according to the Bye-Laws of the Company.

REZEGR_ZS_=FRITMREE " T During 2023, the Nomination Committee held two meetings. Details
REFIEKENERILRFER of individual attendance of its respective members are set out in the
table below:
£ RE
Chairman Members
IfREE ESBAL MEELE BEN%E
A Date Mr. WANG Chuandong Mr. WONG Tak Shing Mr. YU Hon To, David ~ Mr. YANG Yuchuan
ZEC=FEnRZTtA 27th September, 2023 y 0 | "
CECCETZALH 7th December, 2023 y | y |
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Nomination Policy

Nomination policy aims to ensure that the Board has a balance
of skills, experience, knowledge and diversity of perspectives
appropriate to the requirements of the Company’s business.

The Nomination Committee will evaluate, select and recommend
candidate(s) for directorships to the Board by giving due consideration
to criteria including but not limited to (collectively, the “Criteria”):

(a) Diversity in aspects including but not limited to gender, age,
cultural and educational background, professional experience,
skills, knowledge and length of service;

(b) Commitment for responsibilities of the Board in respect of
available time and relevant interest;

(c) Accomplishment and experience in the relevant industries in
which the Company’s business is involved and other professional
qualifications;

(d) Reputation for integrity;

(e) Potential contributions that the individual(s) can bring to the
Board;

(f)  Plan(s) in place for the orderly succession of the Board.

The above Criteria are for reference only, and not meant to be
exhaustive and decisive. The Nomination Committee has the discretion
to nominate any person, as it considers appropriate.

The Nomination Committee will evaluate and recommend retiring
Director(s) to the Board for re-appointment by giving due
consideration to the criteria including but not limited to:

(a) The overall contribution and service of the retiring Director(s)
to the Company, including but not limited to the attendance
of the meetings of the Board and/or its committees and
general meetings where applicable, in addition to the level
of participation and performance on the Board and/or its
committees;

(b) Whether the retiring Director(s) continue(s) to satisfy the Criteria.

b CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2023
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The Nomination Committee will evaluate and recommend candidate(s)
for the position(s) of the independent non-executive directors of the
Company by giving due consideration to the factors including but
not limited to those set out in Rules 3.10(2) and 3.13 of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited, subject to any amendments as may be made from
time to time, in addition to the Criteria. Where any Independent Non-
executive Director has been in office for more than nine years, the
Nomination Committee shall consider the reason why such Director is
still an independent person and should be re-elected.

Procedures and Process for Nomination of Directors

The Nomination Committee will recommend to the Board for the
appointment of a Director in accordance with the following procedures
and process:

(a) The Nomination Committee may consult any source it deems
appropriate in identifying or selecting suitable candidates,
such as referrals from existing Directors, advertising,
recommendations from third-party agency firm and proposals
from shareholders of the Company with due consideration given
to the Criteria;

(b) The Nomination Committee may adopt any process it deems
appropriate in evaluating the suitability of the candidates, such
as interviews, background checks, presentations and third party
reference checks;

(c) The proposed candidates will be asked to submit the necessary
personal information and biography for the Nomination
Committee’s consideration. The Nomination Committee may
request the candidate(s) to provide additional information and
documents, if considered necessary;

(d) Upon considering a candidate suitable for the directorship, the
Nomination Committee will hold a meeting and/or by way of
written resolutions to, if thought fit, approve the recommendation
to the Board for appointment;
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(e) The Nomination Committee will provide the relevant information
of the selected candidate to the remuneration committee of the
Company (the “Remuneration Committee”) for consideration of
remuneration package of such selected candidate;

(f) The Nomination Committee will thereafter make the
recommendation to the Board in relation to the proposed
appointment, and where a non-executive Director is considered,
the Remuneration Committee will make the recommendation to
the Board on the proposed remuneration package;

(g) The Board may arrange for the selected candidate to be
interviewed by the members of the Board who are not members
of the Nomination Committee and the Board will thereafter
deliberate and decide the appointment as the case may be;

(h) All appointment of Directors will be confirmed by the filing of the
prescribed form with the Companies Registry of Hong Kong and
updating (and, if necessary, filing) of the Register of Directors of
the Company.

Investment Committee

The role and main function of the Investment Committee is to assist
the Board in making investment decisions (including acquisition or
divestment opportunity) within the investment threshold of US$8 million
to US$20 million or other thresholds as authorised by the Board from
time to time.

The Investment Committee comprised of three Non-executive Directors
namely Mr. WANG Chuandong (Chairman), Mr. WANG Gaogiang and
Mr. HE Youdong, and one Independent Non-executive Director namely
Mr. WONG Tak Shing.

The Investment Committee was dissolved and discharged on 25th
August, 2023.
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Corporate Governance Committee

The role and main function of the Corporate Governance Committee
is to assist the Board in developing and reviewing the policies and
practices on corporate governance which are applicable to the
Group and make recommendations to the Board, and to develop a
Shareholder communication policy and review it regularly to ensure its
effectiveness.

The terms of reference of the Corporate Governance Committee have
been uploaded to the website of the Company.

As at the date of this annual report, the Corporate Governance
Committee comprises of two Independent Non-executive Directors
namely Mr. WONG Tak Shing and Mr. YANG Yuchuan, and one
Executive Director namely Mr. YANG Ping (Chairman).

On 31st March, 2023, the Corporate Governance Committee held one
meeting. Details of individual attendance of its respective members
are set out in the table below:

£ KE
Chairman Members
BY EGE RE
A Date YANG Ping WONG Tak Shing YANG Yuchuan
“E-=FZR=1-H 31st March, 2023 y N N
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board has the overall responsibility of maintaining an effective risk
management and internal control system to provide reasonable, though
not absolute, assurance against material misstatement or loss and to
manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business
objectives. The above risks include, but are not limited to, material risks
related to ESG.

The Board, through the Audit and Risk Management Committee,
conducts annual review of the effectiveness of the Company’s systems
of risk management and internal control covering all material controls,
including financial controls, internal control and risk management
systems.

The Audit and Risk Management Committee considers the major
investigation findings on risk management and internal control matter
as delegated by the Board or on its own initiative and management’s
response to these findings.

The Audit and Risk Management Committee also considers the
adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience of the
Company’s accounting, financial reporting and internal audit functions
as well as those relating to the Company's ESG performance and
reporting, and their training programmes and budget. With respect
to procedures and internal controls for handling and dissemination
of inside information, the Company has set out written policies and
procedures in relation to the handling of inside information, including
but not limited to measures to ensure compliance of disclosure
requirement.

The Internal Audit Division assists the Audit and Risk Management
Committee to review the effectiveness of such risk management and
internal control system in operation. The Division regularly carries out
internal audit and other related audit reviews and reports its findings
and suggestions for improvement on better internal controls to the
Audit and Risk Management Committee for their consideration. During
the year, the Internal Audit Division also conducted reviews of key risk
management system of the Company. Its findings were reported to the
Audit and Risk Management Committee for consideration and would
form the basis for further improvement in the future. Inspections and
risk assessments were carried out in key risk areas such as operation
environment (concession rights availability and their protection,
pipeline infrastructure bottlenecks, strategy execution hurdles, etc);
financial management (cash custody and management, payment
approval process, receivables management, accounting policy
adherence, etc); safety management (pipeline infrastructure inspection
and maintenance process, safety system and related safety incident
reporting structure, etc); engineering and construction management
(tender process reviews, project management procedures and
practice); key materials procurement (vendor and materials
qualification process, tendering and quality control processes, etc).
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In addition, internal audit division also closely follows up on corrective
actions by all business units on their self-inspections of key risk areas.

The Company has adopted an anti-corruption and anti-bribery
policy to govern acceptance of advantages by employees and a
whistleblowing policy to provide guidance to employees and external
stakeholders to report concerns about any suspected or actual
improprieties relating to the Group.

Based on the results of the annual review, the Board is satisfied with
the effectiveness of risk management and internal control system
currently put in place for the Company.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model Code”) set out in Appendix C3
(formerly Appendix 10) to the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct
in relation to Directors’ securities transactions. Having made specific
enquiry of all Directors, the Company confirmed that all Directors have
complied with the required standard set out in the Model Code during
the year.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR PREPARING
THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge that it is their responsibilities in preparing
the consolidated financial statements. The statement by the Auditor
about their reporting responsibilities on the consolidated financial
statements is set out in the Independent Auditor’'s Report on pages 82
to 90.
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¥ BB #Y9  BA AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION
ARBRFANEAESHSHMERTAE The Company appointed KPMG as independent auditor during the
ViZER c BE_T_=F+=-A=+—H year. For the year ended 31st December, 2023, details of the fees
IEFE - BEFTRFEEERGE N RERAK paid or payable to the Company's external auditor, KPMG, in respect
NANBIZEEA RSB EBHMNER of audit and non-assurance services are set out in the table below:
RN TR
—g=-=
2023
FHET
B A% % Bl Type of Services HK$’ 000
EEt REETEERE Audit and audit related services
— &E& - Audit 12,234
— R EAEH — Interim review 1,335
FEEE R Non-assurance services
— BRI X P B RS — Assurance service on continuing connected
transactions 556
—2FEBNEZHTERF — Agreed upon procedures on annual results
announcement 111
14,236
DNAEIME COMPANY SECRETARY
RZZTZ=F ' AR NAWERBE B During 2023, the Company Secretary of the Company was Mr. LO Chi
KEMBEENKE - %ﬁ?ﬁi AT Lik Peter, a practicing solicitor in Hong Kong. Mr. LO was appointed
NA—REZERRFWE - BR—NER as the Company Secretary with effect from 1st September, 2017.
FHEFBISEMER Bt —EHE2A He qualified as a solicitor in Hong Kong in 1976 and has been in
ITtE-RZEZ—F—A—HEZZ-_—F continuous practice since qualification. During the period from 1st
—A=1+—HHEM  BrLERPBTEEM January, 2021 to 31st March, 2022, Mr. LO was a partner of Messrs.
THEBA - BZZ__FMA—BE % Woo, Kwan, Lee & Lo. With effect from 1st April, 2022, he ceased to
THETERATEETHEBZM 8= be a partner but remained with the firm as a consultant. With effect
ZWFE—A—A  BAEEDBEREESE from 1st January, 2024, Mr. LO resigned and Ms. CHENG Kwai Yuk
ZIEEEABRARINAEIWE - BEREL was appointed as the Company Secretary of the Company. Although
ERBLZTWIFARBNEHRES - KER Mr. LO and Ms. CHENG are not full time employees of the Company,
ERGERUNBRENLANETNEEH they report to the Board and in capacity as Company Secretary
ERCEEMNESERMER - RARHEER advise the Board on governance matters. The primary contact person
ENBZLEINEEBERABRTEELER of the Company with Mr. LO and Ms. CHENG is Mr. LI Xiaoshuang,
WMIEE R NEL A o BRERBL T HRE the Executive Director and Chief Financial Officer. Mr. LO and Ms.
#55%777f¢ﬁﬁ§ﬁ’m\ﬁﬁ%gﬁ’ﬂ154\ﬁ% CHENG confirmed that they had fulfilled the 15 hours of continuing
FHE B R REIES professional development training required in respect of 2023.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS
Procedures for shareholders to convene special general meeting

In accordance with the Section 74 of the Companies Act 1981 of
Bermuda (“Companies Act”), the shareholders of the Company holding
at the date of the deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of
such of the paid-up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting
at general meetings of the Company, shall have the right to convene
a special general meeting of the Company. If the directors do not
within twenty-one days from the date of the deposit of the requisition
proceed duly to convene a meeting, the requisitionists representing
more than one half of the total voting rights may themselves convene
a meeting.

The written requisition for the special general meeting can be lodged
at the Company’s principal office in Hong Kong at Room 1901-02,
China Resources Building, 26 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong.

Procedures for shareholders to put forward proposals at a general
meeting

Pursuant to the Sections 79 and 80 of the Companies Act, either
any number of the registered shareholders holding not less than
one-twentieth (5%) of the paid-up capital of the Company carrying the
right of voting at general meetings of the Company (“Requisitionists”),
or not less than 100 of such registered shareholders, can request
the Company in writing to (a) give to shareholders entitled to receive
notice of the next general meeting notice of any resolution which may
properly be moved and is intended to be moved at that meeting; and
(b) circulate to shareholders entitled to have notice of any general
meeting any statement of not more than 1,000 words with respect to
the matter referred to in any proposed resolution or the business to be
dealt with at that meeting.

The requisition signed by all the Requisitionists may consist of
several documents in like form, each signed by one or more of the
Requisitionists; and it must be deposited at the Registered Office
with a sum reasonably sufficient to meet the Company’s relevant
expenses, not less than six weeks before the meeting in case of a
requisition requiring notice of a resolution or not less than one week
before the meeting in the case of any other requisition. Provided that if
an AGM is called for a date six weeks or less after the requisition has
been deposited, the requisition though not deposited within the time
required shall be deemed to have been properly deposited for the
purposes thereof.
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Procedures for shareholders to propose a person for election as a
director

Pursuant to bye-law 113 of the Bye-Laws of the Company, the Company
may from time to time in general meeting by ordinary resolution elect, or
authorize the Directors to elect or appoint, any person to be a Director
either to fill a vacancy or to act as an additional Director up to the
maximum number of Directors determined by the members in general
meeting.

Pursuant to bye-law 115 of the Bye-Laws of the Company, no person,
other than a retiring Director, shall, unless recommended by the
Board for election, be eligible for election to the office of Director
at any general meeting, unless notice in writing of the intention to
propose that person for election as a Director and notice in writing by
that person of his willingness to be elected shall have been given to
the Company provided that the minimum length of the period, during
which such notices are given, shall be at least seven days. The period
for lodgment of such notices will commence no earlier than the day
after the dispatch of the notice of the meeting appointed for such
election and end no later than seven days prior to the date of such
meeting.

The detailed procedures regarding the election are published on the
Company’s website under Corporate Governance section.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the year ended 31st December, 2023, there were no changes
in the Company’s Memorandum of Association and Bye-Laws. The
latest version of the Memorandum of Association and New Bye-Laws
of the Company is available on the websites of the Company and the
Stock Exchange.

Investor Relations

The Board has adopted a Shareholder’s Communication Policy on
30th December, 2022 which sets out the Group’s commitment of
maintaining an effective ongoing dialogue with shareholders. In
summary, the Company establishes different communication channels
with shareholders and stakeholders including: (i) provision of printed
copies of corporate communications; (ii) provision of timely corporate
information on the company website; (iii) holding of annual general
meetings to provide platform for shareholders to raise comments and
exchange views with the Board; and (iv) arrangement in serving the
shareholders in respect of all share registration matters. The Board,
through the Corporate Governance Committee, reviewed the validity
of implementation of the Shareholder's Communication Policy during
the year and considered that it remained effective in enhancing timely,
transparent, accurate and open communication between the Company
and the shareholders.
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The Company has always recognised the importance of investor
relations activities, as it believes that effective communication with
shareholders and investors is very important to help investors to gain a
better understanding about the Company’s business performance and
strategies.

In 2023, we hosted different types of activities through which
shareholders and investors have increased their understanding about
the Company. During the year, the Company met with more than 1,500
fund managers and analysts by means of investor seminars, advisory
meetings and telephone conferences to introduce the Company’s
operating results, development strategies and business updates.

The Company welcomes any suggestions and participation of
shareholders and investors. Any enquiries and suggestions may
be made by letter, telephone, fax or email to the Investor Relations
Department of the Company according to the contact information set
out below:

China Resources Gas Group Limited
Room 1901-02, China Resources Building
26 Harbour Road

Wanchai

Hong Kong

E-mail: crgas_IR@crcgas.com

Tel: 852-2593-8200
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PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The activities of its
principal subsidiaries and joint ventures are set out in note 47 and
note 48 to the consolidated financial statements, respectively.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Review of the business of the Group during the year and discussion
on the Group’s business prospects, the Group’'s compliance with
relevant laws and regulations which have a significant impact on
the Group, the relationships of the Group with its key stakeholders
are provided in the Chairman’s Statement on pages 2 to 11, Report
from the Chief Executive Officer on pages 12 to 21, Management
Discussion and Analysis on pages 25 to 28, Corporate Governance
Report on pages 41 to 61 and Directors’ Report on pages 62 to 81
of this annual report. Description of key risk factors and uncertainties
that the Group is facing is provided in the Chairman’s Statement,
Report from the Chief Executive Officer and note 5 to the consolidated
financial statements while the financial risk management objectives
and policies of the Group are provided in note 42 to the consolidated
financial statements. An analysis of the Group’s performance during
the year using financial key performance indicators is provided in
Financial and Operational Highlights on pages 22 to 24 of this annual
report. The Group’s environmental policies and performance and
future prospects of the Group’s business are provided in the Report
from the Chief Executive Officer on pages 12 to 21 and the Chairman’s
Statement on pages 2 to 11 of this annual report respectively.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31st December, 2023
are set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income on pages 91 to 92.

RESERVES

Movements in the reserves of the Group during the year are set out in
the consolidated statement of changes in equity on pages 95 to 97 to
the consolidated financial statements.

The Company’s reserves available for distribution to shareholders at
31st December, 2023, amounted to HK$40,540,830,000.

p CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2023
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FINAL DIVIDEND

The Directors have resolved to recommend the payment of the 2023
Final Dividend of 100.69 HK cents per share. Together with the interim
dividend of 15 HK cents per share paid, total distribution for 2023
would thus be 115.69 HK cents per share (2022: 105 HK cents per
share).

Subject to the approval of shareholders at the forthcoming annual
general meeting, the 2023 Final Dividend will be payable on
Wednesday, 17th July, 2024 to shareholders whose names appear on
the register of members of the Company on Friday, 31st May, 2024.

DIVIDEND POLICY

In proposing any dividend payment, the Board shall also take into
account the following criteria, including:

° the Group’s actual and expected financial performance;

o shareholders’ interests;

° general business conditions and strategies;

° retained earnings and distributable reserves of the Company

and each of the other members of the Group;

° the level of the Group’s debts to equity ratio, return on equity
and financial covenants to which the Group is subject;

° any contractual restrictions on payment of dividends by the
Company to its shareholders or by the Company’s subsidiaries
to the Company;
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o the Group's expected working capital requirements and future
expansion plans;

. liquidity position and future commitments at the time of
declaration of dividend;

o taxation considerations;

. possible effects on the Group’s creditworthiness;

o statutory and regulatory restrictions;

. general economic conditions, business cycle of the Group’s

business and other internal or external factors that may have
an impact on the business or financial performance and
position of the Company; and

o other factors that the Board deems appropriate.

The Board may from time to time pay to the shareholders such
interim dividends subject to the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as
amended from time to time) and the Bye-Laws of the Company.

Except in the case of interim dividend, any dividends declared by the
Company must be approved by an ordinary resolution of shareholders
at an annual general meeting and must not exceed the amount
recommended by the Board.

Dividends may be distributed in the form of cash or shares subject to
and in accordance with the Companies Act 1981 (as amended from
time to time) of Bermuda and the Bye-Laws of the Company.

p CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2023
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CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed from Tuesday
21st May, 2024 to Friday, 24th May, 2024, both days inclusive. In
order to determine the identity of members who are entitled to attend
and vote at the annual general meeting to be held on Friday, 24th
May, 2024, completed transfer forms accompanied by the relevant
share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s Hong Kong
branch share registrar and transfer office, Tricor Secretaries Limited,
at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong not
later than 4:30 p.m. on Monday, 20th May, 2024.

Subject to the approval of shareholders at the annual general meeting,
the proposed final dividend will be payable to shareholders whose
names appear on the register of members of the Company after the
close of business at 4:30 p.m. on Friday, 31st May, 2024 and the
register of members of the Company will be closed from Thursday,
30th May, 2024 to Friday, 31st May, 2024, both days inclusive, during
which no transfer of shares of the Company will be registered. In
order to be entitled to the proposed final dividend, completed transfer
forms accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged
with the Company’s Hong Kong branch share registrar and transfer
office, Tricor Secretaries Limited at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16
Harcourt Road, Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on Wednesday,
29th May, 2024.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

As at the end of the year, the authorised share capital of the Company
was HK$1,000,000,000 divided into 10,000,000,000 shares of HK$0.10
each, of which 2,314,012,871 shares had been issued and fully paid,
and the reserves of the Group was HK$40,540,830,000. Details of the
movements in the issued share capital of the Company are set out
in the section of Management Discussion and Analysis in this annual
report and note 35 to the consolidated financial statements.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS

During 2023, the Company continued to make new acquisitions and
invested or paid HK$2.74 billion in 11 city gas projects. Most of these
projects are either wholly owned or majority owned by the Group.
As at 31st December, 2023, CR Gas portfolio included 276 city gas
projects and its footprint covered 25 Chinese provinces and included
15 provincial capitals and 76 prefecture level cities.
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GOING CONCERN

On the basis of current financial projections and facilities available,
the Group has adequate financial resources to continue its operation
for the foreseeable future. For this reason, the going concern basis
continues to be adopted in preparing the consolidated financial
statements.

BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

The particulars of bank and other borrowings of the Group as at 31st
December, 2023 are set out in note 31 to the consolidated financial
statements.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A financial summary of the Group for the last five financial periods is
set out on page 257 of this annual report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in the property, plant and equipment and
investment properties of the Group during the year are set out in note
14 and note 15 to the consolidated financial statements, respectively.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Details of the movements in the goodwill and other intangible assets
of the Group during the year are set out in note 20 and note 21 to the
consolidated financial statements, respectively.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31st December, 2023, the aggregate turnover
attributable to the five largest customers accounted for less than 10%
of the Group’s total turnover.

For the year ended 31st December, 2023, the aggregate procurement
volume attributable to the five largest suppliers of the Group
accounted for around 17.54% of the Group’s total procurement
volume, of which that attributable to the largest supplier around 4.86%.

None of the Directors, their close associates or any shareholders
which to the knowledge of the Directors own more than 5% of the
Company’s share capital has any interest in any of the Group’s five
largest customers or suppliers.

p CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2023
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CHARITABLE DONATION

During the year, the Group made donations in cash and in various
forms of goods in the total amount of approximately HK$3,695,000
(2022: HK$4,959,000).

DIRECTORS AND SERVICE CONTRACTS

The Directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of
this annual report are:

Executive Directors:

Mr. YANG Ping
Mr. LI Xiaoshuang (Appointed on 8th December, 2023)
Mr. GE Bin (Resigned on 8th December, 2023)

Non-executive Directors:

Mr. WANG Chuandong

Mr. WANG Gaogiang

Mr. LIU Jian

Ms. GE Lu (Appointed on 27th September, 2023)
Mr. LIU Xiaoyong (Retired on 27th September, 2023)
Mr. HE Youdong (Retired on 27th September, 2023)

Independent Non-executive Directors:

Mr. WONG Tak Shing

Mr. YU Hon To, David

Mr. YANG Yuchuan

Mr. LI Pok Yan (Appointed on 27th September, 2023)

Mr. HU Xiaoyong (Resigned on 27th September, 2023)

The Company has received an annual confirmation from each
Independent Non-executive Director with each confirming his
independence pursuant to rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and the
Company still considers such Directors are independent of the
Company.

Pursuant to bye-law 101 of the Bye-Laws of the Company, Mr. LI
Xiaoshuang, Ms. GE Lu and Mr. LI Pok Yan shall retire from office
at the Annual General Meeting, and they are eligible and offer
themselves for re-election.
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Pursuant to bye-law 110(A) of the bye-laws of the Company, Mr. YANG
Ping, Mr. WANG Gaogiang, Mr. LIU Jian and Mr. YU Hon To, David
shall retire from office by rotation at the Annual General Meeting, and
they are eligible and offer themselves for re-election.

None of Directors, including Directors proposed for re-election at
the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company, has a
service contract with the Company or any of its subsidiaries which
is not determinable by the Group within one year without payment of
compensation, other than statutory compensation.

The term of office of each Non-executive Director, including
Independent Non-executive Director, is for a period of three years
subject to requirement that one-third of all the Directors shall retire
from office by rotation at each annual general meeting pursuant to the
Bye-Laws of the Company.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS AND CONTRACTS

There was no transaction, arrangement or contract of significance
to which the Company or its subsidiary or its holding company or its
fellow subsidiary was a party subsisting during or at the end of the
financial year in which a Director of the Company or his/her connected
entity is or was materially interested, either directly or indirectly.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The remuneration payable to each Director is based on his relevant
qualifications, experience and expertise, his duties and responsibilities
and performance of the Group. The current market situation will also
be taken into account. Bonus and incentive awards may be granted
to individual Directors in recognition of their contribution to the Group.
All the aforesaid form the remuneration policy and long term incentive
for Directors of the Company.

The remuneration and benefits package of the executive Directors
shall include remuneration, bonuses, performance related incentive
payments, and retirement benefit schemes contributions, as well as
the Company’s share repurchase cash award scheme and other long-
term incentive schemes; non-executive Directors and independent
non-executive Directors shall be entitled to director’s fees for services
rendered by them as Directors of the Company.
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EEfMLESER DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SECURITIES

BTXAEZEEN RZE_=F+=-A= Save as disclosed below, as at 31st December, 2023, none of the
+—H  RARAFREE  THEHREBREA Directors, chief executive of the Company and their associates had
RARARSEAEE AR (ERREHR any interests or short positions in any shares, underlying shares or
HEGEG ([FHRBAEEG ) EXVE) & debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations
& - HEARMDKEREES - BEEBRE (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance
BENEEIEOIEXVEET RN IBEME (the “SFO")) which were required to be notified to the Company and
ARARREZFAOERSAE (BEREE the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the
R EREIGOIE BIESCE(ESR AR )& SFO (including interests and short positions which they are deemed
wmRKR) - SARIEE F R EKHIE 352 or taken to have under such provisions of the SFO) or which were
B AZIEFTIEE S MaEEsAs - = required, pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the
RIE LB ITAZESETELRRR HNIZLEST register referred to therein, or which were required, pursuant to the
AIZEAE A AR R ERIORE Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers,

to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange.

(a) REQAFCBTEERNER (a) Interests in issued ordinary shares of the Company

FRrob R

wEES

HREEKRE BB EE Aggregate

EEHR Long or short Number of percentage

Name of Director position shares of interest’

EHSB A 5=} 120,000 0.0052%
Mr. WONG Tak Shing? Long position

EERRELS A 800,000 0.035%
Mr. WANG Chuandong?® Long position

BB Sp e [S55) 30,000 0.0013%
Mr. LIU Jian* Long position

MEE - Notes:

1. WAR-_Z-_=ZF+_A=+—8FF 1. This represents the percentage of aggregate long position in
FARRAR LB XA A 1858 ordinary shares and underlying shares of the Company to the total
MARRREHEBITRONEDLL issued shares of the Company as at 31st December, 2023.

2. X ENERERRBEENE 2. All interests disclosed above are being held by the Director in his
HEBEANENEE - capacity as beneficial owner.

3. TERELEWRARBEERBZ 3. Mr. WANG Chuandong was deemed to be interested in 800,000
800,000 &A% 19 2 #E %5 © shares through interests of his spouse.

4. TA30,000 M H & » BIER % £ 1 4. Among 30,000 shares, Mr. Liu Jian was deemed to be interested in
WAEAEEE 210,000 MH 2 10,000 shares through interests of his spouse.

M o
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(b) RELXAMEBEIEEBBEREZRABR
AR (EHER) CRITEERKRMA
R R

Interests in issued ordinary shares and underlying shares of

China Resources Medical Holdings Company Limited (“CR

Medical”), an associated corporation of the Company

Frik ez

wEES

HRIKXR BRHEE Aggregate

EENA Long or short Number of percentage

Name of Directors position shares of interest’

BEEE HE 80,000 0.0062%
Mr. YANG Ping Long position

BRA+ e 66,000 0.0051%
Ms. GE Lu Long position

B E Notes:
1. WARZZ_=F+-A=+—BF# 1. This represents the percentage of aggregate long position in

EHER TR AR R R
EHERMCBITRONBEILL

2. EXMEENMERRREHESIUE
HsHEAHNEE -

(c) RAXFTMEB EEEREE (ZER) A
AR (TEHEE]) SRITEERR
HERD R

ordinary shares and underlying shares of CR Medical to the total
issued shares of CR Medical as at 31st December, 2023.

2. All interests disclosed above are being held by the Director in his/

her capacity as beneficial owner.

Interests in issued ordinary shares and underlying shares

of China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited (“CR

Beer”), an associated corporation of the Company

Frik ez

wEES

HRRKRR BRBEE Aggregate

EEHE Long or short Number of percentage of

Name of Director position shares interest’

Bt HE 2,000 0.000062%
Ms. GE Lu? Long position

B EE Notes:
1. WBARZZEZ_=F+-A=+—HFR 1. This represents the percentage of aggregate long position in

FERSHLBRIAEROFRLE
BEEHEL2RERTRONED
L o

2. EXAEBENMERSEHESUE
BEBAFDEE °

ordinary shares and underlying shares of CR Beer to the total issued

shares of CR Beer as at 31st December, 2023.

2. All interests disclosed above are being held by the Director in her

capacity as beneficial owner.

b CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2023
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LONG TERM AWARD SCHEME

On 1st December, 2008, the Company adopted a share repurchased
cash award scheme (the “Incentive Award Scheme”), pursuant to
which selected employees of the Group or investee companies (being
any company in which the Company directly or indirectly owns 5%
or more attributable equity interests (the “Investee Company”), and
in calculating the percentage interest so attributed, the percentage
interest held in the Investee Company shall be multiplied by the
percentage interest in each level of entity through which such interest
is held by the Group), are entitled to participate in the Incentive Award
Scheme pursuant to the scheme rules.

The purpose of the Incentive Award Scheme is to recognise and
motivate the contribution of certain employees and to provide
incentives and to enable the Group and the Investee Company in
retaining their existing employees and recruiting additional employees
and to provide them with a direct economic interest in attaining
the long-term business objectives of the Company. Unless early
termination by the Board, the Incentive Award Scheme shall be valid
and effective for a term of 10 years commencing on the adoption
date. The maximum aggregate numbers of award shares which can
be awarded under the Incentive Award Scheme and to a selected
employee throughout its duration are limited to 5% and 0.5% of the
issued share capital of the Company from time to time respectively.

Pursuant to the rules of the Incentive Award Scheme, the Company
has appointed BOCI-Prudential Trustee Limited as trustee (the
“Trustee”), pursuant to which existing shares will be purchased by
the Trustee from the market out of cash contributed by the Group and
be held in trust for the relevant selected employees until such shares
are vested with the relevant selected employees in accordance with
the provisions of the Incentive Award Scheme. A total of 70,000,000
shares were purchased at an aggregate cost of approximately
HK$253,534,680 (including transaction costs) on 7th April, 2009,
representing approximately 4.95% of the issued share capital of the
Company as at date of acquisition. The Company does not intend to
purchase any further share under the Incentive Award Scheme.

On 16th March, 2010, the Company amended the Incentive Award
Scheme such that cash instead of award shares will be awarded under
the Incentive Award Scheme (the “Scheme”). The Company will utilize
the proceeds generated from disposal of the award shares held by
the Trustee for the awards made under the Scheme. The awards will
be subject to the approval of the Company’s Remuneration Committee
and the cash under the award will only be given upon fulfillment of
relevant vesting conditions imposed on the date of grant of the award.

EPERBIERERDLET —B-ZEFH 4
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The Scheme expired on 1st December, 2018 and the Company was
working on the closure of the Scheme. During 2023, the Company
did not grant any award share. Details of the movement of the award
shares held by the Trustee are as follows:

REROBE
Number of
award shares

RZZZNFOALABE

Purchased on 7th April, 2009 70,000,000

RIZ—ZFREREE Granted and disposed of during 2010 (1,818,000)
RZTE——FRERNE Granted and disposed of during 2011 (7,741,496)
RITE——FREREE Granted and disposed of during 2012 (6,893,520)
RIZT—=FRERLEE Granted and disposed of during 2013 (2,268,500)
RZT—NFEREREE Granted and disposed of during 2014 (1,905,100)
RZZE—RAFREREE Granted and disposed of during 2015 (1,310,000)
RZZ—ARFEREREE Granted and disposed of during 2016 (2,266,000)
RZTE—EFREREE Granted and disposed of during 2017 (0)
RZZE- \FREELE Granted and disposed of during 2018 (0)
RZZ-NEREREE Granted and disposed of during 2019 (0)
RZZZEFRERLE Granted and disposed of during 2020 (0)
R —FREREE Granted and disposed of during 2021 (0)
RIZZZFREREE Granted and disposed of during 2022 (0)
RZTZZ=FRHENE Granted and disposed of during 2023 (0)
REZZEZ=F+-A=+—H0O#&H% Balance as at 31st December, 2023 45,797,384

b CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2023
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The Company has entered into certain connected transactions with a
number of connected persons, details of which are set out bellow:

Continuing Connected Transactions

During the year, members of the Group have entered into continuing
connected transactions with connected persons which are subject
to the reporting requirements under rule 14A.71 of the Listing Rules,
details of which are summarised herein below. The Company’s
auditor was engaged to report on the Group’s continuing connected
transactions in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance
Engagements 3000 (Revised) “Assurance Engagements Other
Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and
with reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’'s Letter on Continuing
Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The
auditor has issued an unqualified letter containing findings and
conclusions in respect of the continuing connected transactions
disclosed by the Group as below in accordance with Main Board
Listing Rule 14A.56. The Independent Non-executive Directors have
reviewed the continuing connected transactions and confirmed that
the continuing connected transactions have been entered into:

(i) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;

(if)  on normal commercial terms or better; and

(iii) according to the agreements governing them, and on terms that
are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the shareholders
of the Company as a whole.

Details of the above-mentioned continuing connected transactions and

the actual amount incurred for the year ended 31st December, 2023

or the maximum daily amount are summarised as follows:

EPERBIERERDLET —B-ZEFH d
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BEHE

(FE LR : AK¥1,550,981,2667T)
RRAZZMBRAELUARRRROBR
NAEN(—KRPEARLME ([FE )KL
WBEREFEAR » AARARMERR (B
REHEEMRRERAR) NEERRE) KE
AAR - BHISE - 2¥HaEn T =—
T A=T—HIIVYB=ZE = _F—A—
HBAR -

BE-_Z-=F+t-A=t+—HILLFE

WNIE B ERIGE
(FE LR : AK¥65,000,0007T)

RZZEZ—FXAZ+=8 ARAZ2EMN
BARMMERRRERABRAER=
NORMN) BEERAR (EHBESEAR
NAIMFEZEMBAR) RELR - AR
BERRIDEBN U EREAHES
B BEA3E o

BE-F-=Ft-A=t-BLFE

Sale and Purchase Agreement
(Annual cap: RMB1,550,981,266)

Purchase of natural gas for 3 years by a number of
subsidiaries of the Company from Shanxi Natural
Gas Limited, a limited liability company established
in the People’s Republic of China (“PRC”) which
is the substantial shareholder of the subsidiary of
the Company namely Hongdong China Resources
Hengfu Gas Co., Ltd. All agreements entered into on
31st December, 2021 and effective from 1st January,
2022.

For the year ended 31st December, 2023

Chenzhou Project Framework Agreement
(Annual cap: RMB65,000,000)

On 22nd June, 2021, Chenzhou China Resources
Gas Co., Ltd, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, entered into an agreement in respect of
supplying energy for cooling and heating, steam
and part of electricity to China Resources Sanijiu
(Chenzhou) Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd, a non-wholly-
owned subsidiary of China Resources Pharmaceutical
Group Limited for 3 years effective from the date of
the agreement.

For the year ended 31st December, 2023

b CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2023
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MR I — s 8 =%
——FE—A—BREEW AHS3
F(HIEHREE—FIER) - EE
BRHARAE ([EBERM])
BAHEBIRTRADQA AR

Ny
ZS o
m

HE-_T-=F+-HA=+—H1t
FEAMSEABRNEAR
S ESIER S

b. BTEIRBEIN  KNRBEME
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HE-_T-=F+-A=+—H1t
FEIMETBENEH
SEFRER

(i) EALESEERS
RZ_E-_—F+-_A=+—8 AR
AMERAEARESEERGHEES
FEKEFTAERAR (TEBEDE]
N—hthE B =——F—H—H
AN - BHEISF (BRIEHAREHE—F
ER) - EERMBAEBEAREAR
AIRYIE IR A o

BE-T-=F+_A=+—HLk
FEEMSEAHNER
REFRAER

Strategic Cooperation Agreements
(Annual cap : RMB1,700,000,000)
Commercial banking services

()

a.

On 31st December, 2021, the Company
entered into an agreement in respect of
the use of commercial banking services
with China Resources Bank of Zhuhai
Co., Ltd., (“CR Bank”), a municipal
bank headquartered in Zhuhai for 3
years effective from 1st January, 2022
(unless extended for a further period).
China Resources Co., Ltd (“CRC”") has
a controlling interest in CR Bank and
the Company.

Maximum daily outstanding balance on
any given day during the year ended
31st December, 2023

b.

Other than deposit services, the
Company utilised commercial banking
services and products provided by CR
Bank.

Maximum daily outstanding balance on
any given day during the year ended
31st December, 2023

(i)

Trust and funds management services

On 31st December, 2021, the Company
entered into an agreement in respect of the
use of trust and funds management services
with China Resources SZITIC Trust Co., Ltd
(“CR Trust”) for 3 years effective from 1st
January, 2022 (unless extended for a further
period). CRC has a controlling interest in CR
Trust and the Company.

Maximum daily outstanding balance on
any given day during the year ended
31st December, 2023

ARETT
RMB'000

1,132,561

ARETT
RMB'000

ARETTT
RMB’000
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RZZBEZ=F"A=+H  AA7AH%
RAF (REEAMNBAR (HERFRE
BRI ERERAN) ) BER(KE) A
AR ([EBHEERQF]) « FAER
RO REBEBARNARRESH
WERMHBAR (REEBBERXSM
ERABERETHAF]) (RRQAR
SN (TEBEEBLETAR]) ARES
ERMBEARBRET ARMLE
TERNEEANSEE LHE - 8
TR CHF-A-FTHBE® B
3F (BRIFARLHE—FIER) ©

RZTEZ=FZR=+H  AQA%
ANA B R B S BT B B8 A B
EHRGO (REBRORFPEKILY
EAMEBAR)KZEHE®R ETAA
(MEZEMERTT - ERERRARANE
M A BRI BEARBERD
SEANBBEETUIHE BZT==
FZA-+BEEW - AH3F (BRIE
HAMRAS#E —PHER ) ©

Framework Loan Agreements
(Annual cap: RMB2,000,000,000)

(i)

(if)

On 20th February, 2023, the Company entered into an agreement
in respect of the intra-group lending between the Company (and
any of its subsidiaries but exclude entity established in the PRC)
and China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited (“CRH”), any
company in the CRC, CRH and their respective subsidiaries, which
is listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited, other than the Company (“China Resources Group listed
company”) and any of their subsidiaries in respect of Hong Kong
dollars, RMB or, United States dollars loan for 3 years effective from

20th February, 2023 (unless extended for a further period).

On 20th February, 2023, the Company entered into an agreement
in respect of the intra-group lending between any PRC established
subsidiary of the Company and CRC (and any PRC established
subsidiary of CRC) or a China Resources Group listed company, but
excluding CR bank, CR Trust and any subsidiary of the Company in
respect of RMB loan for 3 years effective from 20th February, 2023
(unless extended for a further period).

ARBT R
RMB’ 000
HE_T_=F+_A=+—HIFE Maximum daily outstanding balance on 2,000,000

R E B BN G H &= 7 A any given day during the year ended

31st December, 2023

b CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2023
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Related Party Transactions
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Details of the material related party transactions in normal course

of business are set out in note 41 to the consolidated financial

statements. Some of these transactions constitute connected

transactions as defined under the Listing Rules which are set out as

follows:

—ECo=F
2023
FHET
HK$’ 000
HE THB AR B FEIZERAR R Sales to non-controlling shareholders of 291,188
subsidiaries
S EE I =PNCINREdi Gl e SNSRI N Interest income from deposits placed in 26,629
a fellow subsidiary
BIEESGIEIANGIE-2 L0 )= S PN PN Interest income from loan to a fellow 12,024
subsidiary
A R A AR B R B A Interest income from loan to an intermediate 1,783
holding company
B B I E A R A SEIEARAR SR (B 5E) Purchase from non-controlling shareholders of 1,259,622
subsidiaries (Note)

ENRRHBARNHEEEL Rental expenses paid to fellow subsidiaries 31,522
B R R A R R B RS Interest expenses paid to an intermediate 14,430
holding company
BB 2 B EIE AR AR SR A9 F B FA 2 Interest expenses paid to non-controlling 60

M eEAILAERARBRNDARIBRBRA

RAFER  REBEZZT_=F+=-A=+
—BILFE  EEETLTRIEI4AEN
WERRE -

shareholders of subsidiaries

Note: Included purchases of natural gas from Shanxi Natural Gas Limited

The Company confirms that it has complied with the disclosure

requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules for

the year ended 31st December, 2023.

EERRIZRERAF

=

“ERCE=FEFR q
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FERR
BRI EEIN R -_=F+_A
=+—H BERAQRITERERIL T

BEMAL (EFEERARBITHRAE)
RARR B RBBKROS - BEEREE
#H R EIRGIFEXVERE 2 30 #BRE AR
RAREBENREIOARR » LLBERAR
RIEIRE 7 M E G FE 3361617 & 2 IR

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

Save as disclosed below, the Directors and chief executive of the

Company are not aware that there was any party (other than a Director
or chief executive of the Company), who, as at 31st December, 2023
had an interest or short position in the shares and underlying shares of
the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under
the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or which
were recorded in the register maintained by the Company pursuant to

ZiftrERSOAE Section 336 of the SFO:
REDBWHER Long Position in the Company
FRrib s
wEES
HRRKRE REE  Aggregate
RRERB 514 Long or short Number of percentage
Name of shareholders Capacity position shares of interest’
ERHEE (RR) BRAF BEmEBA TR 1,407,828,991 60.84%
(MEBEERA])? Beneficial owner Long position
CRH (Gas) Limited (“CRH Gas”)?
EH(£E) ARAR? REHIA R R Ha 1,422,298,991 61.46%
China Resources (Holdings) Controlled company’s interest ~ Long position
Company Limited?
CRC Bluesky Limited (“CRC SEHA RIS g 1,422,298,991 61.46%
Bluesky”)? Controlled company’s interest ~ Long position
ERBROARLR ([FEKMN )2 RGN AR TR 1,422,298,991 61.46%
China Resources Inc. (formerly Controlled company'’s interest Long position
known as China Resources Co.,
Limited) (“CRCL")?
mEFERERAT ([HEZER])? B VNI oL TR 1,422,298,991 61.46%
China Resources Company Limited Controlled company’s interest Long position
("CRNC")?
JPMorgan Chase & Co.? ZPEH QAR R [S=) 10,947,833 0.47%
Controlled company'’s interest Long position
/-3 12,940,649 0.56%
Short Position
REEIR TR 23,598,765 1.02%
Investment Manager Long Position
PR B S ERNAT HE 348,662 0.015%
Person having a security Long Position
interest in shares
BEHAENERRIE HE 88,983,295 3.85%

Approved lending agent

b CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2023
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1. WARZZE-=F+-A=+—HAHHEY
B RABEBRNTEAEEARAZEE
BITRDMBE DL °

2. EHEEMRERAEBERABIINAR
711,407,828,991 B B 15 K2 14,470,000 A%
BOPHREEERER  ZMRAFAEIRE
H(EE)BERARNEZEWBAR -
o EE (SR BRABERIERRRD
A1/ 1,422,298,991 RO P B R ©
=M (£H)BERAAACRC Blueskydy
FEMBLAR EMBAERRNHNEER
B EZBRMDATREBRNZEMNER
Al At - =W (£E)BRAF - CRC
Bluesky * AR & B BARER A
A AEIHY1,422,298,991 B AR (D R A ELS ©

3. RIEEH M E GG EXVEE2REIDH
RERAARRBOERER - ZERH
fiJPMorgan Chase & CoH EsMiEHA
100% 2 ZEER - £ - B
1,272,200 8815 (478 ) J 1,799,900 A% AR
B OKE) RSB LTMITETE
536,575 ik h (4F &) 244,713k 5
CKE) EYRWEIE EmITETA -

ERBRRNEEBOEE

AEERNETERBERIE—HIEE - BIA
ARERBRFTER (£8) BRARERT
fAMEESMEERSXEETOREAR
FDBITRANS0% ([FERBOEML]) »
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B ERNABERITEEMREEEER
REMATBAREERHER BB FIE R
H AN R EMZKBEASIHY N R
—=F+ZA=+—8 - AFREHR g
2 BB R B 2,644,695,0007T * %
ZHEPAESEEN _S_NE=A8F
e
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Notes:

1. This represents the percentage of aggregate long position in ordinary
shares and underlying shares to the total issued shares of the Company
as at 31st December, 2023.

2. CRH Gas and Commotra Company Limited were directly interested in
1,407,828,991 shares and 14,470,000 shares in the Company respectively
and both companies are wholly-owned subsidiaries of China Resources
(Holdings) Company Limited. China Resources (Holdings) Company
Limited is therefore deemed to be interested in 1,422,298,991 shares of
the Company. China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited is a wholly-
owned subsidiary of CRC Bluesky, which is in turn wholly-owned by
CRCL. CRCL is a wholly-owned subsidiary of CRNC. So, China Resources
(Holdings) Company Limited, CRC Bluesky, CRCL and CRNC are therefore
deemed to have interest in 1,422,298,991 shares of the Company.

3. According to the information disclosed to the Company under Divisions
2 and 3 of Part XV of SFO, these shares were held by JPMorgan Chase
& Co. through corporations controlled directly or indirectly as to 100% by
it. Among which, 1,272,200 shares (long position) and 1,799,900 shares
(short position) are cash settled unlisted derivatives; and 36,575 shares
(long position) and 244,713 shares (short position) are physically settled
unlisted derivatives.

SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE OBLIGATIONS ON
CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDER

Certain loan agreements of the Group include a condition that the
controlling shareholder of the Company, China Resources (Holdings)
Company Limited is required, at all times, to hold an aggregate
beneficial ownership (directly or indirectly) of not less than 51% in
the issued share capital of the Company (the “Specific Performance
Obligation”). It will be an event of default if the Specific Performance
Obligation is breached; and in such case, the relevant banks
shall declare the commitments to be cancelled and/or declare all
outstanding amounts together with interests accrued thereon and
all other sums payable by the Company to be immediately due and
payable. As at 31st December, 2023, the aggregate reserved facility
subject to the above conditions were HK$2,644,695,000. Such
reserved facility will expire on no later than 6 March 2024.

EPERBIERERDLET —B-ZEFH d



EEaRE
Directors’ Report

EERBRONEEZNEF

BABERPEEIN - A7 HBRQ
A REFEMHBRFRFEARMERRR
FAMESEEMZH  TEFSUER
AR DB SEAM R R Z B s B m
HUR &S -

EEF 2 RERX

BOER e AR E < AR AR E A
ARREBNESE - IF BIXF B
FRKE BEEF WEREMSAA
BREREEADNEMEBHITTA (I
B) UEESEEAMNERNTASEEE
BA - BEARRFEEER/RBERE R
BR RETERESFHWEEMN 7 -
WERRE A — T HEBRNITASER
ERARPITRERATRES BHBK
HEABRERBRERERFL  RExE
REOEMTAMASERATERBRARIHN
EAHFDR - BE  WE - BKR BERHA
XMEXEET  EAREAGHEER
2oKE BRERTHETRMBEAR
=& (nE) BIER

ARRAREAR T ZESZ A L E B HF
AERELNEEMARNERBERR -

e )i

BAREMWEEIN - ARBRREFEARNLF
75 LR AT S I IR SRR SR 15 3 -

BE -  HEIERAQFAN L
&% 35

BAREFHEEEN BE-FT-=4+
“A=+—ALFE  ARAAREEMH
BARMEBE - hEREE AR

o
A °

BEABER

B A ERAT A E B E R
PR AR 2 ]2 23 F 4R 3 4 s e 55
FIfEHIRE -

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in this report, at no time during the year was the
Company, its parent company, or any of its subsidiaries or fellow
subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable the directors
to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or
debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Save and except so far as the provisions of the Bye-law shall be
avoided by any provisions of the Statutes, the Board, President,
Vice-president, Managing Directors, alternate Directors, Secretary
and other officers for the time being of the Company and the trustees
(if any) for the time being acting in relation to any of the affairs of the
Company, and their respective executors or administrators, shall be
indemnified and secured harmless out of the assets of the Company
from and against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and
expenses which they or any of them, their or any of their executors
or administrators, shall or may incur or sustain by reason of any act
done, concurred in or omitted in or about the execution of their duty
or supposed duty in their respective offices or trusts, except such (if
any) as they shall incur or sustain through their own wilful neglect or
default, fraud and dishonesty respectively.

The Company has taken out insurance against the liabilities and costs
associated with defending any proceedings which may be brought
against the Directors of the Company.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as disclosed in this report, no equity-linked agreements were
entered into during the year or subsisted at the end of the year.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

Other than as disclosed in this report, neither the Company nor any of
its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s
securities during the year ended 31st December, 2023.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
Bye-Laws although there are no restrictions against such rights under
the laws of Bermuda.

b CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2023
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PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of its Directors, as at the date of this annual
report, there is sufficient public float of not less than 25% of the
Company’s issued shares as required under the Listing Rules.

AUDITOR

The financial statements for the year have been audited by KPMG
and a resolution will be submitted to the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company to re-appoint KPMG as the auditor of the
Company.

Ernst & Young retired as the auditor of the Company with effect from
the close of the annual general meeting held on 25th May, 2023.
The appointment of KPMG as the new independent auditor of the
Company following the retirement of Ernst & Young was approved by
shareholders at the same meeting.

On behalf of the Board

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED
Chairman

WANG Chuandong

Hong Kong, 28th March, 2024
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To the shareholders of China Resources Gas Group Limited
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China
Resources Gas Group Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(the “Group”) set out on pages 91 to 256, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31st December,
2023, the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in
equity and the consolidated cash flow statement for the year then
ended and notes, comprising material accounting policy information
and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31st
December, 2023 and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”)
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities
for the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”)
together with any ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit
of the consolidated financial statements in Bermuda, and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these
requirements and the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we
have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do
not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

p CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2023
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Assessing potential impairment of goodwill
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BRI AN T 20U RE 112 B 88T 27THE

Refer to note 20 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies on page 112

BARENSEE
The Key Audit Matter

RANET A EEZEE
How the matter was addressed in our audit

RZTZ=F+-ZA=+—H BHEEEEHSR
4,911,756,0008 7T - ZEENEZHEB A PESRY
REMAEE RN S EEBEHNReEEEU ([REEE
BAL)) AR WRETFERMER &

As at 31st December, 2023, the carrying amount of
goodwill was HK$4,911,756,000. This represented
goodwill acquired in a number of business
combinations related to groups of cash-generating
units (“CGUs") that were expected to benefit from
respective business combination and was subject to
annual impairment assessment.

PEITRER G ERESEIERENERIELE
7 HAREE SR EE B T W e 58 (A AFER SR A K
FEABERENREE) EITHER - BT A EREREM
WEER - EFREESREMRRSMNEEETHE &
RReNSEANRRTERTIRE - RIRMBA KL KX
REHBEBARMBER LML - Wt REREHZITHERTE -
In performing impairment assessments, management
compared the carrying value of each of the CGUs
to which the goodwill had been allocated with their
respective recoverable amounts, being the higher of
fair value less costs of disposal and value in use, to
determine if any impairment loss should be recognised.
Value in use was assessed based on discounted cash
flow method, The preparation of discounted cash
flow forecasts required significant assumptions and
estimates with respect to the discount rates, future
revenue and operating costs, taking into account the
management’s expectation for the industry.

BB EEEREN AR EFRENTSE
Our procedures in relation to assessing potential
impairment of goodwill included the following:

TR EEREENHERENGIEFNERAEE
HEORFTRERER  REEBEHERRERER
BBV REIBR

. Obtaining an understanding of and evaluating
the design and implementation of management’s
key internal controls over the goodwill impairment
assessment process, including management’s
preparation of the discounted cash flow forecasts;

o ZERITMEANRTERKMY SEEEBOT
o TEEEEHRIRSELEURNSHeEELSE
DR EENBR

o Assessing management’s identification of CGUs
and allocation of assets to each CGU with
reference to the requirements of the prevailing
accounting standards and our understanding of
the Group’s business;

e KI—FENREREBAERNFEEHREELEMD
BERRFETHER U HERERARFNBAELE
B AIEMEARREFEEAEERERSR

o Comparing the prior year's cash flow forecasts
with the actual performance of the CGUs for the
current year, in order to assess the reliability of
historical accuracy of management’s forecasting
process and whether there is any indication of
management bias;

EPERBIERERDLET —B-ZEFH @
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BB BERERN G

Assessing potential impairment of goodwill

BRI AN T 20U RE 112 B 88T 27THE

Refer to note 20 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies on page 112

BERTEE
The Key Audit Matter

RANET A EEZEE
How the matter was addressed in our audit

HMSEEEERETERERABRESAEE  AAnE
WEREBEYGREMBEREAMEEER - HEBREMELN
PR ERT R R E R A M BRFR - % HE R RER
SEAETEEN  YrRReXIeEEEERANTZE -
We identified assessing potential impairment of
goodwill as a key audit matter because the carrying
amount of the goodwill was material to the consolidated
financial statements and impairment assessments
of goodwill performed by management involved
significant judgements and assumptions that are
inherently uncertain and could be subject to potential
management bias.

b CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2023

o AERMYAMBEEZERHHEMSERTEHELN
ERFFEEREMERNMGETENES T - BB
HIR] LA AV R ST IR T AL BT (AT E B
FRENSEMN

o Involving our internal valuation specialists to assist
us in evaluating the appropriateness of valuation
methodology used by management with reference
to the requirements of the prevailing accounting
standards and assessing the reasonableness
of the discount rates applied by benchmarking
against those of comparable companies;

o Z2ERMYE EEHEYR ELBY  RETEEN
RZEIRN T R - E R TR AR R R R R & B
AN

o Challenging the reasonableness of the projected
future revenue and future operating costs, with
reference to our understanding of the Group's
business, historical trends, available industry
information and available market data;

o FIEBEEMARRBA - RRGLEBARITIREET
WBURE ST - WEBHRUILERENENTEALE
CHEEAAERERR &

o Evaluating management’s sensitivity analysis in
respect of the future revenue, future operating
costs and discount rates and considering the
resulting impact on the impairment assessments
and whether there is any indication of management
bias; and

o ZERTEERNNME A ABEEERAEN AR
FEVBMRAMEREN SN -

o Assessing the reasonableness of the disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements in respect
of the impairment assessments of goodwill with
reference to the requirements of the prevailing
accounting standards.
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Recognition of gas connection revenue

FLHG A EIREN O U RE 116 211888 & 71T E
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Refer to note 6 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies on pages 116 to 118

BRETEE
The Key Audit Matter

BRI ET M REZEE

How the matter was addressed in our audit

EEEREE T -_ZF+ A=+ —BLFEHEMA
B 10,887,718,000 7T ©

The Group recorded gas connection revenue
amounting to HK$10,887,718,000 for the year ended
31st December, 2023.

REMAERELARANBARKHER  T2RFAE
AR ETTA R R A BB L PR E AR 2
EHRE2THAEERNER - EBEANTEATEIAR
BREXRAE - BTMRERASRBENZBHEE RTK
FRB R A TR By e B 1 Je AR RE I o

Revenue from a construction contract for gas
connection was recognised over time, measured
based on the input method by reference to the costs
incurred during the year relative to the estimated total
costs for satisfaction of the contract, which required
the status of contracts to be assessed on a regular
basis. Management exercised significant judgements
in assessing the extent of progress in the satisfaction
of the performance obligations in gas connection
contracts and the completeness and accuracy of
forecast costs to complete.

HPBERRRERRAN TS IRFEIEATFE
Our procedures in relation to the recognition of gas
connection revenue included the following:

o AHEMREERWARHEEAIESNR - AT
BRIETE L

o Assessing the design, implementation and
operating effectiveness of key internal controls
over recognition of gas connection revenue;

e  EBEMBBEMREESR  THRERANAENRR
BERWABEOEEER - U2BRITEFERNR
EAE AR ST HROEE M

. Obtaining an understanding with respect to the
accounting policies related to the recognition
and measurement of gas connection revenue
and inspecting the gas construction contracts on
a sampling basis to assess the appropriateness
of revenue recognition accounting policies with
reference to the requirements of the prevailing
accounting standards;

EPERBIERERDLET —B-ZEFH @
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BRRRERBA

Recognition of gas connection revenue

FLHG A EIREN O U RE 116 211888 & 71T E

Refer to note 6 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies on pages 116 to 118

BRETEE
The Key Audit Matter

RMWESNAEREZSE
How the matter was addressed in our audit

HMERRRRAERRAREABAREAETE  AAEY
FAMBHmEAMEEEN  BEWERIREANEIEEH
i N fhE - MZEHE AT AGFENEEE - XA
REBEERERENTE -

We identified the recognition of gas connection revenue
as a key audit matter because they were significant
to the consolidated financial statements and their
recognition involve significant management judgements
and estimations that are inherently uncertain and could
be subject to potential management bias.
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Comparing the total costs in construction
contracts and approved budgets with the
estimated total costs used to calculate the
percentage of completion, on a sample basis;

MERETRBERERITERS  WTRFRANEENE
B BEMBREARAIRA

Inspecting purchase invoices and payroll records
on a sample basis for the actual costs incurred
during the year, including material costs and
labour costs;

BBAEAFEE TR BAGREENERKNRETAE
PRA R TT AR LB - RIE SEEBEEFETEY
EHERNBEEREN

Evaluating the historical accuracy of the Group’s
estimates on the progress in the satisfaction of the
performance obligation by comparing the actual
costs incurred against total budgeted costs for
completed revenue contracts in current year on a

sample basis; and

EREEANERRAR MG R ANRBIR AR
EFFETIAD L REERNEREA -
Recalculating the percentage of completion and
the corresponding revenue recognised, on a
sample basis, under the input method based on
the actual costs incurred and the estimated total
costs.
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Independent auditor’s report

Information other than the consolidated financial statements and
auditor’s report thereon

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises the information included in the annual report,
other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s
report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is
a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to

report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the directors for the consolidated financial
statements

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control
as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging their
responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

EPERBIERERDLET —B-ZEFH Q
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated

financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as
a body, in accordance with Section 90 of the Bermuda Companies
Act 1981, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of

internal control.

. Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2023
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Independent auditor’s report

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on
the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report.
However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to

cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair

presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and
performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for
our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

ERRRERERAT —B-ZFER Q
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From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent
auditor’s report is Kong Wing Hung.

KPMG
Certified Public Accountants

8th Floor, Prince’s Building
10 Chater Road

Central, Hong Kong

28th March, 2024

b CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2023



meBE Rk HMARERER
Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
BE-ZE-_=F+-A=+—HLFE

For the year ended 31st December, 2023

—E-=F —E-CF
2023 2022
{iFs3 FiEx FAT
NOTES HK$’ 000 HK$'000
WA Revenue 6 101,271,905 94,338,329
HEKA Cost of sales (82,820,234) (76,256,478)
EH Gross profit 18,451,671 18,081,851
HAib A Other income 7 2,261,927 770,571
HERDHEAX Selling and distribution expenses (6,820,385) (6,303,129)
THHAX Administrative expenses (4,529,012) (3,883,450)
SRNANEEZREREFE  Impairment losses on financial and contract
assets, net (158,547) (2,803)
BT A Finance costs 8 (940,931) (557,018)
RN E Share of results of joint ventures 277,682 83,385
il AN e Share of results of associates 366,640 426,149
BR B0 A& Profit before taxation 9 8,909,045 8,615,556
iR Income tax 10 (1,850,159) (2,307,037)
F A% Tl Profit for the year 7,058,886 6,308,519
FREMEEKE Other comprehensive income for the year
BEITEEF P EZEZHEE  Item that may be subsequently reclassified to
profit or loss
BEEENERER Exchange differences arising on translation (1,602,022) (4,957,019)
BETEEHFEZRSHEER  Iltems that will not be subsequently
reclassified to profit or loss
BEARATEFALMEZE Equity instruments designated at fair value
War R TE through other comprehensive income:
RNEEZE (HRTIE) Changes in fair value, net of tax (19,634) (18,834)
EFTERTREAFEES Remeasurement of defined benefit plan
obligations (8,986) (4,311)
(28,620) (23,145)
FENHEMmEEKE (F0RFE)  Other comprehensive income for the year,
net of tax (1,630,642) (4,980,164)
FRE2ENEEE Total comprehensive income for the year 5,428,244 1,328,355
ATATEEFRRT - Profit for the year attributable to:
RRRHEBA Owners of the Company 5,223,705 4,733,455
FEIE RS Non-controlling interests 1,835,181 1,575,064
7,058,886 6,308,519

EERRIZRERAF

—EC=FFH 4
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

BE-S-_=F+-A=+—HILEE For the year ended 31st December, 2023

—E-=F —E-CF
2023 2022
{iFs3 FiEx FAT
NOTES HK$’ 000 HK$'000
UTATEGEERNZE S Total comprehensive income for the year
e attributable to:
V/NGIEZ YN Owners of the Company 3,972,715 975,825
RS Non-controlling interests 1,455,529 352,530
5,428,244 1,328,355
BT BT
HK$ HK$
FREF Earnings per share
LN Basic 13 2.30 2.09
E101BEEE256 MM B AR E 875 The notes on pages 101 to 256 form part of these consolidated
WERO—FD financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

R-B-=%+=-HA=+—H At 31st December, 2023

—EB=F —F-—
+=—A=+—-H +ZA=+—H
31st December, 31st December,
2023 2022
B s FBT FAET
NOTES HK$’ 000 HK$'000
(#&=E7))
(Restated)
FEMBEE Non-current assets
WE - BERRE Property, plant and equipment 14 61,198,859 48,464,774
mEYE Investment properties 15 913,030 83,506
EREEE Right-of-use assets 16(a) 4,755,028 3,274,290
REE QRN ER Interests in joint ventures 17 17,655,331 17,073,491
B R B RERS Interests in associates 18 4,646,000 7,483,917
IBERBEAFEAEME  Equity instruments designated at fair
HW R RATA value through other comprehensive
income 19 382,644 288,673
[EES Goodwill 20 4,911,756 2,154,360
HEtmmpEE Other intangible assets 21 5,022,879 2,666,706
FREFRIEEE Deferred tax assets 34 608,779 508,859
m—fHE & QR ER Loans to a joint venture 22 1,909,907 1,937,600
WEEENZRS Deposits for acquisition of assets 413,073 294,830
SERBEELRE Total non-current assets 102,417,286 84,231,006
MENAE Current assets
& Inventories 23 1,493,608 1,306,646
EWE SRR R EMEKFK  Trade and other receivables 24 20,896,233 17,042,481
ARIIEABEEE Assets related to contract works 25 2,727,615 3,285,077
EHRARITERNFREIZ  Pledged bank deposits and restricted
& cash 26 357,875 896
RITHEHBRIRS Bank balances and cash 27 9,978,468 6,437,479
mBEEER Total current assets 35,453,799 28,072,579
mEEE Current liabilities
ERNESERREMMENT  Trade and other payables 28 35,868,589 27,132,089
aRaRE Contract liabilities 29 9,569,067 10,488,646
B EE Government grants 30 29,628 21,587
BITREAMEE Bank and other borrowings 31 4,892,674 7,695,765
HEAaE Lease liabilities 16(b) 144,160 102,566
FERIBEIR Taxation payable 604,816 879,508
mEN B EEEE Total current liabilities 51,108,934 46,320,161
mMEEEFRE Net current liabilities (15,655,135) (18,247,582)
BEERTEEE Total assets less current liabilities 86,762,151 65,983,424

EPERBIERERDLET —B-ZEFH q



FREMEMIRE
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
R-B-=F+=-HA=+—8H At 31st December, 2023

—E-=F —E-—
+=—A=+—-H +ZA=+—H
31st December, 31st December,
2023 2022
M5 FHExT FHT
NOTES HK$’ 000 HK$'000
(E5)
(Restated)
ide Equity
& A Share capital 35 231,401 231,401
itz Reserves 40,540,830 39,076,211
RNEER AEIGERS Equity attributable to owners of the
Company 40,772,231 39,307,612
AR M 2 Non-controlling interests 22,611,451 13,237,811
A Total equity 63,383,682 52,545,423
FEnBEE Non-current liabilities
B B Government grants 30 819,489 757,947
RITREMEBEE Bank and other borrowings 31 17,279,384 10,020,646
HEaE Lease liabilities 16(b) 328,030 304,829
FHAZRE Medium-term notes 32 551,740 -
HEmREEE Other long-term liabilities 33 1,362,969 627,900
BEBIEARG Deferred tax liabilities 34 3,036,857 1,726,679
JERBAERTE Total non-current liabilities 23,378,469 13,438,001
86,782,151 65,983,424

FOIECE AV RREAESTE
R-TB-ME=A -+ \B#ERE#ET
WA NMAIRRESSEE

The consolidated financial statements on pages 91 to 256 were
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 28th
March, 2024 and are signed on its behalf by:

FER By
WANG CHUANDONG YANG PING
3 3
DIRECTOR DIRECTOR
e FF
CHAIRMAN CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

%101 256 AMH MR RS AMBHE
B~ %5 -

The notes on pages 101 to 256 form part of these consolidated

financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

BE-—TS-_=F+=-A=t+—RHLEE For the year ended 31st December, 2023

RATEEARSE
Attibutable to owners of the Company
REEH
B BORE  2AB%  ERRR ERRE RAZRG  AeBR  BEE  RERN i fEREE R
Shares
feld for an
ncentive Non-
Share Share  Contriouted Capial ~ Translafion award Other Merger ~ Retained controling Total
capital pemum'suplis®  resene”  resee’  scheme’  reserves’  reserve’ pofs®  Subdotel Interests equity
far T T Thn Tin fin TRt TR i TRt AL T
HRGO00  HKSOO0  HKSOO0  HKSO00  HKSOOO  HKSOOD  HKSO00  HKS00  HKSOO0  HKSOOD  HKSOOD  HKSQ00
(W) (o) (85D (o) (Wia) (ge3)  (gE)  (EE)
(Notea) — (Noeb) (Restated) (Notec) — (Noted) (Restated)  (Restated)  (Restated)
W-E--%-A-H At tst January, 2022 81401 10036588 7,388,600 0560 1028720 (1660) 4795416 (B727518) 26292307 41256915 12780747 54,037 662
Enig) Proftfor the year - - - - - - - - 4733455 AT4%5 1975064 6308519
ROTEFALH2ENEY Change in fai value o equiy
RERADTEED (R  invesiments at ai value
i) {hrough other comprehensive
ncome, net of tax - - - - - - (10.329) - - (10329) (8505 (18834)
BN BRATENAEEL  Romeasurementof defned beneft
plan abligafions - - - - - - (2201 - - 22 210 (4311)
BEELHEN S Exchenge diferences ariing on
franglaon - - - - BIsI0) - - - SIS0 (12191 (45701
EmRENELE Tota comprehensive income for
the year - - - - (374,100 - (12530) - 47334 975,825 302530 1328365
HERERTE Caplta confbuton fom non-
confroling inerests - - - - - - - - - - (24531) (24537)
WEMBRAEER)  Aoguishion o subsidaries
(Restated) - - - - (27004 - - - - (27004 1115428 1088329
WENBLAZENEE  Acquison of addiional inerests
n subsidiaries - - - (17401) - - - - - (7d01) (35083 (72484)
Effa (ki) Dividends paid (Note 12) - - (280063) - - - - - - (2880833 - (28806%9)
ERHBREEAREERE Dhidends paid o non-contoling
interests of subsiciaries - - - - - - - - - (931269) (981,269)
BREATIEN Transfr from retained profs - - - - - - 340 - (H3400) - - -
e gl e
(&g51) At 315t December, 2022 (restated) 231401 10,038568 4507967 3150 (248473 (166250) 5196286  (8727518) 30612452 037612 13218 52545428
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FEERBER
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

BE—_Z_=F+4+_-B=+—HILEE For the year ended 31st December, 2023

KLAREARE
Attributable to owners of the Company

AERiY
BE BhEE  #ARR  EARER  ENER RECRf GHER  cRRR  RERR N fEREE R

Shares

held for an

incentive Non-
Share Share  Contributed Capital -~ Translation award Other Merger ~ Retained controlling Total
capital - premium*  surplus*  reserve®  reseve'  scheme® reserves’  reseve' profits'  Subdotal  interests equity
TR AL TEn TER TRR TER TR TR TR TEm ThL TR
HKS000  HKS'000  HKS'O00  HKS000  HKS000  HKS'000  HKS'00  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000

() (Rio) (hike)  (Wikd)
(Notea) — (Noteb) (Notec) — (Noted)
WIEIZE-R-B O Atistdanvary, 2023 (Restaled)
(&5 21401 10,038,588 4,507,967 33150 (748473) (1662500 5196266 (8727518 30612452 30307612 13207811 52545428
Engi) Proftfor the year - - - - - - - - 523705 5223705 1835181 703,886
ROTRIALG2RENEA Change in fai value of equlty
FETARTERD(E  instuments  far vaue
i) {hrough other comprehensive
income, net of tax - - - - - - (11,20) - - (1126) (8,368)  (196%4)
B ERTENHEEL  Romeasurementof defined benefi
plen abligafions - - - - - - (4,902) - - (4,902) (4,084) (8,966)
AERNERELHELZE Bchange diferences arsing on
{ranslaton of freign aperafion - - - - (1,24822) - - - - (1204822 (37,2000  (1,602,022)
EmRENELE Tota comprehensive income for
the year - - - - (1,234822) - (16,168) - 52305 39Tty 1455529 5428044
HERERTE Caplta confbuton fom non-
confroling inerests - - - - - - - - - - 31.3% 31.3%
WEMBAF(HE)  Acquision of subsidiares
(Note 38) - - - (t264m0) - - - - - (t26dn0) oMt 9049M
ERBEGEED  Diidends ped e 12 - - e - - - - - - ) - e
ERHBATEERELRS Dhidends paic o non-controling
Inferests of subsiciaries - - - - - - - - - - (1,290,665 (1,290,665)
BREATEN Transfer from reained profs - - - - - - s - (e - - -
WoEZZETZRZ-H At 315t Deoember, 2023 11401 10,038,588 2,126,341 06000 (3963295 (166,250 5728543 (8727 5M8) 3207782 A0t 22611451 63.38,682
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FARREBE
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

BE-Z_=F+-A=+—HLFE  For the year ended 31st December, 2023

B 5E Notes:

BREARANR-_Z——FAB=THEHAH
WREFEF RS EHENFIRAER -
£ %8/57,388,600,0007%8 7T H) A% 17 4 (B
FRECHBAZTHARS - BARS AT
SEBELEARIHRER(I981FH
REQRRNER)BDTHEMAR - BHE-T
=+ A=Zt+-BUHFE EHA
2,381,626,0008 T (BE-_T__F+=
A=+—HILFE : 2,880,633,000/% L)
TFRRE o

AAGHEREMFEREEAEN DA
U HERKBRABMNERAEN
WEE B Z R EE -

HitFE RN P EARLMNE ([HE])
PRIZEVPH B A RV I R R A T E A AE A
cERGEEZTAATEZDY  —REF
B EATRHRRE  DEBRES  RE
Rame REERSGREENRAOTE T R
DO B8 I A A 7 A SR AR A
HEFEIEH -

—REGHEFEETHBRARNKRKR
AR5 % E10%MEENE - WAHKRES
BNESFERESHBARMAMSIZMAR
EE - wHERBERBHEER BRXEAR
WREENMEBZA -

atEEE(OENRERE BRANIKE
R RME AT RARBPTETRN © 8(ii)
SEEATCAHER D BITRARE
BB MmERE -

ERRFERLEGAVERREF VLS
###540,540,830,000/8 0 (= F = —4F :
39,076,211,000 7T) °

Pursuant to the approval of a special resolution at the special
general meeting of the Company on 30th May, 2011, the amount of
HK$7,388,600,000 standing to the credit of share premium has been
transferred to the contributed surplus. The contributed surplus is a
distributable reserve and will be used for the payment of dividends
and for such other purposes as allowed by the Companies Act 1981
of Bermuda. For the year ended 31st December, 2023, the amount
of HK$2,381,626,000 (for the year ended 31st December, 2022:
HK$2,880,633,000) has been used for the payment of dividends.

The capital reserve arose from the difference between the amount by
which the non-controlling interests are adjusted and the consideration
paid/received for the acquisition/disposal of interests in subsidiaries.

Other reserves comprise the changes in fair value of equity instruments
designated at fair value through other comprehensive income, general
reserve, statutory surplus reserve, enterprise expansion fund, statutory
public welfare fund and discretionary surplus reserve of subsidiaries
established in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”), and the
changes in net assets attributable to the Group in relation to the increase
in ownership interests in subsidiaries through capital contribution.

The general reserve is appropriated each year on the basis of 5% to
10% of the profit after taxation of certain subsidiaries as determined by
their boards of directors in accordance with the articles of association of
the subsidiaries. This reserve should only be used for making up losses,
capitalisation into capital and expansion of production and operation.

The merger reserve represented the difference between (i) the cash
consideration paid, deemed distribution to a fellow subsidiary and shares
issued by the Company; and (ii) the amount of issued capital and premium
of the combined entities under group reorganisations.

These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of
HK$40,540,830,000 (2022: HK$39,076,211,000) in the consolidated
statement of financial position.

101 B2 5256 A M B AR AR B Rk
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The notes on pages 101 to 256 form part of these financial statements.
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HEREMRER

Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

BE-_Z-_=5+-A=+—HLEFE

For the year ended 31st December, 2023

—g=-= T
2023 2022
B 5E FBT FAT
NOTES HK$’ 000 HK$'000
BT OPERATING ACTIVITIES
B 758 A1 g ) Profit before taxation 8,909,045 8,615,556
FHE - Adjustments for:
BT RZR Finance costs 8 940,931 557,018
2 U A Interest income 7 (381,019) (242,790)
BAFEFAEMEEKZE  Dividend income from equity
KRz T AR BWA instruments at fair value through
other comprehensive income 7 (9,524) (1,748)
EHERBT S Government grants recognised (80,321) (75,180)
i e NN S /N Share of results of joint ventures and

E associates (644,322) (509,534)
HE MsYE  BmERRKR  Gain on disposal/write-off of property,

Bl plant and equipment 7 (45,929) (19,793)
HEFRAREENKE Gain on disposal of right-of-use assets 7 (29,056) (9,473)
HAEHEESZAFAKE Gain on deemed disposal of joint

ventures 7 (382,127) (6,755)
= tank=d i N Gain on deemed disposal of

associates 7 (694,093) -
FEWE B IR FORERE (B Impairment recognised/(reversed) on

=) trade receivables 9 143,496 (8,262)

H ARG IB R E R Impairment recognised on other
receivables 9 21,115 10,429
ARBERME (BE), 72  Impairment (reversed)/recognised on
contract assets 9 (6,064) 636
W  BERZETE Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment 9 3,205,192 2,969,890
FRAEEENE Depreciation of right-of-use assets 9 423,929 269,777
REMENRE Depreciation of investment properties 9 27,051 5,018
e E EEs Amortisation of other intangible assets 9 404,945 113,979
LBESEHBAINELIRS A Operating cash flows before movements
= in working capital 11,803,249 11,668,768
BFERLD (M) Decrease/(increase) in inventories 139,939 (272,283)
FEUE P BRI H Increase in trade and other receivables
fth FE UK IE N (1,877,996) (2,308,373)
ARIEEEEERD Decrease in assets related to contract
works 520,586 37,165
FERTE Z R Increase in trade and other payables
b & A< R4S A0 2,700,953 1,647,054
aRBERD Decrease in contract liabilities (1,046,060) (4,056,300)
KEEBEENRS Cash generated from operations 12,222,671 6,716,031
BRI EREMEH PRC Enterprise Income Tax paid (2,066,078) (2,364,641)
REXEBAER TR NET CASH FROM OPERATING
ACTIVITIES 10,156,593 4,351,390

b CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2023
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BERERER
Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

For the year ended 31st December, 2023

—g=-= T
2023 2022
B = FER FHT
NOTES HK$’ 000 HK$'000
LEXER INVESTING ACTIVITIES
f& o) B th i FT 1S 5008 Proceeds from redemption of other
deposits 46,106,064 21,807,341
(Ba0t Business combinations 38 854,655 (2,488,760)
B & Interest received 381,019 231,570
HEWE  WENRZEHS  Proceeds from disposal of property,
IR plant and equipment 241,448 108,334
BISHEYE  RE RER Receipt of government grants for
BANBNFE® property, plant and equipment 161,680 62,627
BUkEE S R B IR Dividends received from associates 95,341 99,003
HEEAREEMSHRIA Proceeds from disposal of right-of-use
assets 57,917 -
HERAFET ABER Proceeds from disposal of financial
S RLE EEHIA assets at fair value through profit or
loss 34,657 -
BlEERTIKE Dividends received from joint ventures 24,372 136,826

T RCE A 17 3R Placement of other deposits (44,436,458) (22,122,333)
BEME  BERE Payments for acquisition of property,

BIREER plant and equipment (5,148,990) (6,238,706)
RE &N EIRIRE Investments in joint ventures (1,565,819) (5,550,992)
(RE—HRRWNEQRH (Repayment from)/advance to a fellow

B3/ n—ERAEWE subsidiary

NERHEER (463,462) 1,417,870
(7R, 1R EE AR 1T (Placement)/withdrawal of pledged bank

FREXBRHBRS deposits and restricted cash (359,797) 2,410,643
ERAREERS Deposits for right-of-use assets (306,149) (69,178)
ERAEEENK Payments for right-of-use assets (189,854) (110,350)
[ HE & N AR R E 2R Advance to associates (12,289) (4,066)
KERS Deposits for investments (4,915) -
BEREMENRK Payments for acquisition of investment

properties (2,350) (972)
GRS N WNCTE a3 0 Advance to joint ventures - (2,037,895)
WEEBHTARS F58 NET CASH USED IN INVESTING

ACTIVITIES (4,532,930) (12,349,038)
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

BE-_Z-_=5+-A=+—HLEFE

For the year ended 31st December, 2023

—g=-= T
2023 2022
B = FER FET
NOTES HK$’ 000 HK$'000
MEZRK FINANCING ACTIVITIES
FIRIRIT R EAMMEE New bank and other loans 26,120,879 36,145,678
EEBRITRAMEES Repayment of bank and other loans (22,131,882) (17,827,084)
EEFHRMIZERAT Repayment to an intermediate holding
company (2,500,000) (5,000,000)
B4 G R AR Advance from an intermediate holding
company 3,800,000 2,500,000
(BET)/ BNERENEB  (Repayment to)/advance from fellow
NS subsidiaries (2,238,960) 2,096,847
JEFERR A RO E Contribution from non-controlling
shareholders 37,335 92,189
REMEB AR IELREZAR  Advance from non-controlling interests
Eb of subsidiaries 29,739 9,541
B A Dividends paid (2,381,626) (2,880,633)
BT FEIEARAR AR B Dividends paid to non-controlling
shareholders (1,290,665) (1,222,589)
EARFLE Interest paid (919,010) (540,522)
BRBEHAEERE Repayment of super short-term
commercial papers (322,839) -
BRELZR Repayment of senior notes - (5,598,179)
MAONREZE D Principal portion of lease payments (145,037) (174,391)
(BE¥)/ #HBAE%E2QF  (Repayment to)/advance from joint
ventures (20,057) 15,144
MEER (FTA), P85 4&  NET CASH (USED IN)/FROM FINANCING
et ACTIVITIES (1,962,123) 7,616,001
BaeRkReZEWEM NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH
CR) %5 AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 3,661,540 (381,647)
FUORELBELEED CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT
BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 6,437,479 7,562,950
EREBNTE  FHE Effect of exchange rate changes, net (120,551) (743,824)
FERRALRBELSEY CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT
BHRTTHEH IR S END OF THE YEAR, REPRESENTED
BY BANK BALANCES AND CASH 9,978,468 6,437,479

F101 B2 F 256 BN B AT S HRE
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RBLEXE

REEARAMBEREE B R
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AEBERNRBDAEEEOERBEE
15,655,135,000/8 TR A £ @A E R
HHEA436,775,000/87C * KAFES
ERBEEREAEENRKRBESHA
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AEEMNRITREMEERRHE
& $£22,723,798,0008 T » HeR
4,892,674,0008 LD EAREE

E -

RABEFRE B RAEB KD
FARIRTTREE 21,845,964,000% 7T
EABELEES  AEEEAREE
BEABME_E-_=¢+-_RA=+—
B AR+ ZEANBRREER -
b AERE B REAFECEE S
TR -

GENERAL

The Company is a listed public company incorporated in
Bermuda as an exempted company with limited liability and its
shares are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange”). The Company’s intermediate parent
company is China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited
("CRH”"), a company incorporated in Hong Kong, and its ultimate
holding company is China Resources Company Limited (“CRCL"),
a company established in the PRC. The addresses of the
registered office and principal place of business of the Company
are disclosed in the Corporate Information of the annual report.

The Company is an investment holding company. The activities
of its principal subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates are set
out in notes 47, 48 and 49, respectively.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars (“HK$”) as the Company is a public company with
its shares listed on the Stock Exchange in Hong Kong where
most of its investors are located, and therefore, the directors of
the Company consider that HK$ is preferable in presenting the
operating results and financial position of the Company and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”).

BASIS OF PREPARATION

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
of the Company have given careful consideration to the future
liquidity of the Group in light of the fact that the Group’s current
liabilities exceeded its current assets by HK$15,655,135,000,
and the Group had capital commitments of HK$436,775,000 as
at 31st December, 2023. As at 31st December, 2023, the Group
had bank and other borrowings and medium-term notes totalling
of HK$22,723,798,000, of which HK$4,892,674,000 was classified
as current liabilities.

The directors of the Company are of the opinion that, taking into
account of the unutilised banking facilities of HK$21,845,964,000
and internally generated funds of the Group, the Group has
sufficient working capital for its present requirements for the
next twelve months from 31st December, 2023. Accordingly,
the consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a
going concern basis.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE-ZB-=F+=-A=+t—HLFE

For the year ended 31st December, 2023

3.1 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The Group has applied the following amended Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”)
to these consolidated financial statements for the current

3.1 B HREE
AEEEHAFGH MG MR
REAUThESRHAHAE RSN
ST E B R s

accounting period:

BEGFER  BHBE - B
F85RH BERIER  BEE Accounting Standard
5T e EE (“HKAS") 8
SEGEA HBHENESR Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to Hong Kong  Accounting policies, changes in
accounting estimates and errors:
Definition of accounting estimates
Presentation of financial

EREi (BB HEER)

statements and HKFRS Practice

&8 EBREFELH — 1F Statement 2, Making materiality
HEBBAXMEHE - &5 judgements: Disclosure of
Mﬁ%’%’; accounting policies
BREEER 7 - —xX5 Amendments to HKAS 12 Income taxes: Deferred tax
E1257H ﬁﬁEﬁE Hﬁﬁé&ﬁ & related to assets and liabilities
(5] BRIRELFE arising from a single transaction

AEBEHRERRAS T HRARE
MEVE M FTAE RIS R B o FAAEIBET
RGBS EANNZERNROT

The Group has not applied any new standard or interpretation
that is not yet effective for the current accounting period. Impacts
of the adoption of the amended HKFRSs are discussed below:

EBOHEQSEMBT — 25F
B 5 BB RS . S 1L

Amendments to HKAS 8, Accounting policies, changes in
accounting estimates and errors: Definition of accounting
estimates

=
I
B 1

4H1

AR S HRERS R e The amendments provide further guidance on the distinction

1331’2@3%1#1&—*’:?5%\ o RS between changes in accounting policies and changes in

&5 ST BUR ﬁgﬁr“ accounting estimates. The amendments do not have a material
E’J?‘J“xﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁ—% Hi @Z EKEZ% impact on these financial statements as the Group’s approach
WS AR BEIRREEEAZE - in distinguishing changes in accounting policies and changes in

accounting estimates is consistent with the amendments.
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BB E
ZEEITERERERBEERNGIHE
AR IR EBUESSEAR SR
BEBERMLIES - ARBERENE
BEMBEENGTHREEN  IRA
HEZEER % -

EBEEAF12MNBET - /A7
B HEE-XGHELHEERERE
BRHELZH R

ZEERHENT NRERRENE
E - ENERARENRERREL
SELEAHERMEERNRS - 118
ERREET - MHE RRRET
= HBEEEHEEERBEARA
2R LB ARG RER - mE
MR EAERALSNZAHRER
MREMBEREBDEOAE - piAAEE
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EERT SR AR B B IS R A
BRI ARENAFEIBESF
EREAERMBARRAT BERZE -

B

3.1 CHANGES

e

e R RMEE
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

—EC=E+-A=t—HILEE For the year ended 31st December, 2023

IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Amendments to HKAS 1, Presentation of financial statements
and HKFRS Practice Statement 2, Making materiality
judgements: Disclosure of accounting policies

The amendments require entities to disclose material accounting
policy information and provide guidance on applying the concept
of materiality to accounting policy disclosure. The Group has
revisited the accounting policy information it has been disclosing
and considered it is consistent with the amendments.

Amendments to HKAS 12, Income taxes: Deferred tax related
to assets and liabilities arising from a single transaction

The amendments narrow the scope of the initial recognition
exemption such that it does not apply to transactions that give
rise to equal and offsetting temporary differences on initial
recognition such as leases and decommissioning liabilities. For
leases and decommissioning liabilities, the associated deferred
tax assets and liabilities are required to be recognised from the
beginning of the earliest comparative period presented, with
any cumulative effect recognised as an adjustment to retained
earnings or other components of equity at that date. For all other
transactions, the amendments are applied to those transactions
that occur after the beginning of the earliest period presented.

The above amendments have no material effect on how the
Group’s results and financial position for the current and prior
years have been prepared and presented in these consolidated
financial statements.

HFERRERERLE —To=HFH 4@
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE—_Z_=F+4+_-B=+—HILEE For the year ended 31st December, 2023

32 EEMERMRERNERY 3.2 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG

IR E LR KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
HERNGAEMBRERTIZELE - %55% Up to the date of issue of these consolidated financial
EHAMASEEMZERNEE_S= statements, the HKICPA has issued a number of new or amended
CEF AT BUEFEERER standards, which are not yet effective for the year ended 31st
B AR B 7 3R P IR AR BT AT 3k December, 2023 and which have not been adopted in these
KASET R - ZEEFIBIEA T A8 financial statements. These developments include the following
MAEEBHAMNEIE - which may be relevant to the Group.
FELAT B Bk Effective for accounting
ZIERBNE periods beginning on or
§+ AR AR after
BB GEERE1S, —T-mF Amendments to HKAS 1, Presentation of financial 1st January, 2024
(ERTAR) — BT —A—H statements: Classification of liabilities as current
FH£3 - BlES or non-current
KRR EIE T E
SASEFERFE1R T ZHF Amendments to HKAS 1, Presentation of financial 1st January, 2024
(BRIARN) — A1 —A—H statements: Noncurrent liabilities with covenants
xay 22 - BRAL
HIFE BB &
ERVHREERNE ZTZWF Amendments to HKFRS 16, Leases: Lease liabilily in -~ 1st January, 2024
1655 (5] A)—#  —HA—H a sale and leaseback
B BEROEFs
HEEE
BB GERETY. —T-mF Amendments to HKAS 7, Statement of cash flows 1st January, 2024
(BRIAR) — Ha —A—H and HKFRS 7, Financial Instruments: Disclosures:
BXREBH IR Supplier finance arrangements
LRRET7HE —
ATA: %E H#
JEB B E L HF
EBCTELFE215 —T-AF Amendments to HKAS 21, The effects of changes in 1st January, 2025
(BRTA) — SMEE —A—H foreign exchange rates: Lack of exchangeability
Z Al
RABEERBERMZEEITTIAA The directors of the Company consider the adoption of these
BEHRAMBRREESTATE - amendments is unlikely to have a significant impact on the

consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

—EC=E+-A=t—HILEE For the year ended 31st December, 2023

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Statement of compliance

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with all applicable HKFRSs, which collective
term includes all applicable individual HKFRS, HKAS and
Interpretations issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. These
consolidated financial statements also comply with the applicable
disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange. Material accounting policies
adopted by the Group are disclosed below.

Basis of preparation of the consolidated financial statements

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31st
December, 2023 comprise the Company and its subsidiaries and
the Group’s interest in associates and joint ventures.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
the historical cost basis except for certain financial instruments
which are measured at fair values at the end of each reporting
period, as explained in the accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset
or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date, regardless of
whether that price is directly observable or estimated using
another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value
of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the
characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants would
take those characteristics into account when pricing the asset
or liability at the measurement date. Fair value for measurement
and/or disclosure purposes in these consolidated financial
statements is determined on such a basis, except for share-
based payment transactions that are within the scope of HKFRS
2 Share-based payment (“HKFRS 2”), leasing transactions that
are within the scope of HKFRS 16 Leases, and measurements
that have some similarities to fair value but are not fair value,
such as net realisable value in HKAS 2 /nventories or value in
use in HKAS 36 /mpairment of assets (“HKAS 36”).

EPERBIERERDLET —B-ZEFH 4@
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE-ZB-=F+=-A=+t—HLFE

For the year ended 31st December, 2023

4.
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4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Basis of preparation of the consolidated financial statements
(Continued)

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the
degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are
observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair value

measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:

o Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can
access at the measurement date;

. Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included
within Level 1, that are observable for the asset or liability,
either directly or indirectly; and

. Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the
Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved where the
Company:

o has power over the investee;

o is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

o has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.
The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if

facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one
or more of the three elements of control listed above.

p CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2023
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31st December, 2023

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

When the Group has less than a majority of the voting rights
of an investee, it has power over the investee when the voting
rights are sufficient to give it the practical ability to direct the
relevant activities of the investee unilaterally. Generally, there is
a presumption that the majority of voting rights results in control.
The Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in
assessing whether or not the Group’s voting rights in an investee
are sufficient to give it power, including:

o the size of the Group’s holding of voting rights relative
to the size and dispersion of holdings of the other vote
holders;

. potential voting rights held by the Group, other vote holders
or other parties;

o rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

° the current ability to direct the relevant activities at the time
that decisions need to be made, including voting patterns
at previous shareholders’ meetings.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses
of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income from the date the Group gains control

until the date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.
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4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income
are attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-
controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries
is attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-
controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling
interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into
line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between members of the
Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing
subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’'s ownership interests in existing
subsidiaries that do not result in the Group losing control over
the subsidiaries are accounted for as equity transactions. The
carrying amounts of the Group’s relevant components of equity
and the non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the
changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries, including
re-attribution of relevant reserves between the Group and the
non-controlling interests according to the Group’s and the non-
controlling interests’ proportionate interests.

Any difference between the amount by which the non-controlling
interests are adjusted after re-attribution of the relevant equity
component, and the fair value of the consideration paid or
received is recognised directly in equity and attributed to owners
of the Company.
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For the year ended 31st December, 2023

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Business combinations

Acquisitions of businesses that are not combinations of business
under common control are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred in a business combination
is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of
the acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred by the
Group, liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners
of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group in
exchange for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs
are generally recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

The Group determines that it has acquired a business when the
acquired set of activities and assets includes an input and a
substantive process that together significantly contribute to the
ability to create outputs.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and
the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value at the
acquisition date, except that:

- deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or liabilities
or assets related to employee benefit arrangements are
recognised and measured in accordance with HKAS 12
Income taxes and HKAS 19 Employee benefits respectively;

- liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based
payment arrangements of the acquiree or share-based
payment arrangements of the Group entered into to replace
share-based payment arrangements of the acquiree are
measured in accordance with HKFRS 2 at the acquisition
date; and

- assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held
for sale in accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-current assets
held for sale and discontinued operations are measured in
accordance with that standard.
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4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Business combinations (Continued)

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over the
net amount of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities
assumed as at acquisition date. If, after re-assessment, the net of
the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired
and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in the
acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer's previously held
interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised
immediately in profit or loss as a bargain purchase gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests
and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the relevant
subsidiary’s net assets in the event of liquidation are initially
measured at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of
the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets
or at fair value. The choice of measurement basis is made on a
transaction-by-transaction basis. Other types of non-controlling
interests are measured at their fair value.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

—E_=H5+-A=+—HLEFE For the year ended 31st December, 2023

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Merger accounting for business combinations involving

entities under common control

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements items of the combining entities or businesses in
which the common control combination occurs as if they had
been combined from the date when the combining entities or
businesses first came under the control of the controlling party.

The net assets of the combining entities or businesses are
consolidated using the existing book values from the ultimate
controlling parties’ perspective. No amount is recognised in
respect of goodwill or excess of acquirer’s interest in the net fair
value of acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities over cost at the time of common control combination, to

the extent of the continuation of the controlling party’s interest.

The consolidated statement of comprehensive income includes
the results of each of the combining entities or businesses from
the earliest date presented or since the date when the combining
entities or businesses first came under the common control,
where this is a shorter period and up to the date of disposal, as
appropriate.

The comparative amounts in the consolidated financial
statements are restated as if the entities or businesses had been
combined at the previous reporting period or when they first
came under common control, whichever is shorter and up to the
date of disposal, as appropriate.

SMMFRRERAT —B-=TER ‘ﬂ



=
e

B S R R M

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE-_Z-_=5+-A=+—HLEFE

For the year ended 31st December, 2023

4.

EXRSETEE ()

]
WIREXBELRE  IEREBK
BRE(B2HLEXE s EE) K
FBEMRREBR (EH) ALK -

njE

RREAATNS  BEEOEEEY
SlaHESHRM AN AEE LR
SELBEG (KREEESBMAR) -
i &% Bz sk B AL 4B R R SE AL E I B
MERHENREKTETBBEE

EBEoEBmENReELSEM (KB E
EXEMARN) EFRNEMHR
BEDREESREETRENR - 3
RBERAWBELNDE  BHE
BENRSELEN (FRTELSE
748 1) & 70 5% & B 48 SR AT 1T R
EAR - MEREELFEMMATKRD
SHEONEREE  AREBESE
FEDIAHR R EREE &
BRESHEEEMGEML (RRSEL
BAR) MEREELHDEEHM

REEEHREELENRK T
HERFREIESER G RSN
BEEE (A EEEEHENRS
EEBUANTHNENREELE

fi7) e

AEBHNEBE 2 QAR RAE DA
ELENBEOBREHIIMT -

4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at cost
as established at the date of acquisition of the business (see the
accounting policy above) less accumulated impairment losses, if
any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to
each of the Group's cash-generating units (or groups of cash-
generating units) that are expected to benefit from the synergies
of the combination, which represent the lowest level at which the
goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes and not
larger than an operating segment.

A cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) to
which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment
annually, or more frequently whenever there is indication that the
unit may be impaired. For goodwill arising on an acquisition in
a reporting period, the cash-generating unit (or group of cash-
generating units) to which goodwill has been allocated is tested
for impairment before the end of that reporting period. If the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is less than its
carrying amount, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce
the carrying amount of any goodwill, and then to the other assets
on a pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of each asset
in the unit (or group of cash-generating units).

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit, the attributable
amount of goodwill is included in the determination of the amount
of profit or loss on disposal (or any of the cash-generating
unit within group of cash-generating units in which the Group
monitors goodwill)

The Group’s policy for goodwill arising on the acquisition of an
associate and a joint venture is described below.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

—E_=F4+-A=+—HILEE For the year ended 31st December, 2023

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Investments in associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in the
financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not
control or joint control over those policies.

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that
have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net
assets of the joint arrangement. Joint control is the contractually
agreed sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists only
when decisions about the relevant activities require unanimous
consent of the parties sharing control.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates or joint
ventures are incorporated in these consolidated financial
statements using the equity method of accounting. The financial
statements of associates and joint ventures used for equity
accounting purposes are prepared using uniform accounting
policies as those of the Group for like transactions and events in
similar circumstances. Under the equity method, an investment
in an associate or a joint venture is initially recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position at cost and adjusted
thereafter to recognise the Group’s share of the profit or loss
and other comprehensive income of the associate or joint
venture. Changes in net assets of the associate/joint venture
other than profit or loss and other comprehensive income are
not accounted for unless such changes resulted in changes in
ownership interest held by the Group. When the Group’s share
of losses of an associate or a joint venture exceeds the Group’s
interest in that associate or joint venture, the Group discontinues
recognising its share of further losses. Additional losses are
recognised only to the extent that the Group has incurred legal
or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of the
associate or joint venture.
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4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Investments in associates and joint ventures (Continued)

An investment in an associate or a joint venture is accounted
for using the equity method from the date on which the investee
becomes an associate or a joint venture. On acquisition of the
investment in an associate or a joint venture, any excess of the
cost of the investment over the Group's share of the net fair
value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the investee is
recognised as goodwill, which is included within the carrying
amount of the investment. Any excess of the Group’s share of the
net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost
of the investment, after reassessment, is recognised immediately
in profit or loss in the period in which the investment is acquired.

The requirements of HKFRS 9 Financial instruments (“HKFRS 9”)
are applied to determine whether it is necessary to recognise
any impairment loss with respect to the Group’s investment
in an associate or a joint venture. When necessary, the entire
carrying amount of the investment (including goodwill) is tested
for impairment in accordance with HKAS 36 as a single asset
by comparing its recoverable amount (higher of value in use
and fair value less costs of disposal) with its carrying amount.
Any impairment loss recognised forms part of the carrying
amount of the investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss
is recognised in accordance with HKAS 36 to the extent that the
recoverable amount of the investment subsequently increases.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

—E_=F4+-A=+—HILEE For the year ended 31st December, 2023

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Investments in associates and joint ventures (Continued)

When the Group ceases to have significant influence over an
associate or joint control over a joint venture, it is accounted
for as a disposal of the entire interest in the investee with a
resulting gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss. When
the Group retains an interest in the former associate or joint
venture and the retained interest is a financial asset within the
scope of HKFRS 9, the Group measures the retained interest at
fair value at that date and the fair value is regarded as its fair
value on initial recognition. The difference between the carrying
amount of the associate or joint venture and the fair value of
any retained interest and any proceeds from disposing the
relevant interest in the associate or joint venture is included in
the determination of the gain or loss on disposal of the associate
or joint venture. In addition, the Group accounts for all amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive income in relation
to that associate or joint venture on the same basis as would be
required if that associate or joint venture had directly disposed
of the related assets or liabilities. Therefore, if a gain or loss
previously recognised in other comprehensive income by that
associate or joint venture would be reclassified to profit or loss
on the disposal of the related assets or liabilities, the Group
reclassifies the gain or loss from equity to profit or loss (as a
reclassification adjustment) upon disposal/partial disposal of the
relevant associate or joint venture.

The Group continues to use the equity method when an
investment in an associate becomes an investment in a
joint venture or an investment in a joint venture becomes an
investment in an associate. There is no remeasurement to fair
value upon such changes in ownership interests.
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4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Investments in associates and joint ventures (Continued)

When the Group reduces its ownership interest in an associate
or a joint venture but the Group continues to use the equity
method, the Group reclassifies to profit or loss the proportion
of the gain or loss that had previously been recognised in other
comprehensive income relating to that reduction in ownership
interest if that gain or loss would be reclassified to profit or loss
on the disposal of the related assets or liabilities.

When a group entity transacts with an associate or a joint venture
of the Group, profits and losses resulting from the transactions
with the associate or joint venture are recognised in the Group’s
consolidated financial statements only to the extent of interests in
the associate or joint venture that are not related to the Group.

Revenue recognition
Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when
control of goods or services is transferred to the customers at
an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Group
expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable amount,
the amount of consideration is estimated to which the Group will
be entitled in exchange for transferring the goods or services to
the customer. The variable consideration is estimated at contract
inception and constrained until it is highly probable that a
significant revenue reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue
recognised will not occur when the associated uncertainty with
the variable consideration is subsequently resolved.

W CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2023
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Revenue recognition (Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

When the contract contains a financing component which
provides the customer with a significant benefit of financing the
transfer of goods or services to the customer for more than one
year, revenue is measured at the present value of the amount
receivable, discounted using the discount rate that would be
reflected in a separate financing transaction between the Group
and the customer at contract inception. When the contract
contains a financing component which provides the Group with
a significant financial benefit for more than one year, revenue
recognised under the contract includes the interest expense
accreted on the contract liability under the effective interest
method. For a contract where the period between the payment by
the customer and the transfer of the promised goods or services
is one year or less, the transaction price is not adjusted for the
effects of a significant financing component, using the practical
expedient in HKFRS 15 Revenue from contracts with customers
(“HKFRS 157).

(a) Sale of goods (including gas fuel, gas appliances and
related products)

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised at the
point in time when control of the asset is transferred to
the customer, generally when the gas fuel is used by the
customers and on delivery of the gas appliances and
related products, respectively.
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Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

Gas connection/design and construction services

Revenue from the provision of gas connection and design
and construction services is recognised over time,
measured based on the input method by reference to the
costs incurred during the year relative to the estimated total
costs for satisfaction of the contract. When the outcome
of a construction contract for gas connection cannot be
estimated reliably, revenue is recognised only to the extent
of contract cost incurred that is probable to be recoverable.

Claims to customers are amounts that the Group seeks to
collect from the customers as reimbursement of costs and
margins for scope of works not included in the original
construction contract. Claims are accounted for as variable
consideration and constrained until it is highly probable that
a significant revenue reversal in the amount of cumulative
revenue recognised will not occur when the associated
uncertainty with the variable consideration is subsequently
resolved. The Group uses the expected value method to
estimate the amounts of claims because this method best
predicts the amount of variable consideration to which the
Group will be entitled.

Integrated energy service

Revenue from integrated energy service is recognised
when control over a product or service is transferred to the
customer at the amount of promised consideration to which
the group is expected to be entitled.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Revenue recognition (Continued)
Revenue from other sources

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the
effective interest method by applying the rate that exactly
discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the expected
life of the financial instrument or a shorter period, when
appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.

Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders’ right to
receive payment has been established, it is probable that the
economic benefits associated with the dividend will flow to the
Group and the amount of the dividend can be measured reliably.

The Group’s accounting policy for recognition of revenue from
operating leases is described in the accounting policy for leasing
below.

Contract assets

A contract asset is the right to consideration in exchange for
goods or services transferred to the customer. If the Group
performs by transferring goods or services to a customer before
the customer pays consideration or before payment is due,
a contract asset is recognised for the earned consideration
that is conditional. Contract assets are subject to impairment
assessment, details of which are included in the accounting
policies for impairment of financial assets. The contract assets
are disclosed under a separate financial statement line item
named “Assets related to contract works”.
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4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is received or a
payment is due (whichever is earlier) from a customer before the
Group transfers the related goods or services. Contract liabilities
are recognised as revenue when the Group performs under the
contract (i.e., transfers control of the related goods or services to
the customer).

Contract costs

Other than the costs which are capitalised as inventories,
and intangible assets, costs incurred to fulfil a contract with a
customer are capitalised as an asset if all of the following criteria
are met:

(a) The costs relate directly to a contract or to an anticipated
contract that the entity can specifically identify.

(b) The costs generate or enhance resources of the entity
that will be used in satisfying (or in continuing to satisfy)
performance obligations in the future.

(c) The costs are expected to be recovered.

The capitalised contract costs are amortised and charged to the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income on a systematic basis that is consistent with the transfer
to the customer of the goods or services to which the asset
relates. Other contract costs are expensed as incurred.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31st December, 2023

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment including buildings held for
use in the production or supply of goods or services, or for
administrative purposes (other than construction in progress) are
stated in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost
less subsequent accumulated depreciation and accumulated
impairment losses, if any.

Construction in progress includes property, plant and equipment
in the course of construction for production or for own use
purposes. Construction in progress is carried at cost less
any recognised impairment loss. Construction in progress
is classified to the appropriate category of property, plant
and equipment when completed and ready for intended use.
Depreciation of these assets, on the same basis as other
property assets commence when the assets are ready for their
intended use.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of items
of property, plant and equipment other than construction in
progress over their estimated useful lives and after taking into
account their estimated residual values, using the straight-
line method. The estimated useful lives, residual values and
depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting
period, with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for

on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss
arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of property,
plant and equipment is determined as the difference between
the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is
recognised in profit or loss.
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4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Leasehold land and buildings under development for future
owner-occupied purpose

When the leasehold land and buildings are in the course of
development for production or for administrative purposes, the
leasehold land component is classified as a right-of-use asset
and amortised on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
During the construction period, the amortisation charge provided
for the leasehold land is included as part of costs of buildings
under construction. Buildings under construction are carried at
cost, less any identified impairment losses and are classified
as property, plant and equipment. Depreciation of buildings
commences when they are available for use (i.e. when they are
in the location and condition necessary for them to be capable of
operating in the manner intended by management).

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/or
for capital appreciation.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including
any directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial
recognition, investment properties are stated at cost less
subsequent accumulated depreciation and any accumulated
impairment losses. Depreciation is recognised so as to write off
the cost of investment properties over their estimated useful lives
and after taking into account their estimated residual values,
using the straight-line method.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when
the investment property is permanently withdrawn from use and
no future economic benefits are expected from its disposals. Any
gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated
as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset) is included in the profit or loss in
the period in which the item is derecognised.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31st December, 2023

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets include the Other intangible assets for city
pipeline network.

Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets acquired separately and with finite useful
lives are carried at costs less accumulated amortisation and
any accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation for intangible
assets with finite useful lives is provided on a straight-line basis
over their estimated useful lives.

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination are
recognised separately from goodwill and are initially recognised
at their fair value at the acquisition date (which is regarded as
their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets acquired in a
business combination with finite useful lives are reported at costs
less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment
losses, on the same basis as intangible assets that are acquired
separately.

An intangible asset is derecognised upon disposal or when
no future economic benefits are expected to arise from the
continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising from
derecognition of an intangible asset is measured as the
difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss in the

period when the asset is derecognised.
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(CONTINUED)
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The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract
is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the
contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified
asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement
approach for all leases, except for short-term leases and leases
for low-value assets. The Group recognises lease liabilities to
make lease payments and right-of-use assets representing the
right to use the underlying assets.

(a) Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease (that is the date the underlying asset
is available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured
at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and any
impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement
of lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes
the amount of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct
costs incurred, and lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives received.
Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis
over the shorter of the lease terms and the estimated useful
lives of the assets as follows:

2 to 50 years
2 to 25 years

Plant, machinery and equipment 2 to 24 years

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group by
the end of the lease term or the cost reflects the exercise
of a purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the
estimated useful life of the asset.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE-Z_=F+-A=+—HLFE  For the year ended 31st December, 2023

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Leases (Continued)
Group as a lessee (Continued)
(b) Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement date
of the lease at the present value of lease payments to be
made over the lease term. The lease payments include fixed
payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less
any lease incentives receivable, variable lease payments
that depend on an index or a rate, and amounts expected
to be paid under residual value guarantees. The lease
payments also include the exercise price of a purchase
option reasonably certain to be exercised by the Group and
payments of penalties for termination of a lease, if the lease
term reflects the Group exercising the option to terminate
the lease. The variable lease payments that do not depend
on an index or a rate are recognised as an expense in
the period in which the event or condition that triggers the
payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the
Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date because the interest rate implicit in the
lease is not readily determinable. After the commencement
date, the amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect
the accretion of interest and reduced for the lease payments
made. In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities is
remeasured if there is a modification, a change in the lease
term, a change in lease payments (e.g., a change to future
lease payments resulting from a change in an index or rate)
or a change in assessment of an option to purchase the
underlying asset.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Leases (Continued)
Group as a lessee (Continued)

(c) Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

AEEBEHHERRHEER The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
AR R %E’Jﬁﬁﬁfﬁh(ﬁﬂ exemption to its short-term leases of machinery and
B AR ERA T =@ equipment (that is those leases that have a lease term of
AT - ﬂﬁﬂ$@’é‘ﬁ%§i§%% 12 months or less from the commencement date and do not
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equipment that are considered to be of low value.

Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low-
value assets are recognised as an expense on a straight-
line basis over the lease term.

Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease inception
(or when there is a lease modification) each of its leases as
either an operating lease or a finance lease.

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially
all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an asset
are classified as operating leases. When a contract contains
lease and non-lease components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the contract to each component on a relative
stand-alone selling price basis. Rental income is accounted for
on a straight-line basis over the lease terms and is included
in revenue in profit or loss due to its operating nature. Initial
direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating
lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and
recognised over the lease term on the same basis as rental
income. Contingent rents are recognised as revenue in the
period in which they are earned.

Treasury shares

Own equity instruments which are reacquired and held by the
Company are recognised directly in equity at cost. No gain or
loss is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or
cancellation of the Group’s own equity instruments.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

—EC=E+-A=t—HILEE For the year ended 31st December, 2023

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is calculated using the weighted average method.
Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary
course of business less the estimated costs of completion and
the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand
deposits, and short-term highly liquid investments that are
readily convertible into known amounts of cash, are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a short maturity
of generally within three months when acquired, less bank
overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form an integral
part of the Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial
position, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and
at banks, including term deposits, and assets similar in nature to
cash, which are not restricted as to use.

Investments and other financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on the
consolidated statement of financial position when a group entity
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends
on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow characteristics
and the Group’s business model for managing them. With the
exception of trade receivables that do not contain a significant
financing component or for which the Group has applied the
practical expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant
financing component, the Group initially measures a financial
asset at its fair value, plus in the case of a financial asset not
at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs. Trade
receivables that do not contain a significant financing component
or for which the Group has applied the practical expedient are
measured at the transaction price determined under HKFRS 15
in accordance with the policies set out for “Revenue recognition”
above.
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4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)
Initial recognition and measurement (Continued)

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured
at amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive
income, it needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest (“SPPI”) on the principal
amount outstanding. Financial assets with cash flows that are not
SPPI are classified and measured at fair value through profit or
loss, irrespective of the business model.

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets refers
to how it manages its financial assets in order to generate cash
flows. The business model determines whether cash flows will
result from collecting contractual cash flows, selling the financial
assets, or both. Financial assets classified and measured
at amortised cost are held within a business model with the
objective to hold financial assets in order to collect contractual
cash flows, while financial assets classified and measured at
fair value through other comprehensive income are held within
a business model with the objective of both holding to collect
contractual cash flows and selling. Financial assets which are not
held within the aforementioned business models are classified
and measured at fair value through profit or loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases
or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the period generally established by
regulation or convention in the marketplace.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on
their classification as follows:

Annual Report 2023
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

—EC=E+-A=t—HILEE For the year ended 31st December, 2023

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)
Subsequent measurement (Continued)
Financial assets at amortised cost

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured
using the effective interest method and are subject to
impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in the statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income when the asset is
derecognised, modified or impaired.

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income

For debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive
income, interest income, foreign exchange revaluation and
impairment losses or reversals are recognised in the statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income and computed
in the same manner as for financial assets measured at
amortised cost. The remaining fair value changes are recognised
in other comprehensive income. Upon derecognition, the
cumulative fair value change recognised in other comprehensive
income is recycled to the statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.

Financial assets designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income

Upon initial recognition, the Group can elect to classify
irrevocably its equity instruments as equity instruments
designated at fair value through other comprehensive income
when they meet the definition of equity under HKAS 32 Financial
Instruments: Presentation and are not held for trading. The
classification is determined on an instrument-by-instrument basis.
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4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)
Subsequent measurement (Continued)

Financial assets designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income (Continued)

Gains and losses on these financial assets are never recycled
to the statement of comprehensive income. Dividends are
recognised as other income in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income when the right of
payment has been established, it is probable that the economic
benefits associated with the dividend will flow to the Group and
the amount of the dividend can be measured reliably, except
when the Group benefits from such proceeds as a recovery of
part of the cost of the financial asset, in which case, such gains
are recorded in other comprehensive income. Equity instruments
designated at fair value through other comprehensive income are
not subject to impairment assessment.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried
in the consolidated statement of financial position at fair value
with net changes in fair value recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

This category includes derivative instruments and equity
instruments which the Group had not irrevocably elected to
classify at fair value through other comprehensive income.
Dividends on equity instruments classified as financial assets at
fair value profit or loss are also recognised as other income in
profit or loss when the right of payment has been established,
it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the
dividend will flow to the Group and the amount of the dividend
can be measured reliably.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

—E_=H5+-A=+—HLEFE For the year ended 31st December, 2023

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)
Subsequent measurement (Continued)
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (Continued)

A derivative embedded in a hybrid contract, with a financial
liability or non-financial host, is separated from the host
and accounted for as a separate derivative if the economic
characteristics and risks are not closely related to the host;
a separate instrument with the same terms as the embedded
derivative would meet the definition of a derivative; and the
hybrid contract is not measured at fair value through profit or
loss. Embedded derivatives are measured at fair value with
changes in fair value recognised in the statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income.

Reassessment only occurs if there is either a change in the terms
of the contract that significantly modifies the cash flows that
would otherwise be required or a reclassification of a financial
asset out of the fair value through profit or loss category.

A derivative embedded within a hybrid contract containing a
financial asset host is not accounted for separately. The financial
asset host together with the embedded derivative is required
to be classified in its entirety as a financial asset at fair value
through profit or loss.
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4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset is primarily derecognised (i.e., removed from

the Group’s consolidated statement of financial position) when:

- the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired;
or

- the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the
received cash flows in full without material delay to a third
party under a “pass-through” arrangement; and either
(a) the Group has transferred substantially all the risks
and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and
rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the
asset

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement,
it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has retained the risk
and rewards of ownership of the asset. When it has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards
of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the Group
continues to recognise the transferred asset to the extent of the
Group’s continuing involvement. In that case, the Group also
recognises an associated liability. The transferred asset and
the associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects the
rights and obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over
the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original
carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of
consideration that the Group could be required to repay.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

—EC=E+-A=t—HILEE For the year ended 31st December, 2023

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses
(“ECLs") for all debt instruments not held at fair value through
profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the
contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract and
all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted
at an approximation of the original effective interest rate. The
expected cash flows will include cash flows from the sale of
collateral held or other credit enhancements that are integral to
the contractual terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for
which there has not been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses
that result from default events that are possible within the next
12 months (a 12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for
which there has been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit losses
expected over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of
the timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the credit
risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly since
initial recognition. When making the assessment, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of initial
recognition and considers reasonable and supportable
information that is available without undue cost or effort,
including historical and forward-looking information. The Group
considers that there has been a significant increase in credit risk
when contractual payments are more than 30 days past due.
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4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
General approach (Continued)

For debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive
income, the Group applies the low credit risk simplification.
At each reporting date, the Group evaluates whether the debt
investments are considered to have low credit risk using all
reasonable and supportable information that is available without
undue cost or effort. In making that evaluation, the Group
reassesses the external credit ratings of the debt investments.
Debt investments graded in the top investment categories by
the Credit Rating Agency are considered to be low credit risk
investments. It is the Group’s policy to measure ECLs on such
instruments on a 12-month basis. However, when there has been
a significant increase in credit risk of debt investments since
origination, the allowance will be based on the lifetime ECL.
The Group uses the ratings from the Credit Rating Agency both
to determine whether the debt instruments have significantly
increased in credit risk and to estimate ECLs.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when contractual
payments are 90 days past due. However, in certain cases, the
Group may also consider a financial asset to be in default when
internal or external information indicates that the Group is unlikely
to receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full before
taking into account any credit enhancements held by the Group.
A financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable
expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31st December, 2023

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
General approach (Continued)

Debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive
income and financial assets at amortised cost are subject to
impairment under the general approach and they are classified
within the following stages for measurement of ECLs except for
trade receivables and assets related to contract works which
apply the simplified approach as detailed below.

Stage 1 — Financial instruments for which credit risk has not
increased significantly since initial recognition and
for which the loss allowance is measured at an

amount equal to 12-month ECLs

Stage 2 - Financial instruments for which credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition but
that are not credit-impaired financial assets and for
which the loss allowance is measured at an amount

equal to lifetime ECLs

Stage 3 - Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the
reporting date (but that are not purchased or
originated credit-impaired) and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal to

lifetime ECLs

Simplified approach

For trade receivables and assets related to contract works that
do not contain a significant financing component or when the
Group applies the practical expedient of not adjusting the effect
of a significant financing component, the Group applies the
simplified approach in calculating ECLs. Under the simplified
approach, the Group does not track changes in credit risk, but
instead recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs
at each reporting date. The Group has established a provision
matrix that is based on its historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and

the economic environment.
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4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Simplified approach (Continued)

For trade receivables and assets related to contract works
that contain a significant financing component and lease
receivables, the Group chooses as its accounting policy to adopt
the simplified approach in calculating ECLs with policies as
described above.

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether
there is objective evidence that a financial asset or a group of
financial assets is impaired. An impairment exists if one or more
events that occurred after the initial recognition of the asset have
an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial
asset or the group of financial assets that can be reliably
estimated. Evidence of impairment may include indications that a
debtor or a group of debtors is experiencing significant financial
difficulty, default or delinquency in interest or principal payments,
the probability that they will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation and observable data indicating that there is a
measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows, such
as changes in arrears or economic conditions that correlate with
defaults.

p CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2023



EXRSETEE ()

tHEE

WEHER R E

RS HRE  ¢HEEIBARA
FEABSOEHERE  ERRE
B ENREXRARE R ETEA
Y TEZTAT A (MEm) -

ESBMBENSRAFERR M
BEREEEARENFIE - A&
BEEREERZEA -

FEEERAERRENE SRR R
H bR BN & EIERRBR
B TESRMI AR SRITRA
s -

B

e

e R RMEE
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

—EC=E+-A=t—HILEE For the year ended 31st December, 2023

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans and
borrowings, payables, or as derivatives designated as hedging
instruments in an effective hedge, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in
the case of loans and borrowings and payables, net of directly
attributable transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and other payables,
an amount due to the ultimate holding company, derivative
financial instruments and interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial liabilities (Continued)
Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on
their classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings
are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective
interest rate method unless the effect of discounting would be
immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost. Gains and
losses are recognised in the statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income when the liabilities are derecognised as
well as through the effective interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount
or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral
part of the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate
amortisation is included in finance costs in the statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income.

Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are those
contracts that require a payment to be made to reimburse the
holder for a loss it incurs because the specified debtor fails to
make a payment when due in accordance with the terms of a
debt instrument. A financial guarantee contract is recognised
initially as a liability at its fair value, adjusted for transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the issuance of the
guarantee. Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group measures
the financial guarantee contracts at the higher of: (i) the ECL
allowance determined in accordance with the policy as set out
in “Impairment of financial assets”; and (ii) the amount initially
recognised less, when appropriate, the cumulative amount of
income recognised.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31st December, 2023

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the
liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from
the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of
an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange
or modification is treated as a derecognition of the original
liability and a recognition of a new liability, and the difference
between the respective carrying amounts is recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net
amount is reported in the statement of financial position if there
is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised
amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to
realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for
their intended use or sale, are added to the costs of those assets
until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their
intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of
specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for
capitalisation.
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4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Borrowing costs (Continued)

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans/state-
managed retirement benefit schemes/the Mandatory Provident
Fund Scheme are recognised as an expense when employees
have rendered service entitling them to the contributions.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the undiscounted
amount of the benefits expected to be paid as and when
employees rendered the services. All short-term employee
benefits are recognised as an expense unless another HKFRS
requires or permits the inclusion of the benefit in the cost of an
asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees
(such as wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave) after
deducting any amount already paid.

Other employee benefits
Defined benefit plan

The Group operates several defined benefit plans which require
payments to be made to each qualifying employee in the PRC.
The benefits are unfunded. The cost of providing benefits under
the defined benefit plans is determined using the projected unit
credit actuarial valuation method.

Remeasurements arising from defined benefit pension plans,
comprising actuarial gains and losses, the effect of the asset
ceiling (excluding amounts included in net interest on the
net defined benefit liability) and the return on plan assets
(excluding amounts included in net interest on the net defined
benefit liability), are recognised immediately in the consolidated
statement of financial position with a corresponding debit or
credit to retained profits through other comprehensive income
in the period in which they occur. Remeasurements are not
reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods.

w CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2023



EXRSETEE ()

Hiufg SR F (4&)
REFFa1E (%)

B BRI A E TSI £ B A9
R

o FHEMEFTSHIRKBE &

e AKEBAEBMEENERD
B &

FNERBREBTRREANRER
MEEREEFHERGTED - AEHE
EHREBERRTRNGEE HERE]
R{THRAX ] THERFERNAEF
BHEA T &

o IREBHA  BEBHRBAAK -
BERBAA ~ HURFBER R
R EiSE

o FRERSZ A

BLIH

PR 1S T 7 S 46 B H A 0 08 BB FE 75
THRABAN o

BIRA FE A B R 9% 4 R B AR A0 A AT
B ERDGEN N B EMEE R
ABRANRK AR TABES
AR AATHNBIAR - EffsRe
BaELEMESRERMZMOKRE
BN A FTAR o AN E® BN HITR IR
BEDRERESHARCDHEMKIEER
M EGTE -

B

e

e R RMEE
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

—EC=F+-A=1+—HLEE For the year ended 31st December, 2023

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Other employee benefits (Continued)
Defined benefit plan (Continued)

Past service costs are recognised in profit or loss at the earlier
of:

. the date of the plan amendment or curtailment; and

o the date that the Group recognises restructuring-related
costs

Net interest is calculated by applying the discount rate to the
net defined benefit liability or asset. The Group recognises the
following changes in the net defined benefit obligation under
“cost of sales” and “administrative expenses” in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss by function:

o service costs comprising current service costs, past-service
costs, gains and losses on curtailments and non-routine
settlements

o net interest expense or income

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from profit before taxation as reported in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income because it excludes items of income or expense that are
taxable or deductible in other years and it further excludes items
that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for
current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.
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4.

For the year ended 31st December, 2023

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial
statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the
computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax
assets are generally recognised for all deductible temporary
differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit
will be available against which those deductible temporary
differences can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arises from goodwill or
from the initial recognition (other than in a business combination)
of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither
the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures, except where the Group is able to
control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable
that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary
differences associated with such investments and interests are
only recognised to the extent that it is probable that there will be
sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of
the temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in
the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of the reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no
longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to
allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is
settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which
the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover
or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

p CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2023
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

—E_=F4+-A=+—HILEE For the year ended 31st December, 2023

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Taxation (Continued)

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case,
the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively. Where
current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial accounting for a
business combination, the tax effect is included in the accounting
for the business combination.

Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are
approved by the shareholders in a general meeting. Proposed
final dividends are disclosed in the notes to the financial
statements.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared,
because the Company’s memorandum and articles of association
grant the directors the authority to declare interim dividends.
Consequently, interim dividends are recognised immediately as a
liability when they are proposed and declared.

Foreign currencies

Items included in the financial statements of each of the
group entities are measured using the currency of the primary
economic environment in which the entity operates (the
“functional currency”). The consolidated financial statements are
presented in HK$, which is the Company’s functional currency
and the Group's presentation currency.

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional
currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recognised at the
rates of exchanges prevailing on the dates of the transactions.
At the end of the reporting period, monetary items denominated
in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing
at that date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates
prevailing on the date when the fair value was determined. Non-
monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a
foreign currency are not retranslated.

EPERBIERERDLET —B-ZEFH @



i
,éﬁ/j'\/\

B S R R M

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE-_Z-_=5+-A=+—HLEFE

4.

EXRSETEE ()

SN (4F)

BERRIEARENREBKIRB
EiZER%ﬁ’KEEi%%EE

SR - ERRESENIEIN B
EWIREWELZERI - ik B
MEERMAGTIPTEARESE
(EER BN EBREFESD)
At ERHF O HEREERNEE A
AKAEAREEMYIZRHE b EE
Wean iR B ERTENDHEE

Pl

MEINGEPBHEMNS  SEER
MEERBBERREBREBERN
ERMESRNEENZ25EE (BB

7o) MR ARFXZIAR Rl FE Y
BHERBE - PrESRELZ5 (W0
B)eHEENFRBE TREME2EE
@R LN T REt o

EEERBZEESETHZEERE
REMANBEBERS SHRMRREE
R FAEE  cZEEEEHER
%EE%ﬁﬁﬁmﬁﬁiﬁ%ﬁW%
BEENBRERF REEHH - Z&
EERAAEENERERKMARE
BERERMMINGERE - fTEENIKE
BERBE T RESERIEEBELKA -

RZZZERF-A-ARERKESE
SNETEFREATE R AB AT BN E
ENXTEAE  BIEZBIEBH
AERAEERE  ERHREHRER
BVERIBE o PTELME N ZRNE
HAETRER -

4.

For the year ended 31st December, 2023

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are recognised
in profit or loss in the period in which they arise, except for
exchange differences on monetary items receivable from or
payable to a foreign operation for which settlement is neither
planned nor likely to occur (therefore forming part of the net
investment in the foreign operation), which are recognised
initially in other comprehensive income and are reclassified
from equity to profit or loss on disposal or partial disposal of the

Group’s interests in associates or joint ventures.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the group entities are
translated into the presentation currency of the Group (i.e.,
HK$) using exchange rates prevailing at the end of reporting
period. Income and expenses items are translated at the average
exchange rates for the year. Exchange differences arising, if any,
are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated
in equity under the heading of translation reserve.

The functional currency of a group entity is changed only where
there is a change to the underlying transactions, events and
conditions relevant to the group entity. The group entity applies
the translation procedures applicable to the new functional
currency prospectively from the date of the change. At the date
of the change, the group entity translates all items into the new
functional currency using the prevailing exchange rate at that
date and the resulting translated amounts for non-monetary items
are treated as their historical cost.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets
acquired arising on an acquisition of a foreign operation on or
after 1st January, 2005 are treated as assets and liabilities of
that foreign operation and translated at the rate of exchange
prevailing at the end of the reporting period. Exchange
differences arising are recognised in the translation reserve.

p CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2023
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

—EC=E+-A=t—HILEE For the year ended 31st December, 2023

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Impairment losses on tangible and intangible assets other
than goodwill

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its tangible and intangible assets with finite useful
lives to determine whether there is any indication that those
assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication
exists, the recoverable amount of the relevant asset is estimated
in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss, if any.

When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount
of an asset individually, the Group estimates the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.
When a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be
identified, corporate assets are also allocated to individual cash
— generating units, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest
group of cash-generating units for which a reasonable and
consistent allocation basis can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to
the asset (or a cash-generating unit) for which the estimates of
future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating unit)
is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying
amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is reduced to
its recoverable amount. In allocating the impairment loss, the
impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount
of any goodwill (if applicable) and then to the other assets on
a pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in
the unit. The carrying amount of an asset is not reduced below
the highest of its fair value less costs of disposal (if measurable),
its value in use (if determinable) and zero. The amount of the
impairment loss that would otherwise have been allocated to
the asset is allocated pro rata to the other assets of the unit. An
impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Impairment losses on tangible and intangible assets other
than goodwill (Continued)

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is increased
to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that
the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined had no impairment
loss been recognised for the asset (or a cash-generating unit)
in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions
attaching to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a
systematic basis over the periods in which the Group recognises
as expenses the related costs for which the grants are intended
to compensate. Government grants related to depreciable assets
are recognised as deferred income in the consolidated statement
of financial position and transferred to profit or loss on a
systematic and rational basis over the useful lives of the related
assets. Other government grants are recognised as revenue
over the periods necessary to match them with the costs for
which they are intended to compensate, on a systematic basis.
Government grants that are receivable as compensation for
expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of giving
immediate financial support to the Group with no future related
costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they
become receivable.

Long term award scheme

The cost of acquisition of the Company’s shares pursuant to the
long-term award scheme is recorded as shares held for incentive
award scheme. The shares held for incentive award scheme will
be disposed of for cash which will be distributed to the eligible
employees.

p CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2023
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

—E_=H5+-A=+—HLEFE For the year ended 31st December, 2023

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Long term award scheme (Continued)

When the shares held for long term award scheme are disposed
of and the resulting proceeds from disposal are distributed
to the employees, the proceeds distributed to employees are
recognised as expenses (staff costs), and the difference between
the consideration received and the cost of the shares will be
credited to retained profits.

Related parties

(a) A person, or a close member of that person’s family, is
related to the Group if that person:

(i)  has control or joint control over the Group;
(i)  has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of the
Group or the Group’s parent.

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies:

(i)  The entity and the Group are members of the same
group (which means that each parent, subsidiary and
fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

(ii)  One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or an associate or joint venture of a member of
a Group of which the other entity is a member).

(iii) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.

(iv) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity.

(v) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group.
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BE—_Z_=F+4+_-B=+—HILEE For the year ended 31st December, 2023

4. ERETEER (E) 4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)
BEAL(E) Related parties (Continued)
(b) MRS NHMEMEHS - BNEREER (b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
rEEB@E  (8) conditions applies: (Continued)

(Vi) ZEBRX(a)fTd#al ALz (vi) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
g = R o identified in (a).

(vii) R(a)(i) TR A TH EE (vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
BEKRE %7‘7 LBZEE over the entity or is a member of the key management
(BRI RE)XE personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).
EBAB -

(vii) ZEBIAMBEENE (viii) The entity, or any member of a Group of which it is a
(ERI=PNEIEEN-S IYZJK part, provides key management personnel services to
SEMTRAREE the Group or to the Group’s parent.

BABR -

—BALZERBRE R AL TAHAN M Close members of the family of a person are those family
ERETRINBXEZBALTRE members who may be expected to influence, or be influenced
ZBANTHEZZERIEKE ° by, that person in their dealings with the entity.

PEER Segment reporting

KEDRERERAEUBRERFP S HEE Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment item
Bz&% i’iﬁ,ﬁé;ﬁ%@ﬁﬂ%@ﬁimﬂ' reported in the consolidated financial statements, are identified
HREBANBZ2HRMNMBERUEES from the financial information provided regularly to the Group’s
RN E#B P Rt [ 4 &R 9 B K & most senior executive management for the purposes of allocating
HEKRR - resources to, and assessing the performance of, the Group's

various lines of business and geographical locations.

BERERNEED T EREEITH Individually material operating segments are not aggregated for
TEHER - BRIFLE D A AL LE financial reporting purposes unless the segments have similar
e EMBERSEE - £EBEME economic characteristics and are similar in respect of the nature
g BPERSER - DIHEMKIE of products and services, the nature of production processes, the
HIRBO A URETREEE - type or class of customers, the methods used to distribute the
HEBETERNEEDIERE L products or provide the services, and the nature of the regulatory
RED G - g EERE - environment. Operating segments which are not individually

material may be aggregated if they share a majority of these
criteria.

w CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2023
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

—EC=F+-A=1+—HLEE For the year ended 31st December, 2023

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in note 4, the directors of the Company are required to
make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent
from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions
are based on historical experience and other factors that are
considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these
estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the
revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision
and future periods if the revision affects both current and future
periods.

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies

The following are the critical judgements, apart from those
involving estimations (see below), that the directors have made
in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies and
that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised
in the consolidated financial statements.

Control over EGE MR ERAL A and FILZEFHAERL

EBEMRRAER AR is a subsidiary of the Group although the
Group has only a 50% ownership interest and voting rights in
BESEERAABMRAA. The Group has had the 50% ownership
interest since June 2006 in ESEBMRAERAAE and the
remaining 50% of equity interest is owned by a shareholder that
is unrelated to the Group.
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For the year ended 31st December, 2023
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5.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (CONTINUED)

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies
(Continued)

Control over EBEZRMRERL A and FILEEHRERL &
(Continued)

The directors of the Company assessed whether or not the Group
has control over ESEBMABRAF based on whether the
Group has the practical ability to direct the relevant activities of
ESEEMRE AR AR unilaterally. In making their judgement, the
directors considered the Group’s voting power of shareholding
in BBEBMAAMRAA. The board of directors of =FBEEEI
RBBRZAA comprise 7 directors. The Group nominated and
appointed 4 directors in BfEHRRBMR AR and the relevant
activities of B EBMRE AR A A require over 50% of directors’
approval. After assessment, the directors concluded that the
Group has sufficiently dominant voting interest to direct the
relevant activities of B&HEEMEFMRAF, and therefore, the
Group has control over EBZEMRABRAF.

FILEERE AR AR is a subsidiary of the Group. The Group
has 55% ownership interests and voting rights in # IUEEBERTHE
fR A7) and the remaining 45% of equity interests are owned by a
shareholder that is unrelated to the Group.

The directors of the Company assessed whether or not the Group
has control over FILZEMEKAERAF based on whether the
Group has the practical ability to direct the relevant activities of
LB A AR A A unilaterally. In making their judgement, the
directors considered the Group’s voting power of shareholding
in FILFEEMRERARF. The board of directors of A ILFEERR
[ABMRAF comprise 5 directors. The Group nominated and
appointed 3 directors in FILIEBRRBRAF and the relevant
activities of FILZEBRETAEMR A5 require over 50% of directors’
approval. After assessment, the directors concluded that the
Group has sufficiently dominant voting interest to direct the
relevant activities of FILFEMEMRRERAF, and therefore, the
Group has control over I FERABR A A

@ CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2023
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31st December, 2023

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (CONTINUED)

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies
(Continued)

Control over HEZE HMRER L 7], BHEZFMREMR AL ], tHITE
MR ERL A and JSEZEFMRER L A (the “PRC Entities”)

The PRC Entities are subsidiaries of the Group although the
Group has only 49%, 50%, 51% and 51% ownership interests and
voting rights respectively in the PRC Entities and the remaining
equity interests of the PRC Entities are owned by shareholders
that are unrelated to the Group.

The directors of the Company assessed whether or not the
Group has control over the PRC Entities based on whether the
Group has the practical ability to direct the relevant activities
of the PRC Entities unilaterally. In making their judgement, the
directors considered the Group’s voting power of shareholding
in the PRC Entities. The shareholders of the PRC Entities signed
memorandums in which the other shareholders would agree the
Group’s decisions on operating, investing and financing activities
of the PRC Entities, and the other shareholders would agree
the appointment of the entire senior management of the PRC
Entities nominated by the Group. After assessment, the directors
concluded that the Group has sufficiently dominant voting
interest to direct the relevant activities of the PRC Entities, and
therefore, the Group has control over the PRC Entities.
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For the year ended 31st December, 2023
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5.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (CONTINUED)

Estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets within the next
financial year.

Impairment of gooadwill

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an estimation
of the recoverable amount of the cash-generating units to which
goodwill has been allocated, which is the higher of the value
in use and fair value less costs of disposal. The value-in-use
calculation requires the Group to estimate the future cash flows
expected to arise from the cash-generating unit and a suitable
discount rate in order to calculate the present value. Where the
actual future cash flows are less than expected, or changes in
facts and circumstances result in downward revision of future
cash, a material impairment loss may arise. As at 31st December,
2023, the carrying amount of goodwill was HK$4,911,756,000
(2022: HK$2,154,360,000).
calculation are disclosed in note 20.

Details of the recoverable amount

Recognition of gas connection revenue

Revenue from gas connection revenue is measured based on
the input method, which is to recognise revenue on the basis of
the Group’s efforts or inputs to the satisfaction of a performance
obligation relative to the total expected inputs to the satisfaction
of that performance obligation. Accordingly, any changes to
the actual costs incurred and the estimated budgeted costs
may have material impact on the revenue recognised in each
accounting period over the contract term. The management
of the Group is required to exercise significant judgments in
the assessment of the progress of satisfaction of performance
obligation, and the completion and accuracy of forecast costs to
complete.

p CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2023
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

—EC=E+-A=t—HILEE For the year ended 31st December, 2023

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (CONTINUED)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)
Estimation of useful lives of property, plant and equipment

Management estimates the useful lives of property, plant and
equipment based on the expected lifespan of those property,
plant and equipment. The useful lives of property, plant and
equipment could change significantly as a result of technical
innovation. When the actual useful lives of property, plant and
equipment are different from their estimated useful lives due to
the change of commercial and technological environment, such
difference will impact the depreciation charges and the amounts
of assets written down for future periods.

The carrying amount of property, plant and equipment
at 31st December, 2023 was HK$61,198,859,000 (2022:
HK$48,464,774,000).
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6.

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

Information reported to the executive directors of the Company,
being the chief operating decision maker, for the purposes of
resource allocation and assessment of segment performance,
focuses on the types of goods or services delivered or provided.

The Group's operating segments under HKFRS 8 are as follows:

(i) Sale and distribution of gas fuel and related products —
sale of natural gas and to a much lesser extent, liquefied
petroleum gas for residential, commercial and industrial
use;

(i) Gas connection — construction of gas pipeline networks
under gas connection contracts;

(iii) Comprehensive services — sales of gas appliances, related
products and extended services;

(iv) Design and construction services — design, construction,
consultancy and management for gas connection projects;

(v) Gas stations - sale of gas fuel in natural gas filling stations.

No operating segments have been aggregated in arriving at the
reportable segments of the Group.

Segment results represent the profit before taxation earned by
each segment, excluding sundry income, interest income, rental
income, finance costs, depreciation of investment properties,
central administrative costs and directors’ salaries. This is the
measure reported to the executive directors of the Company for
the purpose of revenue allocation and assessment of segment
performance.

p CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2023



R BB IRRMEE

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE-T

—=F+=A=+-ALEE

For the year ended 31st December, 2023

WERkoEER (&) 6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)
DREWE DBEER PEEERD The information of segment revenue, segment results, segment
HaENERET assets and segment liabilities is as follows:
BE-_ZE-_=%+=-B=+—HL#E For the year ended 31st December, 2023
E
T HEW R FEE Segment revenue and results
HERAHRR
REREBER Ry GREE RAREREE sk At
Sale and
distribution
of gas fuel Design and
and related Gas Comprehensive  construction Gas
products connection services services stations Total
T T TEn Thn T T
HKS' 000 HKS' 000 HKS' 000 HK$' 000 HKS' 000 HKS’ 000
Wi Revenue
O External sales 82,625,103 10,887,718 4,044,968 435,583 3,278,533 101,271,905
£5 Results
L Segment results 7,344,444 4,040,844 1,372,947 64,819 255,965 13,079,019
EEaeniEE Share of results of joint ventures 277,682
EiEBENTEE Share of results of associates 366,640
SRR (BEEEFSRI)  Finance costs (other than interest on lease
liabilities) (919,010)
KARMA Unallocated income 2,032,318
AAERR Unallocated expenses (5,927,604)
BRAER Profit before taxation 8,909,045
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6.

WKk o EEFR (F)

6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(CONTINUED)
BE-ZE-_=5+=-HA=+—HL#F For the year ended 31st December, 2023 (Continued)
E(#)
PEEEREE Segment assets and liabilities
HERAHRE
REREBER gy GREE RAREREE ity &it
Sale and
distribution
of gas fuel Design and
and related Gas Comprehensive  construction Gas
products connection services services stations Total
T ThT TER Tin Thn T
HKS' 000 HKS' 000 HKS' 000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BE ASSETS
HREE Segment assets 85,649,753 5,342,116 789,748 766,891 1,780,576 94,329,084
REERANER Interests in joint ventures 17,655,331
REELANER Interests in associates 4,646,000
BRfEEE Deferred tax assets 608,779
AARAREE (W) Unallocated corporate assets (Note ) 20,631,891
137,871,085
8 LIABILITIES
HEAR Segment liabilities 20,429,836 13,692,011 395,132 2,471,982 156,468 37,145,429
ERTE Taxation payable 604,816
EXHEEE Deferred tax liabilities 3,036,857
AARATAE (Hb) Unallocated corporate liabilities (Note b) 33,700,301
74,487,403

w CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2023
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6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31st December, 2023 (Continued)

HE# Other information
FrESHEEMESBEAEMTAZR Amounts included in the measure of segment profit and segment
18 assets:
HERAHRR
#AREBER  RRER GRRE RAREREE sk AR At
Sale and
distribution
of gas fuel Design and
and related Gas Comprehensive  construction Gas
products  connection services services stations  Unallocated Total
TEn Tin Ti#n TR Thx Tin Tz
HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS' 000 HK$'000 HKS' 000 HK$'000 HKS' 000
REFTEEE Additions to non-current assets 6,117,561 - - 3,938 17,843 2,350 6,141,692
TERES Depreciation and amortisation 4,010,021 - - 2,620 21,425 27,051 4,081,117
ERESEFURESERD  Impairment loss recognised on trade
et receivables, net 120,250 16,010 3,005 150 4,081 - 143,496
HEfEYEAESESE  Impairment loss recognised on other
receivables, net - - - - - 21,115 21,115
AREEREBERTFE  Reversal of impairment loss on
contract assets, net - (6,064) - - - - (6,064)
HE/HENE  BERRE Gain on disposalfwrite-off of
e property, plant and equipment (45,929) - - - - - (45,929)
HEFREEENS Gain on disposal of right-of-use
assets (29,056) - - - - - (29,056)
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6. WmkoBER (&) 6.

BE-2__H+-A=+—-HLF

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31st December, 2022

E
DEEW R FEE Segment revenue and results
HERAERE
e REBER s BARE  RARERRE g At
Sale and
distribution
of gas fuel Design and
and related Gas  Comprehensive  construction Gas
products connection services services stations Total
T TFin Fin ThL TAT TR
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
b Revenue
5hE External sales 75,137,134 12,207,857 3,185,334 471,289 3,336,715 94,338,329
E7 4 Results
L Segment results 5,550,569 4,284,201 1,163,791 63,538 323,267 11,375,366
EEARRAZE Share of results of joint ventures 83,385
ElEBELRLE Share of results of associates 426,149
§HAA (MEREFISHI)  Finance costs (other than interest on lease
liabilities) (531,349)
AATHA Unallocated income 641,856
APEFZ Unallocated expenses (3,379,851)
BEAER Profit before taxation 8,615,556

b CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2023
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REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31st December, 2022 (Continued)

E (&)
DEEEREE Segment assets and liabilities
HERAHRE
MEREBER RN Gkl RRERES Mgk A
Sale and
distribution
of gas fuel Design and
and related Gas Comprehensive  construction Gas
products connection services services stations Total
Titr Tk L TiEn T T
HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$ 000
(& 55)
(Restated)
B ASSETS
HREE Segment assets 65,849,577 5,615,327 703,460 1,216,355 1,834,191 75,218,910
RAELRRER Interests in joint ventures 17,073 491
REEARRER Interests in assoclates 7483917
EERBEE Deferred tax assets 508,859
APRAAEE (Hia) Unallocated corporate assets (Note ) 12,018,408
112,303,585
8 LIABILITIES
HERE Segment liabilities 14,418,529 12,188,571 671,066 2,751,604 136,251 30,166,021
FEfiHE Taxation payable 879,508
EEREEE Deferred tax liabiltties 1,726,679
RARARAE (Hito) Unallocated corporate liabilities (Note b) 26,985,954
59,758,162
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6. WERDEEHR (&)

6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(CONTINUED)
BE-ZE-_-H+ZHA=+—HLHF For the year ended 31st December, 2022 (Continued)
E(#)
HE# Other information
FrESHEEMESBEEAEMTAZR Amounts included in the measure of segment profit and segment
18 assets:
HERAHRE
MHRARER  RRER GaRE  RARRRRE g% AR aif
Sale and
distribution
of gas fuel Design and
and related Gas Comprehensive  construction Gas
products  connection services services stations  Unallocated Total

TEL TER TEn TEL TER TEn TEL
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

REIFRELE (EJ) Additions to non-current assets (Restated) 6,819,033 - - 4467 20,936 405 6,844,841
ENEH Depreciation and amortisation 3,281,222 - - 2108 75,334 - 3358664
ERESEFAEEE  Impaiment loss (reversed)recognised on
(BE)/B2EE trade receivables, net (2,127) (8,195) (162) 2,004 218 - (8,262)
AtEYAESRES
Ei Impairment loss on other receivables, net - - - - - 10,429 10,429
SEMEYGUEEDS  Impaiment loss recognised on other
REEETE recelvables, net - 636 - - - - 636
HE/HENE  BE  Gain on disposallwrite-off of property, plant
RixEfhE and equipment (19,793) - - - - - (19,793)
HWEFAEEENSE  Gainon disposal of right-of-use assets (9.473) - - - - - (9473)
Bt Notes:
a.  KRPOBARBEERDE REWHE - a. Unallocated corporate assets represent goodwill, investment

BEREAFEMAALBEEE SN
ATH BERTFEEDRE BETEK
BHRR R EMERR - B EMRTT
FREZBREIRE - ElFRARR
THRBIAE -

b. ROEAFTAMEBHEMENK - RT
REMES  THRERRETRHAE

1A

properties, equity instruments designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income, loans to a joint venture, certain trade and
other receivables, pledged bank deposits and restricted cash, other
deposits and bank balances and cash.

b. Unallocated corporate liabilities represent other payables, bank
and other borrowings, medium-term notes and certain long-term
liabilities.

w CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2023
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6. WERSEESN (&) 6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)
HEE R Geographical information
BRAKBERDEE (TRESR Information about the Group’s non-current assets (excluding
BEMELIREEE)NEHREE financial assets and deferred tax assets) is presented based on
EfEwE7 the locations of the assets:
—s=-= —ZE-=
2023 2022
Fix FAET
HK$’ 000 HK$'000
(5&E75))
(Restated)
s PRC 99,508,506 81,488,276
B Hong Kong 7,450 7,598
99,515,916 81,495,874
REZMER - NEEHKRALEREH The Group'’s revenue was derived in the PRC during both years.
.
LON A0 Timing of revenue recognition
—E2-= —E -
2023 2022
FBT FAT
HK$’ 000 HK$'000
REFEREEER Goods transferred at a point in time 89,948,604 81,659,183
i By ) e g PR 755 Services transferred over time 11,323,301 12,679,146
RERFARMRALLE Total revenue from contracts with customers 101,271,905 94,338,329
FRETEEFHNER Information about major customers
REZMERN > TEREE—IITRTF No single external customer contributed revenue from
RS h A EE W 2 10% sk A transactions amounting to 10% or more of the revenue of the
e Group during both years.
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6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(CONTINUED)

RAFEFERBEA

(i) DIFUAEH
TR A TS R RER A UA
BE ERE Tﬁﬁ#&iﬁﬂ%ﬂ)}ﬂ

EHEETROETMERD
R&fE:

(i)

Revenue from contracts with customers

Disaggregated revenue information

The following table shows the amounts of revenue
recognised in the current reporting period that were
included in the contract liabilities at the beginning of
the reporting period and recognised from performance
obligations satisfied in previous periods:

—E-=F —F-—
2023 2022
FHER FHT
HK$’ 000 HK$'000
FriERHU A (GF AR RS Revenue recognised that was included in
HUMERAaRE) contract liabilities at the beginning of the
reporting period:
MRER &t RESR Gas connection/design and construction
% services 8,867,954 8,114,769
(i) EBRIEF (i)  Performance obligations
BEAAEBREHE THE R Information about the Group's performance obligations is
U summarised below:

HER D HR B R IGR Z im

BHEERZRRILERTT
MFBERRZHZ30 A REH] -

MR

B4 & EREE RIS RO IR S Mo 2
BRET NRBERTREER
BEEIEEE  EHEFEY
JBRRRITER

SRR Y EiE]
an é:&?mﬁi\kﬁ BR5 1% & B

17 HBERINMREAR
MRRIE Mg K e ROE RS R &
PEREEH -
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Sale and distribution of gas fuel and related products

The performance obligation is satisfied upon delivery of gas
and payment is generally due within 30 days from delivery.

Gas connection

The performance obligation is satisfied over time as
services are rendered and payment is generally due upon
completion of installation and customer acceptance, except
for new customers, where payment in advance is normally
required.

Comprehensive services

The performance obligation is satisfied upon delivery of gas
appliances and related products and as extended services
are rendered. The payment is generally due upon delivery
of the gas appliances and related products and upon
completion of extended services and customer acceptance.
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BE-Z_=F+-A=+—HLFE  For the year ended 31st December, 2023

6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)
(i)  Performance obligations (Continued)
Design and construction services

The performance obligation is satisfied over time as
services are rendered and payment is generally due upon
completion of installation and customer acceptance, except
for new customers, where payment in advance is normally
required.

Gas stations

The performance obligation is satisfied upon delivery of gas
and payment is generally in advance.

The transaction prices allocated to the remaining
performance (unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied) as at
31st December, 2023 were HK$12,272,052,000 (2022:
HK$14,420,265,000). The remaining performance
obligations related to gas connection are expected to be
recognised and satisfied within one year.
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For the year ended 31st December, 2023

7.

Hiz A 7. OTHER INCOME
—E-= —E -
2023 2022
FHT FAT
HK$’ 000 HK$'000
REAKTFEIEANFESAEM  Dividend income from equity instruments
FEMENER LA designated at fair value through other
f& B U A comprehensive income 9,524 1,748
REH S E AR A= Gain on deemed disposal of associates 694,093 -
REHEEE A FMKE Gain on deemed disposal of joint ventures 382,127 6,755
HE IMEYWE  MENRZ  Gain on disposal/write-off of property, plant
il as and equipment 45,929 19,793
BREFAEEE RS Gain on disposal of right-of-use assets 29,056 9,473
BT & Government grants 229,609 128,715
A RERIRTS Integrated energy services 269,647 122,179
SRATIF KA BN Interest income from bank deposits 62,108 59,757
EH AT A BURA () Interest income from other deposits (Note) 211,032 67,824
REGFERARZNMBATE  Interest income from deposits placed with a
TR B A fellow subsidiary 26,629 18,385
R E B E QR B U A Interest income from associates 2,366 1,920
REEE QAR EWA Interest income from joint ventures 66,860 47,411
REREZRMBARTIREET Interest income from loans to fellow
BFILE A subsidiaries 12,024 47,493
RELERHONHES WA Rental income from operating leases 78,259 41,859
Hit Others 142,664 197,259
2,261,927 770,571
Bt Note:

HE-Z-_=F+-_A=+—BRZ=ZZ=
—HE+ZA=t+—RALEFE KEHMST
FE) R B A B IE R B AL R B Y ER1T 8
WEOUARBFTENREFTARRRITHRE

EREF SN ©

p CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2023

For the years ended 31st December, 2023 and 31st December, 2022,
interest income from other deposits consisted of interest income from
principal protected deposits and bank financing products denominated in
Renminbi (“RMB”) issued by banks in the PRC.
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BE—_Z_=F+4+_-_B=+—HILEE For the year ended 31st December, 2023

8. BB 8. FINANCE COSTS
—E-= —E -
2023 2022
FHT FAT
HK$’ 000 HK$'000
T EERFE Interest on:
RITREMEE Bank and other borrowings 879,411 446,875
BERER Senior notes - 63,659
R R E S Super short-term commercial papers 4,544 -
FHIRER Medium-term notes 16,082 -
HEaENFE Interest on lease liabilities 21,921 25,669
e & & RRIFRIE Amounts due to joint ventures 1,869 1,179
JEAT R R R R B FRIE Amounts due to intermediate holding

companies 14,430 18,342
FET R R A R 5B Amounts due to fellow subsidiary 1,783 771

FERTHIE 2 Rl IEE R A 2 Amounts due to non-controlling interests of
FIE subsidiaries 60 -
EmREAE Other long-term liabilities 831 523
940,931 557,018
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For the year ended 31st December, 2023

9. BRBLAER

9. PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION

—E-= —E -
2023 2022
B+ FBT FAT
Notes HK$’ 000 HK$'000
Rt A A B 0Bk Profit before taxation has been arrived
(5t A) = at after charging/(crediting):
B IR Staff costs
=W Directors’ emoluments 11 11,756 11,906
EMBET Other staff
— & RALF| — Salaries and bonus 4,116,681 3,765,846
— HiEH — Other benefits 1,165,531 1,078,079
— R IRAEFIET B R - Retirement benefit scheme
contributions 1,044,893 946,058
B8 TR Total staff costs 6,338,861 5,801,889
ZEET N & Auditor’s remuneration 14,236 16,248
W BRERRETE Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment 14 3,205,192 2,969,890
REMENE Depreciation of investment properties 15 27,051 5,018
FRREENE Depreciation of right-of-use assets 16(a) 423,929 269,777
Hipmp EE#E (25 Amortisation of other intangible
ATTHAX) assets (included in administrative
expenses) 21 404,945 113,979
SRREREERMEFRE Impairment of financial and contract
assets, net
— EWE SEFURER - Impairment recognised/(reversed)
R (%) F58 on trade receivables, net 24 143,496 (8,262)
— HEfb R IERER - Impairment recognised on other
RFEE receivables, net 21,115 10,429
—AREERME (& — Impairment (reversed)/recognised
|,/ W FEE on contract assets, net 25 (6,064) 636
KT ATHEEBETEMHM  Lease payments not included in the
EOINE measurement of lease liabilities 16(c) 81,989 84,420

p CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2023
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BE-Z_=F+-A=+—HLFE  For the year ended 31st December, 2023

10. FTB % 10. INCOME TAX

—E-= —E -
2023 2022
FER FAT
HK$’ 000 HK$'000
RIEX HBE - The tax charge comprises:
BVERTIE Current taxation
FEMEMBRNLERBT®  PRC Enterprise Income Tax, withholding tax
Bl EE 9k R ER for distributable profits and intergroup
NEHRTENT restructuring of investments in the PRC 1,876,618 2,082,352
BAFEREBTE Under-provision in prior years 18,330 34,911
1,894,948 2,117,263
EREFIE (MH3E34) Deferred taxation (Note 34) (44,789) 189,774
1,850,159 2,307,037

FANBEBFEH HIRIBEREEED
HETERER AR E16.5% (2T =
ZF 1 16.5%) T IREHE - AARIRE
REBCEHIBRARRMEFER
WHEERTUEF - Bt - WERGE
SRR ANGHER SR SBIRE -

REBERPEARIAMBEERSTE
(TEEMEBE]) REEMEHE
EHGD > PEMBRARNHER
26% EETEEEBFTEEREER
B SIS

BB B EBERBRE SRS T %
B (MR _E——E51%) - 4
BHERRANEEREEDRERZ
TT )\ E— A — B AT BREE S R A
0 BMTEMT © MR ZBRIBIERAT
BRI Mok e AR BRI BB IR T
EBMERB2TIEUA R EF A E R
B 911512 5% 80 10% E T R 4 1
EFEH (AREEENR)

Hong Kong Profits Tax has been provided at the rate of 16.5%
(2022: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable profits arising in
Hong Kong during the year. The Company and its subsidiaries
operating in Hong Kong did not have assessable profits,
accordingly no provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been
made in the consolidated financial statements for both years.

Under the Law of the People’s Republic of China on Enterprise
Income Tax (the “EIT Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the
EIT Law, the tax rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25% except for
certain group entities which are entitled to various concessionary
tax rates or tax exemptions and reliefs.

According to a joint circular of the Ministry of Finance and the
State Administration of Taxation, Cai Shui 2011 No. 1, only the
profits earned by foreign-investment enterprises prior to 1st
January, 2008, when distributed to foreign investors, can be
grandfathered and exempted from withholding tax. Whereas
dividend distributed out of the profits generated thereafter,
shall be subject to the Enterprise Income Tax at 5% or 10% and
withheld by the PRC entities, pursuant to Articles 3 and 27 of the
New Law and Article 91 of its Detailed Implementation Rules.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE—_Z_=F+4+_-B=+—HILEE For the year ended 31st December, 2023

10. A8 %L (&) 10. INCOME TAX (CONTINUED)
FARBEZHEGEERREMEES The tax charge for the year can be reconciled to the profit before
a3k FBRFADE M B RN T - taxation per consolidated statement of profit or loss and other

comprehensive income as follows:

—E-= T
2023 2022
FHET FAET
HK$’ 000 HK$'000
35 A A Profit before taxation 8,909,045 8,615,556
WEB TSI %25% (—ZZ = Tax at the applicable income tax rate of 25%
Z4F : 25%) st EMBIE (2022: 25%) 2,227,261 2,153,889
RIS AET AR B Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax
SR purposes 285,879 238,265
TSR EARRIARNT Tax effect of income not taxable for tax
FEe purposes (328,763) (82,616)
JEIEALRAREENTBEFZE Tax effect of share of results of joint ventures (69,421) (20,846)
JEIEE S AR EEMNTBEFE Tax effect of share of results of associates (91,660) (106,537)
FERHIBEEEBNRETE  Tax effect of tax losses not recognised 102,883 161,990
B BT RFEROFIEREIE Utilisation of tax losses previously not
recognised (103,357) (18,134)
REBRMEFENMEN Income tax at concessionary rates (190,231) (163,828)
BRFPEEERDIREFEE Withholding tax for distributable profits and
B N E AR TR intergroup restructuring of investments in
the PRC 10,084 72,575
BEFERETR Under-provision in prior years 18,330 34,911
Hith Others (10,846) (12,632)
FARIBEZ M Tax charge for the year 1,850,159 2,307,037
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BE—_Z_=F+4+_-_B=+—HILEE For the year ended 31st December, 2023

N EERTHERHMERA A 11. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S

REHEE EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
EMPLOYEES
= Directors
BESENESOMSNT The emoluments paid or payable to the directors are as follows:
- Jat:3 S
2023 2022
SR BUGR BAEA B8R BUAE  RIEM
e AfEA fge  HEER it e EfpE g2 Bt )
Performance  Retirement Performance  Retirement
Salaries related benefit Selaries related benefit
andother incentive  schemes and other incentive schemes
B4 Name of directors Fees  benefits  payments contributions Total Fees benefis  paymenis  contributions Total

Tin Tin Thn Tin Tin ThR TR Tkt TEL  Thn
HKS'000  HKS$'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKSO000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000

#4783 (Hi@)  Executive directors

(Note (a))

BT Yang Ping -1 2 % 3% - 1513 3% 6 A%

B M) Ge Bin (Note (a)) - 1,455 2,360 157 3,972 - 1491 3,921 154 5572

0% Wik(a) Li Xiaoshuang (Note (2)) - 1,114 1,370 169 2,653 - - - - -

FanEs Non-executive directors

(B) (Note (d)

T Wang Chuandong - - - - - - _ _ _ _

154 Wang Gaogiang - - - - - _ _ _ B} ;

2 Liv Jien - - - - - - 170 - - 170

B Gelu(Note (o) - - R - ; ] . ] ] )

HEE (Iito) Liv Xiaoyong (Note (b)) - - - - - _ _ . ) B

R (o) He Youdong (Note (o) - - - - - B, - . _ _

BUFHGES  Independent non-

executive directors

ERE Wong Tak Sing 300 - - - 300 30 - . _ 0

fER Yu Hon To, David 300 - - - 300 300 : . N 300

aall Yang Yuchuan 300 - - - 300 300 - - - 300

568 (i) Li Pok Yan (Note (c)) m - - - n - _ _ _ _

83 (i) Hu Xiaoyong (Note (c)) bri] - - - m 30 _ _ _ 00
1,200 4,164 5,900 492 11,756 1,200 3,174 7214 318 11,906
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE—_Z_=F+4+_-B=+—HILEE For the year ended 31st December, 2023

M. EERTREATMERESR
EeHESE (&)

BE(H)
P &L

(a) BWELER-_ZE-_=%+-A+H
BEARRPITEERBER - M
NEEEER T _=F+_AtH
BETANITES  RERFIEEDN
TMAREFEHM -

(b) MARREERRZIEBLAEBER T
ZFENAZ+LBEEHIHENTES
MERLTER-_BE-_=FNLA_-+
+HEZERINITES - AIRIRE
ERZZEZZFNAZ+N\BELFE
WITES -

(c) HWEBELER-_ZT-_=FhA_-+
+tHBEBIIINITES  MEHER
REBR-_ZE-_=ZFhA-t++tBE
ZHABIIFNTES -

(d) FEHTEER-_TE_=EKR-_T-—
FMemEN(EE) ARA R
PESaEf D AE o

N EFBAITEENOME D E2HY
BEHARAARRAKEEEEHRM
BBRTS A EPREIFMTTE S B
FHTEENME DT EHEREE
RARBEZRHEAR -

TRALSSENESHERZMESF
EREEMAME -

11. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S

EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
EMPLOYEES (CONTINUED)

Directors (Continued)

Notes:

(a) Mr. Ge Bin has resigned as an Executive director and the vice
chairman of the Company on 7th December, 2023 and Mr. Li
Xiaoshuang has been appointed as an executive director on 7th
December, 2023 and the emolument disclosed in above table
represents compensation for the full year.

(b) Mr. He Youdong and Mr. Liu Xiaoyong have resigned as non-
executive directors on 27th September, 2023 and Mrs. Ge Lu has
been appointed as a non-executive director on 27th September,
2023. Mr. He Youdong was appointed as a non-executive director
on 28th September, 2022.

(c) Mr. Hu Xiaoyong has resigned as an independent non-executive
director on 27th September, 2023 and Mr. Li Pok Yan has been
appointed as an independent non-executive director on 27th
September, 2023.

(d)  The emoluments of the Non-executive directors for 2023 and 2022
were borne or partially borne by China Resources (Holdings)
Company Limited.

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were paid for
their services in connection with the management of the affairs
of the Company and the Group. The emoluments of the Non-
executive directors and independent Non-executive directors
shown above were paid for their services as directors of the
Company.

Neither the Chief executive nor any of the directors waived any
emoluments in both years.

w CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2023
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31st December, 2023

11. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S

EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
EMPLOYEES (CONTINUED)

Employees

The five highest paid individuals of the Group included three
(2022: two) executive directors, details of whose emoluments
are set out above. The emoluments of the remaining two (2022:
three) highest paid employees who are neither a director nor
chief executive of the Group are as follows:

—E-= —E-—
2023 2022
FET FHT
HK$’ 000 HK$'000
HekEMBER Salaries and other benefits 2,678 3,705
WITERES Performance related incentive payments 4,097 10,606
RIRERE B Retirement benefit scheme contributions 339 497
7,114 14,808

LiiEENMEN FUTEHE : The emoluments of the above employees are within the following
bands:

—E-=F T

2023 2022

EEAE EE A

Number of Number of

employees employees

3,000,0018 7L £ 3,500,000/ 7T HK$3,000,001 to HK$3,500,000 1 -

3,500,001 T2 4,000,000 7T HK$3,500,001 to HK$4,000,000 1 -

4,000,001 L% 4,500,000/ 7T HK$4,000,001 to HK$4,500,000 - 1

4,500,001 725,000,000/ 7T HK$4,500,001 to HK$5,000,000 - 1

5,000,001 725,500,000/ 7T HK$5,000,001 to HK$5,500,000 - -

5,500,001 7L £6,000,000/8 7T HK$5,500,001 to HK$6,000,000 - 1

2 3
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE-ZB-=F+=-A=+t—HLFE

For the year ended 31st December, 2023

12. RE 12. DIVIDENDS
—E-= —E-—F
2023 2022
FHT FHET
HK$’ 000 HK$'000
FANERLD RIS Dividends recognised as distribution during
the year:
—E-=FHHRE - §MR15% 2023 interim dividend - 15 HK cents per
W(ZFB——F : —E=-—fFrh share (2022: 2022 interim dividend — 15
HARS B — |58 ) HK cents per share) 340,232 340,232
T FREKRE - #K90%B 2022 final dividend - 90 HK cents per
W(ZFE=—=F: —T=—F%K share (2022: 2021 final dividend — 112
HRRE — "R 112800) HK cents per share) 2,041,394 2,540,401
2,381,626 2,880,633

EERERRNBE-_Z=_=F+=
A=+ BLEFEONRAKRESR
100.69 Ml (ZZF = =4 : 907 {ll) -
#EEE2 283,866,000 T (- T~ —
F 1 2,041,394,000%8T) °

13. BREF

BRERBNIHRATBETE

13.

The directors recommend the payment of a final dividend
of 100.69 HK cents (2022: 90 HK cents) per share for the
year ended 31st December, 2023 in an aggregate amount of
HK$2,2883,866,000 (2022: HK$2,041,394,000).

EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic earnings per share is based on the

following data:

—E=F —E - F
2023 2022
FHET FAET
HK$’ 000 HK$'000
BF Earnings:
AUGTESREARBFINE  Earnings for the purpose of basic earnings
F (KRR EHEE AEEF per share (profit for the year attributable to
A A1) owners of the Company) 5,223,705 4,733,455
—s== —ZE-=
2023 2022
ROEE : Number of shares:

FRCAFT B & B EAZ N E
R BT A B
RERDET IR A M

Weighted average number of shares in issue
less shares held for incentive award scheme
for the purpose of basic earnings per share

2,268,215,487 2,268,215,487

HAMEFELTEEETHNELLR

B 25| SREE R -

B - No diluted earnings per share is presented as there were no
potential ordinary shares in issue for both years.
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BE—_Z_=F+4+_-_B=+—HILEE For the year ended 31st December, 2023

14. 5% - BERRE 14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
EE
g DERRE  MREE  GAREE  RENERE R ERIE &
Plant,
machinery Gas Furniture Leasehold Motor ~ Construction
Buildings  and equipment pipelines  and fixtures  improvements vehicles in progress Total
54 TEn TEn TEn Tén TEn Tén Tin TEnL
Notes HK§ 000 HK$ 000 HK§ 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000
A 0osT
e hy At 1st January, 2022 6912476 50235 40260 1157624 548,170 67055  40473% 60381217
g Additions 45,99 378,029 13,843 117,408 331 87888 5570509 64796
$hafk Busingss combingtions 3 785,889 968 1205647 41,258 28952 14,000 1670 23714
e /H Disposalsfurite-off (79,017) (185,502) (274,585) (26,3%) (3.889) (63,083) (17.716) (652,186)
BRENEEL Transfer from investment
properties 15 9478 - - - - - - 9478
i Reclassflication 591,335 121386 4428874 - 01 - (5166372 -
Exfg Exchange adjustments (645,787) (418544)  (3666,731) (105,399) (33.809) (73,19) (612375)  (5.455,764)
WoE-ZETZA=T-B At it December, 2022
(#25)) (Restated) 7620343 5010402 43721710 1182401 504526 636,241 47120 62807834
g Additions 1,066 1,162,003 52,581 9,265 35,458 31204 397424 534181
et Business combinations 3 1,569,080 %0173 8153730 123,684 18,985 07806 1265050 11418578
& /i Disposalsfurite-off (62,580) (150,480) (115,753) (32.220) (9.257) (75,013) (13,953) (459,256)
BRENEEL Transfer from investment
properties 15 1,783 - - - - - - 1783
Esip Reclassification 417,660 163306 4821628 6,669 26,602 - (b43889) -
Exfg Exchange adjustments (98,269) (72510) (588,225) (14877) (6,018) (11,761) (61,99) (853,675)
RZBZZEFZA=T-8 At 31st December, 2023 9,389,023 6370894 56,051,671 1,361,202 660,266 678497 3835482 T83470%

HFERRERERLE —To=HFH 4@
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE-_Z-_=5+-A=+—HLEFE

For the year ended 31st December, 2023

14. Y15 - BER&E (&)

14. PROPERTY,

PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(CONTINUED)
B
g VEEG HREE  FhREE  REhEE g ERIR ait
Plant,
machinery Gas Furniture Leasehold Motor ~ Construction
Buildings  and equipment pipelines  and fixtures  improvements vehicles in progress Total
k3 Th Tin Thn Th Tin Th Thrn Thn
Notes HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HK§ 000 HKS 000 HK§ 000 HK§ 000 HKS 000
FERRE DEPRECIATION AND
IMPAIRMENT
R-5--%-A-H At 1st January, 2022 1363530 225,702 8,098,288 572,952 31,509 363,563 13,006,544
FERE Provided for the year 506,668 395,606 1816,922 134,910 30441 85,343 2,969,690
HhERHR Eliminated on disposals (39,873) (140,025) (101,481) (25,728) (2672) (68,159) - (368,138)
BRENFEL Transfer from investment
properties 15 4933 - - - - - 4933
ERaE Exchange adjustments (160,92) (199,715) (666,009) (61,802) (20,142) (50,549) (1,179,169)
RZEZTETTAZT-B A 31st December, 2022 1,664,306 2311368 9,127,720 620332 369,136 340,198 14,433,060
EERE Provided for the year 572,069 407327 1,946,230 145,69 40530 93340 - 3519
HERHR Eliminated on disposals (26.483) (120,105) (33.643) (10211) (2972) (70329) - e
BRENEEL Transfer fiom Investment
properties 1 619 - - - - - - 619
S Exchange adjustments (23,660) (50,816) (130,160) (10,602) (3.597) (8,123) - (226,958)
WZEZZETZA=+-B At dist December, 2023 2,186,851 254114 10910147 746,215 403,097 36,002 - 1118176
FEE CARRYING VALUES
WZFZZEFZA=+-B At dist December, 2023 1207172 3623120 4514152 616,987 27,169 38406 3835482 61,198,859
WIEZZE+ZA=1-8  At31st December, 2022
(EE5)) (Restated) 5,956,037 270803 34,599,090 562,159 206,390 26048 ANTIA 48464774

w CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2023



14. )% - BER&HE (&)

RZE-Z_=%F+=-A=+—8 "k
HFRE DR # 53,131,000 T
5,645,000 7L % 7,327,000% T
—E -4 3,176,000 T -
5,727,000/ 70 % 7,433,0007%5 70 ) &)
ETAEEEFT  BWE - #ERS
AEMREBHEERAARNER A
5 114,873,000/ (2 ==
116,539,000/ 70 ) fEIE# -

Lt - BENKEBER (ERET
T2 ON) A ET AT A F AR R
EERSREEEAERETURED
T

gF

Buildings

B - Hes kR

Plant, machinery and equipment
MREBE

Gas pipelines
FRREE

Furniture and fixtures
HEMEEE

Leasehold improvements
AE

Motor vehicles

REBNEFARAE L E o

R BB IRRMEE

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE-_Z-_=5+-A=+—HLEFE

For the year ended 31st December, 2023

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(CONTINUED)

At 31st December, 2023, certain of the Group’s buildings,
plant, machinery and equipment and gas pipelines with a net
carrying amount of approximately HK$3,131,000, HK$5,645,000
and HK$7,327,000 (2022: HK$3,176,000, HK$5,727,000 and
HK$7,433,000) respectively were pledged to secure other
borrowings of HK$114,873,000 (2022: HK$116,539,000) of the

Group.

The above items of property, plant and equipment, other than

construction in progress, are depreciated over their estimated
useful lives and after taking into account their estimated residual
values, using the straight-line method, as follows:

25F 405

25 to 40 years
5&204F

51to 20 years
20E30F

20 to 30 years
3E12F

31to 12 years
3ELF

3 to 5 years
3, =105
3'/;to 10 years

The Group's buildings are situated on the land in the PRC.

SMMFRRERAT —B-=TER ‘ﬂ
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE—_Z_=F+4+_-B=+—HILEE For the year ended 31st December, 2023

15. REWE 15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
i FAET
Notes HK$'000
AR COST
R-ZE-_—_F—HF—H At 1st January, 2022 148,874
NE Addition 405
¥BA6t Business combinations 13,144
EEYX - HELRE Transfer to property, plant and equipment 14 (9,478)
M 34, 3 B Exchange adjustments (14,833)
R-E-_—F+=-A=+—H At 31st December, 2022 138,112
NE Addition 2,350
E N Business combinations 38 858,314
HEME - HEREE Transfer to property, plant and equipment 14 (1,743)
FEE 34, 5 28 Exchange adjustments (3,470)
RZBZ=F+=A=+—H At 31st December, 2023 993,563
e DEPRECIATION
R-ZE-_—_F—H—H At 1st January, 2022 59,612
FERE Provided for the year 5,018
EEYX - BELREE Transfer to property, plant and equipment 14 (4,933)
M 5 A% Exchange adjustments (5,091)
R-E-_—F+=-A=+—H At 31st December, 2022 54,606
FERE Provided for the year 27,051
EEYX - BELEE Transfer to property, plant and equipment 14 (619)
bE 5 A% Exchange adjustments (505)
RZZBZ=F+=-HA=+—H At 31st December, 2023 80,533
BRmEE CARRYING VALUES
RZZBZ=F+=_HA=+—H At 31st December, 2023 913,030
RZZEZ=ZF+=—A=+—H At 31st December, 2022 83,506
AEEMBAURNESOY EER All of the Group’s property interests to earn rentals are measured
BUKARAGE WA BEAKEY using the cost model and are classified and accounted for as
EAR - WENRNGBHEEFHUE investment properties. Depreciation is provided to write off the
BREMSHIR E YRR AETHR - cost of investment properties using the straight-line method over
the remaining terms of the leases.
RIBE_=FR_FT-__F+-/A= At 31st December, 2023 and 2022, all of the Group’s investment
+—B AEENFBREYEINL properties were situated in the PRC.
AR o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE-Z_=F+-A=+—HLFE  For the year ended 31st December, 2023

16. HE 16. LEASES
AEEEREBEA The Group as a lessee
AEEGRAREXBEENET K The Group has lease contracts for various items of buildings,
B HBELXEBELZEBEENHHES plant, machinery and equipment used in its operations. Lump
49 o MEEIRATEL — IR MR A sum payments were generally made upfront to acquire the leased
MEFWERE LT HEA2250 land from the owners with lease periods of 2 to 50 years, and no
FmMBEZELHHEENKRK - & ongoing payments will be made under the terms of these land
TERES NEMKIE - EF a7 H leases. Leases of buildings generally have lease terms between
HMER2E2E - MEFE - #a8 R 2 and 25 years, and leases of plant, machinery and equipment
HEHHBBE N F22244F © have lease terms between 2 and 24 years.
(a) RABEE (a) Right-of-use assets
AEEFAEAEEENREE The carrying amounts of the Group’s right-of-use assets and
REgHmT the movements during the year are as follows:
BE -
HELH gF BERRE a5t
Plant,
machinery
and
Leasehold land Buildings equipment Total
i3 FHT T FHAT TR
Note HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
i Sl = As at 1st January, 2022 2,953,552 273,359 26,731 3,253,642
RE Additions 110,350 148,026 43,265 301,641
*BaM Business combinations 281,676 - - 281,676
HeE Disposals (2,886) - - (2,886)
WERX Depreciation charge (138,153) (119,918) (11,706) (269,777)
Rk Exchange adjustments (263,064) (25,931) (1,011) (290,006)
RZTZZF+ZA=+—H Asat31st December, 2022
(=31) (Restated) 2,941,475 275,536 57,279 3,274,290
RE Additions 171,030 200,291 13,137 384,458
£BaM Business combinations 38 1,595,007 - - 1,595,007
T Disposals (28,861) - - (28,861)
WERY Depreciation charge (294,665) (120,575) (8,689) (423,929)
xR Exchange adjustments (40,663) (5,016) (258) (45,937)
RZE-=F+-FA=1+—H As at 31st December, 2023 4,343,323 350,236 61,469 4,755,028
RZBZ_ZF+A=+—H" At 31st December, 2023, certain of the right-of-use assets
BRM F%4/53,800,000/8 T with a net carrying amount of approximately HK$3,800,000
(ZZE=——% :3,855,000/87C) (2022: HK$3,855,000) were pledged to secure other
METEREEEDHIERUA borrowings of HK$114,873,000 (2022: HK$116,539,000) of
REBMEMEE 114,873,000/ the Group.
T (—E -4 :116,539,000
FETT) R -
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BE—_Z_=F+4+_-B=+—HILEE For the year ended 31st December, 2023

16. HE (&) 16. LEASES (CONTINUED)
REBEREBA (F) The Group as a lessee (Continued)
(b) HEEE (b) Lease liabilities
—E-=F —E-F
2023 2022
i3 FHEx FTHET
Note HK$’ 000 HK$'000
R—A—HAMNEEE Carrying amount at 1st January 407,395 389,709
e New leases 194,604 202,199
EBEH Business combinations 38 11,171 876
FERE R SLE Accretion of interest recognised during
the year 21,921 25,669
fE N AR Exchange adjustments (17,864) (36,667)
5k Payments (145,037) (174,391)
R+ZA=+—HMKIEAEE Carrying amount at 31st December
(B&E) (Note) 472,190 407,395
DA Analysed into:
TENE D Current portion 144,160 102,566
FERBHH Non-current portion 328,030 304,829
ffsE :FHEB{E50,672,000/8 7T (= Note: Lease liability of HK$50,672,000 (2022: HK$55,095,000) is
T~ —4 :55,095,000/87T) related to a fellow subsidiary.

H-HRARMEATHR

(c) WAz R MBI T R (c) The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to leases
F are as follows:
—E-= —E-F
2023 2022
FER FAET
HK$’ 000 HK$'000
HEaENE Interest on lease liabilities 21,921 25,669
TREEERERSE Depreciation charge of right-of-use
assets 423,929 269,777
HIHAEREKEEEEME Expense relating to short-term leases
BN (FFAITERE X and leases of low-value assets
LA R SHEE R 3 $5F ) (included in administrative expenses
and selling and distribution expenses) 81,989 84,420
BamP RIS Total amount recognised in profit or loss 527,839 379,866
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BE—_Z_=F+4+_-_B=+—HILEE For the year ended 31st December, 2023

16. HE (&) 16. LEASES (CONTINUED)
AEEEREEA The Group as a lessor
RZIE-=F+-A=+—H " B At 31st December, 2023, the undiscounted lease payments
AEBRBRBEERAP 2 A HEELE receivable by the Group in future periods under non-cancellable
THEMEBCRMIRBERBAT - operating leases with its tenants are as follows:
—EC-=F B
2023 2022
FHET FAET
HK$’ 000 HK$'000
—FR Within one year 14,697 7,922
FoFEERF (BIEEEMT) In the second to fifth years inclusive 24,778 8,990
FFAE After five years 4,298 6,369
43,773 23,281
17. A& N EIMRER 17. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES
—E-= —F-—
2023 2022
FHER FAET
HK$’ 000 HK$'000
E(FEE Share of net assets 15,814,607 15,206,077
W EE R Goodwill on acquisition 1,840,724 1,867,414
17,655,331 17,073,491
RMERR - REBOHEZEZEE AR Details of the Group’s principal joint ventures at the end of the
FEIEHAMIFE48 - reporting period are set out in note 48.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE—_Z_=F+4+_-_B=+—HILEE For the year ended 31st December, 2023

17. REEARINER (&) 17.INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES
(CONTINUED)

EEMEUYHFBEANSELTMNE Aggregate information of joint ventures that are not

ER individually material:
—EC-= —F-—

2023 2022

FER FAET

HK$’ 000 HK$'000

REBEGZFE2MEEEE  The Group's share of profit and total
BRE comprehensive income 199,404 183,385

REFRZEA L AMWEZE Aggregate carrying amount of the Group’s

BREEAAE interests in these joint ventures 4,484,206 2,739,270
18. REEE N TN ER 18. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES
—E-=F —E-CF
2023 2022
FET FHET
HK$’ 000 HK$'000
(s&E75))
(Restated)
(I FEE Share of net assets 4,644,504 5,427,107
WHEEE R RE Goodwill on acquisition 1,496 2,056,810
4,646,000 7,483,917
RB|ERAR - REBENETEB L QT Details of the Group’s principal associates at the end of the
B AHITE49 reporting period are set out in note 49.
FTEBRENTNBEERRE : Summarised financial information of material associates:
RZEREUBHRES - BEQRK The associates are accounted for using the equity method in
AERENE - these consolidated financial statements.

ERRAERERAT —F-SEFR 1@
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE-—TS-_=F+=-A=t+—HLEE For the year ended 31st December, 2023

18. REFE N AR (&) 18. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED)
REBMNEZEHREATNBRIEE Summarised financial information in respect of A #¥AR & B 7D
BOBRAR (KRR R = ARAG (“HEBKAR"), the Group’s material associate, as at 31st
—F+ A=+ HNMBERME December, 2023, is set out below.

;T o
REBRR
—E-=F —E-F
2023 2022
FHET FHT
HK$’ 000 HK$'000
mBEE Current assets 3,890,518 3,171,655
FEREEE Non-current assets 5,126,932 5,046,504
mEAE Current liabilities (3,534,423) (3,015,041)
FRBEE Non-current liabilities (254,432) (238,359)
JEFE R 2 Non-controlling interests 299,562 258,538
ARERR
—E2-= —E-F
2023 2022
FHET FHT
HK$’ 000 HK$'000
WA Revenue 5,708,107 5,645,320
FREMNRE2EREBE Profit and total comprehensive income
for the year 614,520 610,974

FRABEARSTIKAMRS  Dividends declared from the
associate during the year 95,341 96,723

p CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2023
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31st December, 2023

18. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED)

Summarised financial information of material associate:
(Continued)

LM BERBE RN RS SR E A reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to
WA R B & A R R M REEH R the carrying amount of the interests in the associate recognised
LN in the consolidated financial statements is as follows:
RERR
—s=-= —E - F
2023 2022
FER FAET
HK$’ 000 HK$'000
WEAELBENGFEE  Net assets of the associate attributable to
owners 4,929,033 4,706,220
AEBREE QAR AER Proportion of the Group's ownership interests
7 Eb A5 in the associate 32.40% 32.40%
REEELFEE The Group’s share of net assets 1,597,007 1,524,815
[ Goodwill 1,496 1,518
RUEERAFERAENFE  Effect of fair value adjustments at acquisition 130,366 73,667
NEBPREE A RIMEZIEE Carrying amount of the Group's interests in
& the associate 1,728,869 1,600,000
EWERENATE (M) Fair value of listed investments (Note) 3,254,336 3,246,712

ik £ 92 TS B (B — AT
R ) TR 5 R TR -

BRERIA R TS £ B S A £ B
mE o HAKEHEERARLREA
R ERMRERARETHMRE
B AREMRERIRENR &2
% R R B TR DA R KO8 SR D SR
HERBMBARBHESR - HX 2
EEMEIN R o

Note: The fair value measurements of the listed shares (Level 1 fair value
measurements) are derived from quoted prices in an active market.

A EBAS is principally engaged in similar activities to the Group
and is strategic to the Group’s activities of the sale of natural
gas and liquefied petroleum gas, the construction of gas
pipeline networks under gas connection contracts, the design,
construction, consultancy and management for gas connection
projects and the sale of gas fuel in natural gas filling stations.

Their principal place of business is the PRC.

HFERRERERLE —To=HFH 4@
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE—_Z_=F+4+_-B=+—HILEE For the year ended 31st December, 2023

18. REt&E N aIMVRER (1) 18. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED)
FTERENTNMBERBE : (&) Summarised financial information of material associate:
(Continued)
BREEMR(R_ZE=Z=F+=A Summarised financial information of ZEWAS, which was the
= t—HAAEEMNEERE QT Group’s material associate as at 31st December, 2022 and has
WRZZEZ=FHALAEENHBER become the Group’s subsidiary in 2023, is set out below.

B W ERBE ST o

EEMA

T

2022

FHT

HK$'000

REEE Current assets 2,441,204

FERBEE Non-current assets 8,310,584

mENAE Current liabilities (3,522,835)

ERBAE Non-current liabilities (1,317,796)

eI RS Non-controlling interests 413,059

WA Revenue 10,104,554

FRRMN R AT Profit and total comprehensive income for the year 618,999

FRMEE QRIS Dividends declared from the associate during the year 101,977

LB EEN B ERN G BERR A reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to

NIEROE LS AR ERNREESR the carrying amount of the interests in the associate recognised
wnr in the consolidated financial statements is as follows:

—F-—

2022

FHET

HK$'000

HEABNBEARNFEE Net assets of the associate attributable to owners 5,498,098

Proportion of the Group’s ownership interests in the

REEREBERRINMBEERLL  associate 39.17%

AEEEGFEE The Group’s share of net assets 2,153,605

[ES Goodwill 2,055,292

RUER A T ERENZE Effect of fair value adjustments at acquisition 488,579

REBREE AR EROREE Carrying amount of the Group's interests in the associate 4,697,476

EHRENAFE (HE) Fair value of listed investments (Note) 5,484,703

Misk : EMBRDBO A FEFE (E—RAF Note: The fair value measurements of the listed shares (Level 1 fair value

Bt 2) TIREERTSHTERE o measurements) are derived from quoted prices in an active market.

@ CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2023
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HER

e R RMEE
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE—_Z_=F+4+_-_B=+—HILEE For the year ended 31st December, 2023

18. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED)

EEMA is principally engaged in similar activities to the
Group and are strategic to the Group’s activities of the sale of
natural gas and liquefied petroleum gas, the construction of gas
pipeline networks under gas connection contracts, the design,
construction, consultancy and management for gas connection
projects and the sale of gas fuel in natural gas filling stations.
Their principal place of business is the PRC.

Aggregate information of associates that are not individually
material:

—E2-= —E -
2023 2022
FBT FAT
HK$’ 000 HK$'000
NEFRMEME2MEYZE  The Group’s share of profit and total

#azE comprehensive income 194,662 45,230

NEBNZESH S N FHEZEDN Aggregate carrying amount of the Group’s
BREEAA%E interests in these associates 2,917,131 1,186,441

HFERRERERLE —To=HFH 4@
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE—_Z_=F+4+_-B=+—HILEE For the year ended 31st December, 2023
I
19. EERAFEFAEMEE 19. EQUITY INSTRUMENTS DESIGNATED

WEEZETR AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH OTHER
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

—E-=F —E - F

2023 2022

FTHET FHET

HK$’ 000 HK$'000

Lm%ﬁﬁlﬂ BATE Listed equity instruments, at fair value 66,761 5,870
JE LTS *¥AF{E  Unlisted equity instruments, at fair value (Note)

(e %E) 315,883 282,803

382,644 288,673

AL ARER =T = ZF YR BT R Note: The Group acquired an equity instruments designated at fair

ATFEFAEMEARENEZTE value through other comprehensive income in 2022 as part of the

EREEE MRS —#D - 5 acquisition of PU)I[{=F%. The fair value of such equity instruments

@#TARTF-=F+-A=+—A amounted to HK$124,907,000 (2022:HK$127,030,000) as at 31st

HAFEAE124,907,0008 L (= F December, 2023.

— =% :127,030,000/87T) °

buitEs T AR R BEMIEER A
IFEEJrJ\ﬁﬁﬁ%EHﬂZ’_'\ CARAEE
RBRZEREBEEIEE -

The above equity instruments were irrevocably designated at
fair value through other comprehensive income as the Group
considers these investments to be strategic in nature.

REZE-_ZE-_=+-_A=+—H
IHFE  AEBEa#EE T EKBR
£.9,524,0008 L (T ==
1,748,000 7T) °

During the year ended 31st December, 2023, the Group received
dividends in the amount of HK$9,524,000 (2022: HK$1,748,000)
from the equity instruments.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE—_Z_=F+4+_-_B=+—HILEE For the year ended 31st December, 2023

20. & 20. GOODWILL
i FAET
Note HK$'000
FREE CARRYING VALUE
RZZ=—=F—H—H At 1st January, 2022 1,274,030
E i Business combinations 1,057,322
P& 5 SR % Exchange adjustments (176,992)
R-E-_—_F+=-A=+—H At 31st December, 2022 (restated)

(g=E7)) 2,154,360
¥BE0 Business combinations 38 2,879,586
B 34, 5 22 Exchange adjustments (122,190)
RZE_=F+=-A=+—H At 31st December, 2023 4,911,756

REFAHIMRESNEESHERETE Goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated to
BT ENZEBEM I REELS cash-generating units (“CGUs") that are expected to benefit
i (THReEAEMN]) - EERENR from that business combination. Management considers that
HmE  BEEGSHBARABEIL each subsidiary represents a separate CGU for the purpose of
IR ESEEBN - goodwill impairment testing.

ERRAERERAT —F-SEFR 4@
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE—_Z_=F+4+_-B=+—HILEE For the year ended 31st December, 2023

20. HE (#) 20. GOODWILL (CONTINUED)
REEHR  HENREEHEEZEERH At the end of the reporting period, the carrying amount of
WEEA T B AR REENEE goodwill mainly represented goodwill arising from the acquisition

of subsidiaries as follows:

—E-=F —E-F

2023 2022

FHT FHT

HK$’ 000 HK$'000

(&%)

(Restated)

EEMAREERNDERAF (M:Eb) FEMAEBERMDBRAF (Note b) 2,389,165 -
mlEERARBREEAR (MiEb)  EIEBRARBREELQT (Note b) 676,970 698,728
ERER (@) ZERERAR (HirZb) REAKR(EE)ZRERE 2 (Note b) 269,885 -
ZINERMRRBR AR (Ea) ZINEBMREBR A F)(Note a) 207,372 214,038
BHEIRAR RN BRAF (KidEb) AR AN D AR 2 & (Note b) 204,557 204,557
EFERRRERAR (MiTb) EFEE R A R 2 7 (Note b) 161,148 -
ZRERRRBR AT (HiEb) ZRE R R B R AT (Note b) 121,175 125,069
RZZEBHRRBRAF (zEa) B2 BRK AR 25 (Note a) 115,119 118,819
FRERR (E8) BRAR (MEa) FERHMR(LE)ER AR (Note a) 111,378 114,957
mREBRRERAF (MEa) AL EBRIER A7 (Note a) 96,992 100,110
REZEBRIERAE (FEEb) REZEBHRRER 2 E (Note b) 70,911 73,191
ZGEBIREEREARAF (Fidke) 2[5 % B4R 6 LR AR 2 8 (Note ¢) 67,799 69,978
BMmEAR AT (Mita) BIMRE AR A7 (Note a) 64,159 66,221
HRFREBRRERAF (sEa) R REHIRR AR AR (Note a) 48,608 50,170
BHR=SRAAREREARLR (fFa) =E=SXAREGREMTLF(Note a) 45,193 46,645
HETMHERAARRZERAF (Eb) EHEEMEEEXARERA TR (Note b) 40,668 41,975
25 EERR AR AR (MiEa) 255 BIR R A R 2 8l (Note a) 29,520 30,469
CESEERRERAR (HiTa) CESEEMRRER AT (Note a) 26,766 27,626
MR R GD BRAF (F3Ea) 200N ZE R A mAR (5 B BR 2 & (Note a) 26,482 27,333
XIERRARABR AR (Hita) SULBRR AR BR A Fl(Note a) 21,448 22,137
ARZEBRRERAF (HEa) KRZEBR BB A7 (Note a) 20,246 20,897
EAth (FifsEa) Others (Note a) 96,195 101,440
4,911,756 2,154,360

w CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2023
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BeE -

a. ZERSELABMMIREEHE
B (VS RD EREME RAEREE
& (RREEE R (iR A BRTE ©

b. RERSELBNAMSREESA
B () HERDHRBRE RABREE
W (IWMEER  (VGEERE &
(iv)hngss -

c. BREeEABURFHLERR(EEER
N HE -

ReEEBUM B SETIRER
BEFETEEE - T EEREER
B EERREFTNE - RRBARE
ERAEBH - ERENRATRRE
MEESEMISELSUTANE
BERITI SR RO AT A R a4
BE o RN FSE E AR I
REAUREREBEEL ARG
BARRECTMEE -

AEERESAEREMEBBARRK
A (HEREERRIERELN
—RERH) NSO HVBREERR
WeREEA - RIZE RFHMHEHE
EER5% RIEH T FEMNGHTHBES
2% (ZT=Z=F : EAF A5% LH
BFEER2%) REEEZ B M
MEeReE BAReCELEBEMNER
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ZF 1 6.2%) c BEFERA - NREH
K MREBOBELRENTAE
KREEBE - EEEBRA  ZSBX
MEAEEAEEHTSERRETE
EEBEUNEAESERBEZRSES
BRI AR EBREE

R-B-—F+-A=+—8 " KkE
HAIMRBOBRARRAEMNKRE
BRAREEMEERETEEET -
HAMERROBERARRAEMNRRE
RATMA#HAEERBENRTE
FIMER T =FEE RN T
=F+-A=+—8 " ZSshkEE
EMREE DR A204,557,000%8 T &
64,159,000/ T °

B
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31st December, 2023

20. GOODWILL (CONTINUED)

Notes:

a. These CGUs are engaged in the operating segments of (i) the sale
and distribution of gas fuel and related products; (ii) gas connection;
and (iii) comprehensive services.

b. These CGUs are engaged in the operating segments of (i) the sale
and distribution of gas fuel and related products; (ii) gas connection;
(iii) comprehensive services; and (iv) gas stations.

c. The CGU is engaged in the sale of integrated energy including
electricity.

The recoverable amounts of the CGUs are determined based
on value-in-use calculations. The key assumptions for the value-
in-use calculations are those regarding the discount rates,
future revenue and operating costs. Management estimates
discount rates using pre-tax rates that reflect current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to
the CGUs. The future revenue and operating costs are based on
industry growth forecasts and management’s past practices and
expectations of future changes in the market.

The Group prepares cash flow forecasts derived from the most
recent financial budgets approved by senior management for
the next 5 years, which is the general development period
for the sale of liquefied gas and the gas connection business
and extrapolates cash flows for the period beyond the budget
period based on the estimated growth rates of 5% for the first
5 years and 2% for the remaining years (2022: 5% for the first
5 years and 2% for the remaining years). The rate used to
discount the forecast cash flows for the CGUs is 6.2% (2022:
6.2%). In the opinion of the directors, no material impairment
loss on goodwill on gas operation was identified at the end of
the reporting period. Management believes that any reasonably
possible change in any of these assumptions would not cause
the aggregate carrying amount of the CGU to exceed the
recoverable carrying amount of the CGU.

As at 31st December, 2022, the determination of goodwill
arising from the acquisition of #EIMKAMMDBR AR and &M
MR AR /AR was based on a provisional basis. The fair value
assessment of the identifiable assets and liabilities of #r&IAR
BABIRAF and AMARBER AT has been finalised in 2023
and the goodwill arising from these acquisitions is determined at
HK$204,557,000 and HK$64,159,000 as at 31st December, 2023,
respectively.

EPERBIERERDLET —B-ZEFH Qﬂ
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22.

HttBEEE 21. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS
e 57 Fabs
Operating rights Patents Total
BizE FHEL T THT
NOTE HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
3% COST
RZZE-—%F—A—H At 1st January, 2022 2,536,120 - 2,536,120
By Business combinations 873,612 - 873,612
i R Exchange adjustments (82,766) - (82,766)
RZZ-Z=%+-RA=+—H At 31st December, 2022 3,326,966 - 3,326,966
XBaMH Business combinations 38 2,745,549 36,626 2,782175
AR Exchange adjustments (49,073) (835) (49,908)
RZZ-_=F+-fA=1+—H At 31st December, 2023 6,023,442 35,791 6,059,233
B AMORTISATION
RZE-=F—-A—H At 1st January, 2022 577,755 - 577,755
FRERB Provided for the year 113,979 - 113,979
E3aECE Exchange adjustments (31,474) - (31,474)
R-E-—F+-A=1+—H At 31st December, 2022 660,260 - 660,260
FEARE Provided for the year 403,114 1,831 404,945
L Exchange adjustments (28,809) (42) (28,851)
R-ZE-_=%+-A=+—H At 31st December, 2023 1,034,565 1,789 1,036,354
REE CARRYING VALUES
R-ZE-_=%#+-A=+—H At 31st December, 2023 4,988,877 34,002 5,022,879
RZZE-—&+-F=+—H(&E5]) At 31st December, 2022 (Restated) 2,666,706 - 2,666,706

W EBBEHNEERTIABRER
ERTATAFH10E50F A#sH - HH
TIABESOER A Et AT I HI10 2304
WS o

ﬁ—ﬁé%ﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁ%
M—EAERARREERAEKF
}xsiﬁﬂh MEWMEFE ([ERT
BEFE ) FH20%8ZENE FREFF|
KB (ZE -4 : 20%) °

22,

The operating rights for the city pipeline network are amortised
over the estimated useful lives ranging from 10 to 50 years on
a straight-line basis, Patents are amortised over the estimated
useful lives ranging from 10 to 30 years on a straight-line basis.

LOANS TO A JOINT VENTURE

The loans to a joint venture are unsecured, bearing interest
at a floating loan rate of the 5-year Loan Prime Rate (“LPR”")
downward 20% (2022: 20%) per annum.

b CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2023



23.

24.

R BB IRRMEE

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31st December, 2023

BE 23. INVENTORIES
—E=F T F
2023 2022
FHxT FHT
HK$’ 000 HK$'000
EEME Construction materials 382,855 565,633
BIRK Finished goods 1,110,753 741,013
1,493,608 1,306,646

82,820,234 B LT E (T ==
176,256,478 0) R AN

T AR -

Inventories of HK$82,820,234 (2022: HK$76,256,478) are
recognised as an expense and included in profit or loss.

Ba =k =
B E Z BRI H B UK 24. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
—E-= —ZE-—
2023 2022
FERT T
HK$’ 000 HK$'000
(&E35)
(Restated)
JEWE 58K Trade receivables 11,847,395 10,815,185
B Impairment (411,468) (315,212)
11,435,927 10,499,973
WA &R RIRIE (HiEa) Amounts due from joint ventures (Note a) 433,893 258,330
JEUEsE & N R 7B (M sEb) Amounts due from associates (Note b) 150,100 126,386
FEUG FEIE I AE SR R TE (MisEc)  Amounts due from non-controlling
shareholders (Note c¢) 186,740 180,194
FE Y[R KB /B A R FKIE Amounts due from fellow subsidiaries (Note d)

(Pi3Ed) 824,312 348,944
Tk (Mizke) Deposits (Note e) 830,866 475,224
TERTRRIE (MRS Prepayments (Note f) 6,690,904 4,421,041
HAh UK (Mt g) Other receivables (Note g) 424,138 781,818
WERE (M) Impairment allowance (Note g) (80,647) (49,429)

20,896,233 17,042,481

HFERRERERLE —To=HFH 4@
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24. EWREZRA KR EMERR 24. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

() (CONTINUED)
BEE Notes:
a.  KREWREEQFIHKIE6,552,000/8 a.  Except for the amounts due from joint ventures of HK$16,552,000

TT(=ZZF =4 :16,792,000/8 L)
BEIRIR R4 28F (B -5
428 MENRFERER—FR
BEN BTEBBEZEL -

b.  BREEYEE A RIFIE105,937,0007% b.
JL(=ZF =4 :93,648,000/T)
AEEWE - R435B (2T -4 :
435 ) MEF R BIN - AT

BESME -
c. [TEMGHZERBRREZNEBZHME - c.
d. BREEU R R E A R1463,462,000/% d.

T(ZZTZ=F &) REERF - RN
—E-ZF+-A=+—HR3.20
EZE3.25EMFNEGTERAR—F
NEEIN B TEBRBEFEE -

e EeIBEEXNTFREMERNIE e.
T HERSRBERS -

f. BENFAEEIZEEBERERERE f.
BAE RHTRN K -
9. BEFRBERASETAREEHK g.

BIARXNEREEOETHEMBEKK
FHERESN - BER B VIS HER AR
155 L g 7 K 6 0 Y L At JE AR
FHERE R -

p CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2023

(2022: HK$16,792,000) which are unsecured, bearing interest at
4.28% (2022: 4.28%) per annum and are repayable within one year,
the remaining balance are in trade-nature.

Except for the amounts due from associates of HK$105,937,000
(2022: HK$93,648,000) which were unsecured, bearing interest at a
rate of 4.35% (2022: 4.35%) per annum, the remaining balances are
in trade nature.

Amounts due from non-controlling shareholders are trade-nature.

Except for the amount due from a fellow subsidiary of
HK$463,462,000 (2022: Nil) which is unsecured, bearing interest at a
rate ranging from 3.20% to 3.25% per annum as at 31st December,
2023 and is repayable within one year, the remaining balances are
in trade-nature.

Deposits mainly include deposits paid to gas suppliers, rental
deposits and deposits of taxes.

Prepayments mainly include prepayments for purchase of gas fuel
and related goods.

Except for the impairment provided for certain other receivables
which indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding
contractual amounts in full, no impairment allowance is provided for
other receivables for which credit risk has not increased significantly
since initial recognition.
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24. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

(CONTINUED)

The Group generally allows credit periods ranging from 30 to 90
days to its customers. The aging analysis of trade receivables,

SIRFEREZ B Hk R EERE E net of loss allowance, is presented based on the invoice dates or
HERERDITESNT - the revenue recognition dates as follows:

—g=-= —E-

2023 2022

THER FAT

HK$’ 000 HK$'000

0ZE90X 0 to 90 days 7,599,525 9,677,224

91E180k 91 to 180 days 258,442 398,498

181E365K 181 to 365 days 1,436,956 283,526

365K Over 365 days 2,141,004 140,725

11,435,927 10,499,973

JEWE 5 R BEBBREHZEDHH
FIER

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of trade
receivables are as follows:

—g=-= T

2023 2022

k=3 FTHET FHET

Note HK$’ 000 HK$'000

REA At beginning of year 315,212 381,060
BB CRERE), BB Impairment/(reversal of impairment)

losses 9 143,496 (8,262)

i SH R A Write-off of impairment (1,325) (23,451)

ME 53R Exchange adjustments (45,915) (34,135)

RER At end of year 411,468 315,212

K& HE B RABEEEEITR
EDH - UFBRHBEEEE - &iE
EDNERERRUBEEXNTER
FoaAan (ke - ERER -
B AR K AR A RS A B S H A
AEERRHNEZRESI D) WiaH
E%Z.:Jri o Zat B RN T ANKE A5
E¥RERNHRESEHIUSNE
%ﬁi@&%l\ © B AR R B R AR A fe
AN AIE LA SEER -

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date
using a provision matrix to measure expected credit losses.
The provision rates are based on days past due for groupings
of various customer segments with similar loss patterns (i.e., by
geographical region, product type, customer type and rating, and
coverage by letters of credit or other forms of credit insurance).
The calculation reflects the probability-weighted outcome, the
time value of money and reasonable and supportable information
that is available at the reporting date about past events, current
conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions.

EPERBIERERDLET —B-ZEFH 4@
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24. EWE Z R K EMEWR 24. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

(&) (CONTINUED)
TREIEABRBERTENEAER Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure on
EWE SRR EERBRAELR the Group’s trade receivables using a provision matrix:
R-E-_=%+=-A=+—H As at 31st December, 2023
0-90X 91-180X 181 -365K 365K L st
0-90 91 -180 181 - 365 Over 365
days days days days Total
JEEAZE BB R (%)  Expected credit loss
rate (%) 0.01 2.12 5.97 12.79 3.47
HAREE (TET) Gross carrying amount
(HK$'000) 7,600,285 264,034 1,528,192 2,454,884 11,847,395
JEEEEE1E (T8 T) Expected credit losses
(HK$'000) 760 5,592 91,236 313,880 411,468
R-EBE-_—_HF+=-A=+—8H As at 31st December, 2022
0-90X 91-180K 181 -365Kk 365KME BET
0-90 91 -180 181 — 365 Over 365
days days days days Total

JEEIEEEIER (%)  Expected credit loss

rate (%) - 1.43 2.28 68.27 2.91

REREE (T8 Gross carrying amount
(HK$'000) 9,677,224 404,292 290,143 443,526 10,815,185

JEEAEEE 18 (T8 T) Expected credit losses
(HK$'000) - 5,794 6,617 302,801 315,212
RETEVERERTROEE - K& In determining the recoverability of a receivable, the Group
EEZEEBANERRKRAEEERT considers whether there has been an adverse change in the
HHERDAEEMAFEHRERT credit standing of the debtor from the date on which the credit
EEEEHTRRE - Biit - ARFES was initially and whether there was any concentration of credit
RERBEGAVBHREPELHOR risk. Accordingly, the directors of the Company believe that there
BREEIN BASITIEREERE - is no further credit provision required in excess of the allowance

for doubtful debts already provided for in the consolidated
financial statements.

w CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2023
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25. GEIIRHEBEE 25. ASSETS RELATED TO CONTRACT WORKS

—E2-= —E-F
2023 2022
FER FHET
HK$’ 000 HK$'000

AREIRBABEEKRAMEEE Assets related to contract works arising from
BOEH gas connection activities 1,506,869 841,022
BITEF & RMEA Costs to fulfil contracts with customers 1,234,812 2,464,477
2,741,681 3,305,499
A Impairment (14,066) (20,422)
2,727,615 3,285,077

ERIEEBEEVRERRAHEE
B AR A B R BOE B PR ER
B ES - Lt T R R URE B ZB AR T
TRERBIGM - TARERBNA
RTRABEERRELRES - &£
TRERREPZEWRE  BRBER
TRRAEEENSEDEN S BRE
WE SRR o

REE-_T-_=Z+-_A=+—H
I 14,066,000 L (ZE ==
F 120,422,000 70) R AER T
BEBEENTEHEEBERE -~
FEREFNZZIERREEBRT)
REF IS SRR ML 24 45 75 -

W+—R=+—RH aRIEHEHEE
EMET R e s EREI T

Assets related to contract works are initially recognised for
revenue earned from the sale of goods and the provision of
related gas connection activities as the receipt of consideration
is conditional on successful completion of construction. Included
in assets related to contract works for construction services
are retention receivables. Upon completion of construction and
acceptance by the customer, the amounts recognised as assets
related to contract works are reclassified to trade receivables.

During the year ended 31st December, 2023, HK$14,066,000
(2022: HK$20,422,000) was recognised as an allowance for
expected credit losses on assets related to contract works.
The Group's trading terms and credit policy with customers are
disclosed in note 24 to the financial statements.

The expected timing of recovery or settlement for assets related
to contract works as at 31 December is as follows:

—E-=F —ECF

2023 2022

FHET FHET

HK$’ 000 HK$'000

—FRN Within one year 1,506,869 841,022

SMMFRRERAT —B-=TER ‘ﬂ
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25. BRI IRRMEEEE (&) 25. ASSETS RELATED TO CONTRACT WORKS
(CONTINUED)
AREEMNREBEREEZSHI M The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of contract
e assets are as follows:
—E-= —E-F
2023 2022
k=3 FTHERT FAET
Note HK$’ 000 HK$'000
REA] At beginning of year 20,422 21,617
CRERE), RmMEEE (Reversal of impairment)/impairment
losses 9 (6,064) 636
M 34, 38 B Exchange adjustments (292) (1,831)
RER At end of year 14,066 20,422
FME B ARHE R EETRESD An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date
i Ut ERBEEER - FEER using a provision matrix to measure expected credit losses.
BERHEEBRNEBEDERE The provision rates for the measurement of the expected credit
WE 2 RAEEEBRREE A losses for the contract assets are based on those for the trade
EMBE  BRERBEEREKES receivables as the contract assets and the trade receivables
EHRAR-—EFER - aREEN are from the same customer bases. The provision rates for
BEERDERAFRUBBEEANT contract assets are based on days past due of trade receivables
REFoaEs (BRtE - Emif for groupings of various customer segments with similar loss
Bl ~ &= PR R et RIA K AE R R patterns (i.e., by geographical region, product type, customer
fiEERBEANBERE) BKE type and rating, and coverage by letters of credit or other forms
SEFRNAHABET - Lt B R of credit insurance). The calculation reflects the probability-
HARMEER - BERELRNRE weighted outcome, the time value of money and reasonable and
BHAIENARIBLSE - ZAIRR supportable information that is available at the reporting date
BRI EFRERANEERAFE about past events, current conditions and forecasts of future
Ft o economic conditions.

w CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2023
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE—_Z_=F+4+_-_B=+—HILEE For the year ended 31st December, 2023

25.

ASSETS RELATED TO CONTRACT WORKS
(CONTINUED)

Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure on
the Group’s contract assets using a provision matrix:

—E-=HF T 4F

2023 2022

FHERT FHT

HK$’ 000 HK$'000

FEEEEBEE(%) Expected credit loss rate (%) 0.51 0.62

WREREE (TET) Gross carrying amount (HK$'000) 2,741,681 3,305,499

TEEMEEEE (TET) Expected credit losses (HK$'000) 14,066 20,422

CEFRTERRZRFIE 26. PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS AND
& RESTRICTED CASH

N-BE-_=F+-A=+—8 - 17
1F3357,875,0008 0 (Z T4 :
896,000 t) EHMIERERN KA
REERBERE 5 R & M BT
PSR EIER - DEBBTERIIMN
AREHE - HMIBEFER020EE
3.38E (T _-_% :0.35E%1.8

[E)FtR -

RITEHRREAE

RITHEBRIZTIHFFE0.20E£E3.40

B(ZZE=-—
a o

o

:0.20EZ3.10E) &t

27.

At 31st December, 2023, bank deposits of HK$357,875,000
(2022: HK$896,000) are pledged as security for trade payables
to suppliers of natural gas and franchise performance to the
government. The pledged bank deposits are denominated in
RMB and carry interest at market rates ranging from 0.20% to
3.38% (2022: 0.35% to 1.8%) per annum.

BANK BALANCES AND CASH

The bank balances carry interest at market rates ranging from
0.20% to 3.40% (2022: 0.20% to 3.10%) per annum.

EERFERAERAT —B-=EER <ﬂl
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28. BN EZ R KR EMENK

28. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

—EB-=F —E-F
2023 2022
FBT FAT
HK$’ 000 HK$'000
(#=7)
(Restated)
ERE SRR Trade payables 14,435,105 10,277,590
FER & A RIFIE (ita) Amounts due to joint ventures (Note a) 99,912 121,550
FEfTES & AR (isEb)  Amounts due to associates (Note b) 53,259 -
FERTIEERE AR R 38 (HisEc)  Amounts due to non-controlling shareholders
(Note ¢) 537,503 447,657
ERERWE R EE Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries (Note d)
(MiEEd) 16,346 2,297,856
JE — R R A RIZIE  Amounts due to an intermediate holding
(ff3te) company (Note e) 3,804,920 2,507,449
TEWGK Receipts in advance 10,134,560 7,062,810
HAbEA R ERHE A Other payables and accruals 6,786,984 4,417 177
35,868,589 27,132,089

R ER A & A RIFIE95,249,000 74
T (ZF = =% :110,573,000/8 )
BEEE 1 15EE165E (T
—ZF 115EBE1.65E) NFEFE
FTERAR—FERNERIN BT HER
BEZMHE -

ERBERRFIRBE S INE -

W 1 S 4% iR iR R 1 1E 29,739,000
B (T -—F &) BEKE .
R-ZE-—=F+=-A=+—HEFH
F428F T B RER ZFEHRIRE
REEIN  RTHEBRBEEHIEE -

Notes:

a. Except for the amounts due to joint ventures of HK$95,249,000
(2022: HK$110,573,000) which are unsecured, bearing interest at
rates ranging from 1.15% to 1.65% (2022: from 1.15% to 1.65%) per
annum and are repayable within one year, the remaining balances
are in trade-nature.

b. Amounts due to associates are in trade-nature.

c. Except for amounts due to non-controlling shareholders of
HK$29,739,000 (2022: Nil) which are unsecured, bearing interest
at a rate of 4.28% per annum as at 31st December, 2023 and are
repayable on demand with maturity of three years, the remaining
balances are in trade-nature.

@ CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2023
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(%)
FieE ¢ (4

d BEFMN-—HEREWNE QA
2,238,960,000/8 T BEEIF - A=
T —F+-A=1+—HK3.1EH
FRRABRARNEEEEN &
HEEFEL -

e. B —MBAEERLADRE
3,800,000,0008 T (ZE =4 :
2,500,000,000/%70) AR KA
R12EARNEE  BEBSRITRE
FEE ([HIBORJ) mMEF=E0.552
(ZZ=——4% : HIBORMO0.55/2) 5
B o

SN

BN E SRRV MERRENERA
H R DT E270S
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BE—_Z_=F+4+_-_B=+—HILEE For the year ended 31st December, 2023

28. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
(CONTINUED)

Notes: (Continued)

d. Except for the amount due to a fellow subsidiary of
HK$2,238,960,000 which was unsecured, bearing interest at a rate
of 3.1% per annum as at 31st December, 2022 and was repaid in
this year, the balances are in trade-nature.

e. Amounts due to an intermediate holding company of
HK$3,800,000,000 (2022: HK$2,500,000,000) is unsecured and
repayable within 12 months, bearing an interest of the Hong Kong
Interbank Offered Rate (“HIBOR”) plus 0.55% (2022: HIBOR plus
0.55%) per annum.

The aging analysis of trade payables is presented based on the
invoice date at the end of the reporting period as follows:

—E-=F —E-F

2023 2022

FTHET T

HK$’ 000 HK$'000

0-90K 0 - 90 days 10,939,344 7,883,213
91 - 180K 91 - 180 days 893,948 750,875
181 - 365K 181 — 365 days 1,020,617 697,810
365K Over 365 days 1,581,196 945,692
14,435,105 10,277,590

BENEEBA7TRAE180K -

The credit periods on purchases of goods range from 7 to 180
days.
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BE—_Z_=F+4+_-B=+—HILEE For the year ended 31st December, 2023

29. EEAE 29. CONTRACT LIABILITIES
—E-= —E - —4F
2023 2022
T S
HK$’ 000 HK$'000
ERAaE Contract liabilities 9,569,067 10,488,646

RZZE—_=ZFR-_ZT-__F+=-A=
+—HHNERBENFBNT :

Details of contract liabilities as at 31st December, 2023 and 2022
are as follows:

—E=F —E-F
2023 2022
FBT FHT
HK$’ 000 HK$'000
BEFWE MR EEMNFUARSR Short-term advances received from customers
EEEY Gas connection activities 9,569,067 10,488,646

AREERERREHMREBIESM
Y B B0 2 HRTEAAK

30. BB €

R-FE-_=F+-A=+—8 " BF
#Bh$849,117,0008 L (=T ==
F 1 779,534,000/870) £ BI5HEIK
REEERRENER - BIEAKE
ME BERREARERERAEE
RIEES -

30.

Contract liabilities include short-term advances received to
provide gas connection activities.

GOVERNMENT GRANTS

At 31st December, 2023, government grants of HK$849,117,000
(2022: HK$779,534,000) mainly represent subsidies granted by
the PRC government authorities for the purpose of financing the
acquisition of property, plant and equipment and the construction
of gas pipelines.
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BE-Z_=F+-A=+—HLFE  For the year ended 31st December, 2023

1. BT REMEE 31. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

—E-=F —E-F
2023 2022
FET FAET
HK$000 HK$000
RITER — HEM Bank loans - unsecured 22,082,504 17,395,183
BITER — G (Ffsta)  Bank loans — secured (Note a) 66,971 204,689
EEHR — &I (ffsEb)  Other loans — secured (Note b) 22,583 116,539
22,172,058 17,716,411
REBRRITREMBEEZER The Group’s bank and other borrowings are
LATNEARIEE (B aEce) ¢ repayable as follows (Note c):
—FRN Within one year 4,892,674 7,695,765
LR —FETHBBAMF More than one year, but not exceeding
two years 7,693,823 1,139,631
LHRMEETHEBARF More than two years, but not exceeding
five years 8,873,101 8,447,410
ZRAF More than five years 712,460 433,605
22,172,058 17,716,411
BB AERT IR —FANEl Less: amount due within one year shown under
ER R I8 current liabilities (4,892,674) (7,695,765)
EREBEERRAR—EEEE Amount due after one year shown under non-
Enp ] current liabilities 17,279,384 10,020,646

B EE Notes:

RZZE_=ZF+=-A=+—H "
1TENE 20,966,000 0 (2= =
& 16,792,000/ L) HEERE
MA S RIEEERR  ERHRE
£20,966,1208 L (ZE ==
16,792,000 7T) - ZRITRED K
—E =+ A=+—AKR=ZT=
ZF+ZA=1+—HFBEHAH - HT
BHEMRITERHETHEBLBRME
PER o

R-ZE-=ZF+-A=+—H K&
B H & 522,583,000/ (—E =
—# : 116,539,000/ 7T ) B AN E
M E422,583,000/8 T (=22 ==
F 1 20,191,0008 L) & T -
B R AR VA o

B MR TYIR B B R Wk AT L A R
HEHEE -

As at 31st December, 2023, the banking facility of HK$20,966,000
(2022: HK$16,792,000) was secured by the proceeds from the
sale of gas fuel and the loan balance was HK$20,966,120 (2022:
HK$16,792,000). This banking facility was fully utilised as at 31st
December, 2023 and 31st December, 2022. The remaining secured
bank loans are guaranteed by certain subsidiaries.

As at 31st December, 2023, the Group’s other borrowings of
HK$22,583,000 (2022: HK$116,539,000) were secured by the
Group’s certain property, plant and equipment with carrying amount
of approximately HK$22,583,000 (2022: HK$20,191,000).

The amounts due are based on the repayment schedule set out in
the loan agreements.

EPERBIERERDLET —B-ZEFH @



RE IS IRRMIEE
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BE—_Z_=F+4+_-B=+—HILEE

31. |RITRHEMEE (&)

For the year ended 31st December, 2023

(CONTINUED)

REERRITREMESNERFAR
ENFEF065EE475EB (T =
~“F :065EE836FE) AT
ZFEF-A=Z1+—HB RIOERHEME
ERMETHEERFNER2.59F
(ZZ——F :1.79F) -

REB M RTT R EAMEE W IERFE

31.BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

The effective annual interest rates on the Group’s bank and other
borrowings range from 0.65% to 4.75% (2022: 0.65% to 8.36%)
per annum. The weighted average effective interest rate on bank
and other borrowing has 2.59% (2022: 1.79%) per annum as at
31st December, 2023.

Details of the terms of the Group’s bank and other borrowings

mr are set out below:
BB FR = —E=-= -
Effective
interest rates
per annum 2023 2022
FTHER FHEL
HK$’ 000 HK$'000
EEMEE: Fixed rate borrowings:
BEAARBRITER Secured RMB bank loans 3.30% - 4.75% 18,729 150,010
EIEMARBRITER Unsecured RMB bank loans 0.65% — 4.20% 14,944,670 8,121,290
EERBETIRITER Unsecured HK$ bank loans 1.85% 2,850,000 3,000,000
mEmET ([Ex]) RITEXK Unsecured US dollars (“‘USD")
bank loans 1.85% 1,743,764 1,714,973
ZHXHAR(RE]RITER Unsecured Japanese Yen
(“JPY”) bank loan 0.65% 138,037 184,178
FHMARBEMER Secured RMB other loans 6.30% - 8.36% - 113,180
EEEESE Total fixed rate borrowings 19,695,200 13,283,631
EEEE: Floating rate borrowings:
BEMARERITER  RBEM  Secured RMB bank loans at
HERARBITEBRF RS margin plus the People’s Bank
of China Base Rate 2.95% 48,242 54,679
FEMARBEMENR  REEM  Secured RMB other loans at
HEARBITERREE margin plus People’s Bank of
China Base Rate 5.35% 22,583 3,359
EERBTRITER - REEM Unsecured HK$ bank loans at
HIBOR:T & margin plus HIBOR 0.61% - 3.34% 300,000 -
IR ARBIEITE - IRBEM  Unsecured RMB bank loans at
HEARBITEBEF R B margin plus the People’s Bank
of China Base Rate 2.50% — 4.51% 2,106,033 4,374,742
FEEBERE Total floating rate borrowings 2,476,858 4,432,780
fEEBE Total borrowings 22,172,058 17,716,411
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32. FHAEE

RZZE-_—_F+—HA=8H EER
RETAREFEAARYK500,000,000
7T (& 551,740,000 7T ) #y &
HZE HTEATHEEEMEN
100% - ZEFHERREZREF
2.90EsTE - REIER RIZFME -
TR —ZZE_RAF+—A=AFH -
ZEBEABER BERFENXRA
290 -

33. HbRHAEE

HRAEETEBERERHEH
REENENTIE  REBNEBR
Hfth PR FROR

RIEBEZ=F AEEEFZEE
HERTEAE  ERKEFMAH
EeEaEREEHEDNT275%
TLES9,307B TR (ZT ==
F N F2598ILES9,307HE L) ©
T EIFCE R R E g KRR A B T8
HEam@tEak  ATEREMNEBER
311,581,000 L (=T ==
323,463,000/ ) * TRZT ==
F+-A=+—HAEWillis Towers
WatsoniR BB BRI B E ERE G EE
HEAT o

RIS HRAEANEEBERED
T

BE-_Z-_=5+-A=+—HLEFE

32.

33.

e R RMEE
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31st December, 2023

MEDIUM-TERM NOTES

On 3rd November, 2022, EEMER issued medium-term notes
with principal amount of RMB500,000,000 (equivalent to
HK$551,740,000) at an offer price of 100% of the face values of
the medium-term notes. The medium-term notes bear coupon
interest at 2.90% per annum, payable at maturity and annually
in arrears and would be due on 3rd November, 2025. These
borrowings were unsecured and carried effective interest rate of
2.90% per annum.

OTHER LONG-TERM LIABILITIES

The other long-term liabilities mainly consist of payables for
acquisition of operating rights for the city pipeline network,
defined benefit obligations and other payables.

In 2023, the Group operates several unfunded defined benefit
plans which require payments ranging from HK$275 to
HK$59,307 (2022:HK$259 to HK$59,307) per year to be made
to each qualifying employee in the PRC. The plan is exposed to
interest rate risk and the risk of changes in the life expectancy
for pensioners. The defined benefit obligations with a present
value of HK$311,581,000 were carried out on 31st December,
2023 (2022: HK$323,463,000) by Willis Towers Watson using the
projected unit credit actuarial valuation method.

The principal actuarial assumptions used as at the end of the
reporting period are as follows:

—EBC=F T
2023 2022
1E BRRBRIITIRE (%) Discount rate of post-
employment benefits (%) 2.75 3.25
BHRABFITIR (%) Discount rate of termination
benefits (%) 2.50 2.50
ame Mortality rate TEABRRECER  FEABRBIECEX

(2010-2013)-CL5/CL6
China Life Insurance

Mortality Table
(2010-2013)-CL5/CL6

(2010-2013)-CL5/CL6
China Life Insurance

Mortality Table
(2010-2013)-CL5/CL6
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34, EIERLIE
AT AREE T ELRRELEHER

For the year ended 31st December, 2023

34. DEFERRED TAXATION

The following are the major deferred tax assets/(liabilities)

B (8B RH# recognised and the movements thereon during the year:
HREHREAR
mEEN ADBEERH
AVEAE HUEKEE BB W HUERER At
Fair value
adjustments Withholding
arising from Other tax on Other
acquisition of intangible  undistributed temporary
subsidiaries assets profits differences Total
TET FET TEL T FET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
M-Z-—%—F—H At 1st January, 2022 (474,969) (305,142) (455,580) 381,729 (853,962)
i % R Exchange adjustments 40,235 25,849 38,593 (32,337) 72,340
FREE(ZH)  Credit/(charge) for the year
(MEE10) (Note 10) 42,906 16,948 73,584 (323,212) (189,774)
=N Acquisition of subsidiaries (169,710) (187,900) - 111,186 (246,424)
R-Z-—F At 31st December, 2022
+-A=+-H (Restated)
(&&7)) (561,538) (450,245) (343,403) 137,366 (1,217,820
[ 5 3% Exchange adjustments 8,745 5,711 4,907 (1,963) 17,400
FRER /(ZHE)  Credit/(charge) for the year
(MEE10) (Note 10) 103,603 54,892 9,296 (123,002) 44,789
WM B AR Acquisition of subsidiaries
(Fit3x38) (Note 38) (849,097) (692,357) - 269,007 (1,272,447)
R-ZE-=fF At 31st December, 2023
+-A=1t—H (1,298,287) (1,081,999) (329,200) 281,408 (2,428,078)
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BE-Z_=F+-A=+—HLFE  For the year ended 31st December, 2023

34. EAERIE () 34. DEFERRED TAXATION (CONTINUED)
PLERE MM STAOT ¢ Analysed for reporting purposes as:
—E-=F —ECF
2023 2022
FBT FAET
HK$’ 000 HK$'000
(#=7))
(Restated)
BT IEE = Deferred tax assets 608,779 508,859
BEEFIRAE Deferred tax liabilities (3,036,857) (1,726,679)
(2,428,078) (1,217,820)

R-ZTE-_=F+-A=+—0 &%
EH A8 AIEREIE1,026,080,000
B (ZE==%F :1,050,856,000
PEIT) AT AR RIE T o AR KRR
A ROREE AR E - B sk A RS
BIERRECHBELE - BRHESB
69,551,000 (=22 ==

69,551,000 7T ) Al R HA 45 45 h -
BIESERRTFERRAFRILE -

MNZZE-=%+-A=+—08 - &
TEBHNBRARKRDIREF 2 &
Z%E24,998,470,0008 L (22 ==
F 1 21,742,844,0008 7T ) R
MIEEE BARAEEEEHNYRE
HEOEBNMAEZSERT T RER
Al MW ERZEEER
REfHE -

At 31st December, 2023, the Group had unused tax losses of
HK$1,026,080,000 (2022: HK$1,050,856,000) available to offset
against future profits. No deferred tax asset has been recognised
in respect of such losses due to the unpredictability of future
profit streams. Except for the tax loss of HK$69,551,000 (2022:
HK$69,551,000) which may be carried forward indefinitely, the
losses will expire within 5 years from the year of origination.

At 31st December, 2023, no deferred tax liabilities have been
recognised for the temporary differences relating to undistributed
earnings of subsidiaries amounting to HK$24,998,470,000 (2022:
HK$21,742,844,000). No liability has been recognised in respect
of these differences because the Group is in a position to control
the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and it is
probable that such differences will not reverse in the foreseeable

future.
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For the year ended 31st December, 2023

35.

36.

[N 35. SHARE CAPITAL
R EE ROHEE
Number of Nominal value
shares of shares
FHET
HK$'000
FRLEEO. 1078 TTHIALD Shares of HK$0.10 each
JEIE ¢ Authorised:
R-Z-—F—HF—H - -= At ist January, 2022, 31st December,
F+ZA=F+—BER=ZZ== 2022 and 31st December, 2023
+—-—A=+—H 10,000,000,000 1,000,000
BETRAR Issued and fully paid:
R-T-—#—A—HKR-ZF - At 1st January, 2022 and 31st
F+—_A=+—HEZZE=_=F December, 2022 and 31st December,
+=—A=+—8H 2023 2,314,012,871 231,401
REMFER - NRABRETE « BE8BIT There were no changes in the Company’s authorised, issued and
R RRAEES - fully paid share capital during both years.
REIRBFHE 36. LONG TERM AWARD SCHEME

R-ZTZNF+-_A—H  AQAEIEK
MR EEIR < LB T8 ([ =E s
2l FRBBIEEE TMEE -
NERAEEFEEERER -

RIFERTE - ARRBEERMEH
ZHEAFBAAEEMEANBRSHT
HEE WA IXAAREREER
B EERNDEBRETEBE AL -
fis 5T 88 35 HA A P 5% 1 PR 6 ME PR 1D 48
HRBAQBRTEIRAB R T
BAZ5% + B NE B R G ERR
o BIBREFTEAIRTHERED
PRSI AR D B R BB NS BB AR
AT EEITIRA,20.5% °

RZFB-FF=ZA+A AR7AYH
HEEEELEET - SRARSIRRR
PR BB {0 1F R 2208 - RABRRIZER
BIFFEEL IR RENS - BEAHE
B FEAR A SR 6 A0 2 A H PR

/8 =,

BHRIE -

On 1st December, 2008, the Company adopted the share
repurchased cash award scheme (“Incentive Award Scheme”)
as an incentive to retain and encourage the employees for the
continual operation and development of the Group.

Pursuant to the Incentive Award Scheme, existing shares of
the Company will be purchased by the trustee from the market
out of cash contributed by the Group and be held in trust for
the selected employees until such shares are vested with the
selected employees. No restricted shares will be granted if the
aggregate number of restricted shares awarded throughout
the duration of the scheme is to be in excess of 5% of the
issued share capital of the Company at the adoption date of the
scheme. The maximum number of restricted shares which may
be awarded to a selected employee under the Incentive Award
Scheme shall not exceed 0.5% of the issued share capital of the
Company from time to time.

On 16th March, 2010, the Company amended the Incentive
Award Scheme such that cash instead of restricted shares will be
awarded. The Company will utilise the proceeds generated from
disposal of the restricted shares held by the trustee for making
cash awards under the Incentive Award Scheme.
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37.

REARBETE (&)

RBE-ZT—R"E+-A=+—H1t
FE - ZFEANUTFHEGR23.08%
TLIA T 52,266,000 85  H
B E R M K FT153IE /52,302,000
BT FTEREE2NWBIEAEE
ETEZREENR 2 EE - HE#
HRERGEERRAMEGA WEE
BRAFERYT FREZ-Z—X
F+_A=Z+T—HLFENERER
F) o B fn B AN B P15 5RTE 2 B0 = 58
44,095,000 Tt AMRE &R « PRE
EF-T - —E-=F+ZA=
T—HIEFE  ZREALEMATISH

Bl e

REARREHKRIFTH4L45,797,384
ZE T T4 1 45,797,384) RARD ©

BEREZBHAIAFERREEBRS
PR &I MERR D

RIRBRIGHE

58

K& BRI 2R ERERNRES
BIRHI B R IREF B ([BER
KRR E]) - ARABIBEER ST
NS RCST I ava: - R N
el ([®wESFE ) - ZFEW
BESEAEENEEDFIFA LA
RTEAEHOESIHA o HIESN®E
ERETEIKIZATE LR RBERARR
EEtEmRE - RIF R REEERR
FORWRIEFT B E M2 NRES
B MR -ZTEEFE+_A—-HIZ
BINBEAREBE WA HEEHASZN
BESFE -

BE-_Z-_=5+-A=+—HLEFE

36.

37.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31st December, 2023

LONG TERM AWARD SCHEME (CONTINUED)

During the year ended 31st December, 2016, 2,266,000 shares
were disposed of by the trustee to the market at an average
price of HK$23.08 per share. The proceeds from disposal of
those shares amounted to HK$52,302,000. The whole amount
of the proceeds was awarded in cash to certain directors and
employees of the Group, with an equivalent expense recognised
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income as employee benefits during the year
ended 31st December, 2016. The difference of HK$44,095,000
between the cost of the shares and the proceeds were credited
to retained profits. No disposal of shares by the trustee to the
market was noted during the years ended 31st December, 2022
and 2023.

There are 45,797,384 (2022: 45,797,384) shares held by the
trustee at the end of the reporting period.

No restricted shares were granted to eligible employees pursuant
to the Incentive Award Scheme.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

Hong Kong

The Group participates in both a retirement benefit scheme
which is registered under the Occupational Retirement Scheme
Ordinance (the "ORSO Scheme”) and a Mandatory Provident
Fund Scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) established under the Hong
Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance. The
assets of the schemes are held separately from those of the
Group, in funds under the control of trustees. Employees who
were members of the ORSO Scheme prior to the establishment
of the MPF Scheme were offered a choice of staying within the
ORSO Scheme or switching to the MPF Scheme, whereas all new
employees joining the Group on or after 1st December, 2000 are
required to join the MPF Scheme.
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37. RARBE & (&) 37.RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES
(CONTINUED)

BB (#) Hong Kong (Continued)

BERKRETEIFAKHEES REE The ORSO Scheme is funded by monthly contributions from both
EZzEEEAFENFERAIL (R employees and the Group based on a specified percentage of
FTEEAEERASENREFEHM the employee’s basic salary, depending on the length of service
E) B AEHMR - iEBE ] HRE with the Group. Where there are employees who leave the ORSO
AR H B SR KRBT E] - Bl Scheme prior to vesting, the contributions payable by the Group
BRWH RS BIENMRA S BB are reduced by the amount of forfeited contributions. No forfeited
HR - RMEFERN AEZEFTR contributions were utilised in this manner for both years.

BRBOLUA -

FREABLFTEKETE  AEEE For members of the MPF Scheme, the Group contributes 5% of
LEMREBS KR ANS%HEATA relevant payroll costs or at a monthly maximum cap of HK$1,500
= REE1,5008 70 M AT 8 1F H for each person to the scheme, where contribution is matched by
HomMBBEETEREELSEMR the employees.

e

RIBZ=FR=_FT-__F+=ZA= At 31st December, 2023 and 2022, the amount of forfeited
+—8 - AR R R FE B contributions available to reduce contributions payable in the
REZ RSB TEK o future years was insignificant.

HE PRC

AEBMNTEES AT R0 BEE The employees of the Group in the PRC are members of state-
BEONBRREERNBAENKE - managed retirement benefit schemes operated by the local
REBERFSHKANEEED LA government in the PRC. The Group is required to contribute a
RIREFIFT IR MR # i ARIK specified percentage of the payroll costs to the retirement benefit
BAREES - AEEHNZFRK schemes to fund the benefits. The only obligation of the Group
B ENE -—JERELEENMH with respect to the retirement benefit schemes is to make the
e specified contributions.

AEBBELZEEMRE R TERMG The Group operates several unfunded defined benefit plans
B ZREFRATPRSEERESE which require payments ranging from HK$275 to HK$59,307
HF2758LES9,307 8L (ZF (2022: HK$259 to HK$59,307) per year to be made to each
T & 259 LES9,3078 L) K qualifying employee in the PRC.

IR
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MR RARB R AR ([EMN
) 51%ERE - EEMER
FHE LD R B A
ER - REERMEERRR
B - ZWESENEALERE
RERTHBRTRRITENS
BHEREN—HD - ZUWE
FEEMRBRENES SN
Hh AR%13,025,0007 (1HE
14,127,000 L) ER =T =
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE-Z_=F+-A=+—HLFE  For the year ended 31st December, 2023

38. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS

(a)

On 20th January, 2023, the Group acquired 51% interests in
IR RARBREAR (“&INFIE") from an independent
third-party. &/ 7l is engaged in the sale and distribution
of gas fuel and related products, gas connection and
the sale of gas appliances. The acquisition is made as
part of the Group’s strategy to expand its market share
in the downstream city gas industry. The purchase
consideration for the acquisition was in the form of cash,
with RMB13,025,000 (equivalent of HK$14,127,000) paid
before 31st January, 2023 and the remaining RMB8,683,000
(equivalent of HK$9,418,000) was included in other
payables as at 31st December, 2023.
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38. XK &6t ()

BN FOm R S BT B A E
RaEnAFENT

38. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (CONTINUED)

The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of #t

JN e as at the date of acquisition were as follows:

Rk A
BRAWLFE
Fair values
recognised on

acquisition

FAET

HK$'000

Wz - BB &R Property, plant and equipment 11,364

FREAE Right-of-use assets 5,128

rE Inventories 102

IRITHEB KRS Bank balances and cash 23,295

FEULE B AR 5K B E A FE MR Trade and other receivables 7,209

FEAST B 5 BR 3 % ELAth FE - 3R Trade and other payables (10,641)

e IR Taxation payable (32)

AR EEFEEE (B AFER) Total identifiable net assets at fair value 36,425

AR M 2 Non-controlling interests (17,848)

18,577

W E R R Goodwill on acquisition 4,968
TRAR Satisfied by

RE Cash 14,127

H A FE TR Other payables 9,418

EXEROAE T EBEEHMNT
HEAREEEE A HE S IEM
1 R AE

The goodwill recognised above consists largely of the

expected synergies from combining the operations of &R/

#id with the Group.
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For the year ended 31st December, 2023

38. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (CONTINUED)

An analysis of the cash flows in respect of the acquisition of
RN A is as follows:

FHT

HK$'000

BeR(E Cash consideration (14,127)

EUEER & RIRTTAE Cash and bank balances acquired 23,295
HARBEBHRSESRENIE R Netinflow of cash and cash equivalents included in

ReEEMRANFRE cash flows from investing activities 9,168

B EEAR - MNP RAR
EEEBE-—ZT-_=+=-A=+
—BLEFENGZRATBEERERE
B z£86,202,0007%8 7T &
3,533,000/ 7T °

MAEFREMRLE  AEEFNR
U 25 #5 3% hn93,422,00078 7T &
YA 4,233,000 7T ©

R-IBE-=F—"AB A&£H
B—&BYF=H R —AEAK
ETBEERRERAR (T
[SHEE]) 100% #a « TIHRE
HEHERDHREBHA X8
FAED  MRERREEMRRRE
B o ZWESEEAAE B
RER T MRRITENTIS
MERBEHN—F D - ZWESE
HHBERENRSIN &
P AR 27,396,0007T (FE R
31,740,00087m) ER =T ==
F—AMAX -

(b)

Since the acquisition, #/N## contributed revenue of
HK$86,202,000 and profit of HK$3,533,000 to the Group’s
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31st
December, 2023.

Had the combination taken place at the beginning of the
year, the revenue of the Group for the year would have
been increased by HK$93,422,000 and the profit of the
Group for the year would been increased by HK$4,233,000.

On 6th February, 2023, the Group acquired 100% interests
in THREBRRERLAE (“TEBMA") from an independent
third-party. TEE#AR is engaged in the sale and distribution
of gas fuel and related products, gas connection and
the sale of gas appliances. The acquisition is made as
part of the Group’s strategy to expand its market share
in the downstream city gas industry. The purchase
consideration for the acquisition was in the form of cash,
with RMB27,396,000 (equivalent of HK$31,740,000) paid on
4th January, 2023.

SMMFRRERAT —B-=TER @



REIERRMEE
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE—_Z_=F+4+_-B=+—HILEE For the year ended 31st December, 2023

38. XS 6 (&) 38. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (CONTINUED)
TR R U A BRI & 2= The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of
FEBBEHNAFENT [R5 as at the date of acquisition were as follows:

A Lt B B

BRHATE

Fair values

recognised on

acquisition

FAET

HK$'000

M - BE REE Property, plant and equipment 46,175

EREERE Right-of-use assets 5,395

HivmpEE Other intangible assets 12,746

"E Inventories 882

FEWE 5 B 30 K E A FE WK Trade and other receivables 5,392

RITHEB KRS Bank balances and cash 765

FERTE 2 BR 30 K E A FE T 3R Trade and other payables (32,632)

ARAaE Contract liabilities (7,666)

Al PIEE R EARE (R AFERT)  Total identifiable net assets at fair value 31,057

U B B A P Goodwill on acquisition 683
SHRAR Satisfied by

Re Cash 31,740

The goodwill recognised above consists largely of the

EXHERNEEIEBETER
REAREBEBAGELNESR
W [RRE -

expected synergies from combining the operations of T
BRE with the Group.

w CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2023
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38. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (CONTINUED)

HUETHREZ RS REAN
mF -

An analysis of the cash flows in respect of the acquisition of
FISHEE is as follows:

FHET
HK$'000
RERE Cash consideration (31,740)
BUIEIR & RIRITHEH Cash and bank balances acquired 765
Net inflow of cash and cash equivalents
FFAREBEBMSRERAENRE R included in cash flows from investing
REZEEBEMRAFE activities (30,975)

BRESENUR - FHRREAR
EEHE-_T-_=F+-A=+
—HBEFENGREVBERER
BtURE521,774,0007%8 7T I % F
8,159,00078 7T °

HAEHRENRE  AEEFR
U 25 45 3% hn25,542,00078 7T &
AR 1,389,000 7T ©

R-B-=%—-"A+H A&H
BE—&BUE=-HKBEBEAK
REE)ZERERLF ([EHA
BRI H51%ER - BRAKER
MEHE LD HRERE RAEH
Em MRaERkHEERRE
B zbESsENEALERE
RERTHBRTMRITENTS
DERBEN— 5 - ZRESE
WREBRENRS I - &
AR#756,516,1007T (A& ©
873,466,000/ L) BN =T =
=FZRA=+BXff-

(c)

Since the acquisition, FTBEMR contributed revenue of
HK$21,774,000 and profit of HK$8,159,000 to the Group’s
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31st
December, 2023.

Had the combination taken place at the beginning of the
year, the revenue of the Group for the year would have been
increased by HK$25,542,000 and the profit of the Group for
the year would have been decreased by HK$1,389,000.

On 7th February, 2023, the Group acquired 51% interests
in BAKAR(EE)ERERAR(ERAKR") from an
independent third-party. EBER is engaged in the sale
and distribution of gas fuel and related products, gas
connection and the sale of gas appliances. The acquisition
is made as part of the Group’s strategy to expand its market
share in the downstream city gas industry. The purchase
consideration for the acquisition was in the form of cash,
with RMB756,516,100 (equivalent of HK$873,466,000) paid
on 20th February, 2023.
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38. £ &0t (&) 38. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (CONTINUED)
EREAE R WE B BRI R & E The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of &
FEBENRAFEMNT BB R as at the date of acquisition were as follows:

TR LB B B
BRHATE
Fair values
recognised on
acquisition
FHET
HK$'000
M - BE MEE Property, plant and equipment 1,044,788
wEWE Investment properties 163,971
EREERE Right-of-use assets 100,742
NN o) Interests in associates 424,609
BERAFEFAEM2EKENEZRTA  Equity instruments designated at fair value
through other comprehensive income 43,767
Hib & & Other intangible assets 10,685
REBIEEE Deferred tax assets 23,322
FE Inventories 49,999
FEUE 5 B 3 I H i B MR Trade and other receivables 125,600
RITHEBRE S Bank balances and cash 183,257
JEAT 8 5 BR 3R K E At JE A 3K Trade and other payables (555,117)
aRaE Contract liabilities (92,016)
RITREMEE Bank and other borrowings (55,535)
RIERIEEE Deferred tax liabilities (110,889)
AR A EFEARE (R A FER) Total identifiable net assets at fair value 1,357,183
SEE RS Non-controlling interests (880,819)
RERFEERNARE Adjustments recognised in capital reserve 126,470
602,834
U B FE A R R Goodwill on acquisition 270,632
AR Satisfied by
Re Cash 873,466
EXHROEETIZOERAK The goodwill recognised above consists largely of the
REREBEBHSHEENTED expected synergies from combining the operations of 3/
R RIZIE - F with the Group.
HUBEERER RS REST An analysis of the cash flows in respect of the acquisition of
U EREA is as follows:
FAET
HK$'000
ReRE Cash consideration (873,466)
BER S RIRITHER Cash and bank balances acquired 183,257

AARAEBABESREMIRS X Net outflow of cash and cash equivalents included
REEEYRL F58 in cash flows from investing activities (690,209)

b CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2023
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BREBEENR - ERERAR
EEHE-_E-_=F+=-A=1+
—BLEFENGRAEUBERERE
Bt 4k 2£305,355,0007% 7T M i Fll
305,355,000/ T °

MEHREMNELE  AEEFRA
W 255 38 h1375,567,00078 7T &
S A HN31,337,000/8 7T °

AEEBBEBHKA (FE) K
BERRAFRRERRERE (P
B)BRAFBEEERMREREH
BDARARRIS.A7% R
MEEMRREERMDAER QTN
—E-—HF+-A=+—HAL
HIVER B & A R RO #E 25 ©

EEMRERNERBREEEM
BERIREEBEBRAR ([EERE
B ZHNEBNE - N=ZT =
—F-A=-++tH EEHEED
WEZEENE B/ B FEME
HESERRAMERR AN
645,420,000 & B0 (K91h EE
MR MEARNA1.07%) 250
ETHEBERAUSHEER - R
MEZREMEB P ERFER -
BEERTHREERTNRD
FHERED  RTHBAEEMRSK
HIIERR IR o NEBBERIRK R E
BREHNE - RBRERZESE
BMER - REBLESFRE -
MZARVEEBE HHREIER
F1E5,629,514,000/8 L5 £ -
ZAFEDBERNEERKER
M ENEERRBRMO O ELT
B BIEHEBE AR
694,093,000/ 7L E s A H R /£
[EAbUA ] PFER ©

BE-_Z-_=5+-A=+—HLEFE

e R RMEE
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31st December, 2023

38. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (CONTINUED)

(d)

Since the acquisition, ZEBER contributed revenue of
HK$305,355,000 and profit of HK$305,355,000 to the
Group’s consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31st December, 2023.

Had the combination taken place at the beginning of the
year, the revenue of the Group for the year would have been
increased by HK$375,567,000 and the profit of the Group
for the year would have been increased by HK$31,337,000.

The Group, through the holdings of China Resources
Gas (China) Investment Limited and China Resources
Gas Investment (China) Limited, held 39.17% interests
in Chongging Gas Group Corporation Limited, which
was accounted for as interest in an associate as at 31st
December, 2022.

EEMEREEEBBR AR ("EEER"), the then
controlling shareholder of EEAR, has been subject to a
restructuring plan. On 27th February, 2023, the registration
process for transfer by way of judicial allocation (&l’%
HEBFERFE) in respect of all of the 645,420,000
shares in the registered capital of EBEMR held by EE#E
JR (representing approximately 41.07% of the registered
capital of EEMAR) to its creditors to settle its debts was
completed. Upon completion of the judicial allocation and
transfer, EEFAEJR is no longer interested in the shares of
EEMA and ceased to be the controlling shareholder of
EEMER.
shareholder of and controlled EEHE. No consideration

The Group has thereupon become the largest

is paid by the Group and the consideration for this
deemed business combination is measured at fair value
of HK$5,629,514,000, which was calculated based on the
market price of the shares of EEMR held by the Group
at the acquisition date. Gain from deemed disposal of an
associate of HK$694,093,000 was recognised in the “other
income” for the current period.

EPERBIERERDLET —B-ZEFH @
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38. XK &6t ()

AR R B R TR
ERAEDATENT

38. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (CONTINUED)

The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of &
EWAR as at the date of acquisition were as follows:

R B
BRAWLFE
Fair values
recognised on

acquisition
FAET
HK$'000
W - BERZE Property, plant and equipment 7,958,306
"B Investment properties 546,607
TREAE Right-of-use assets 1,248,390
N NS ek Interests in associates 1,381,475
BEAEAFEFAEMZEREN Equity instruments designated at fair value
HEETA through other comprehensive income 56,463
HivmpEE Other intangible assets 2,758,744
RIEFIIEA E Deferred tax assets 180,301
TE Inventories 93,889
FEUE 5 BR 30 I H A B WK Trade and other receivables 1,578,952
B AR ATAETABRED Equity investments designated at fair value
A& E through profit or loss 28,913
RITHEBRKRIR S Bank balances and cash 1,323,717
FE B 5 BR AR R B A FE AT 3R Trade and other payables (3,024,373)
BEARE S Super short-term commercial papers (338,585)
RITREAMIEE Bank and other borrowings (400,151)
HEAE Lease liabilities (3,143)
FHIRE — R —FREIH Medium-term notes — due within one year (564,309)
HEpEHEE Other long-term liabilities (938,548)
BERIEAE Deferred tax liabilities (1,281,708)
AR EFEAE (R AFER) Total identifiable net assets at fair value 10,604,940
FEFEAR M 2 Non-controlling interests (7,419,016)
3,185,924
WHEE AR Goodwill on acquisition 2,443,590
MRE Total consideration 5,629,514

EXHRNHELEBREEER
REAREEERBGAHELNEMS
W lRIZRE -

The goodwill recognised above consists largely of the

expected synergies from combining the operations of & &

BRE with the Group.

w CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2023
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38. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (CONTINUED)

RUBERRE RS REAN
mF -

An analysis of the cash flows in respect of the acquisition of
EEMA is as follows:

FAET

HK$'000

RERE Cash consideration -

BUIEIR & RIRITHE® Cash and bank balances acquired 1,323,717
FFAREEBIARESRENIH S XL Netinflow of cash and cash equivalents included in

REeEEMRAFE cash flows used in investing activities 1,323,717

BB SRR - EEMRR AR
EEHE-_E-_=F+=-A=1+
—BIEFENGE T BHRE R
Ye%59,427,473,000% 7T & % 7
710,774,000 7€ °

MAEFREMRLE  AEEFNR
W25 ¥ 12N11,300,362,0007%8
TC R R #6 18 hn584,882,000 7
ﬁ o

RZEZ=FttA=+mH
B E£EEBIYE=FKE
EFER(AEEENHEB49%
WE2E) EVEEIN 2% AR HE o EPIEE
R BHE RS RGN R E
HER MAIERRHEERR
BE - ZWBEBFENEALSE
EEAEATHEMMEITE
MTBNEREN— % -
It EFEEERAASEESR
S1%EZOMB AR - Z B
EENKBERENESIN  H
P ARM37,590,0007T (FE R
41,480,000 70) ERZE ==
FNAZF+—BXfF-

(e)

Since the acquisition, EEMR contributed revenue of
HK$9,427,473,000 and profit of HK$710,774,000 to the
Group’s consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31st December, 2023.

Had the combination taken place at the beginning of the
year, the revenue of the Group for the year would have
been increased by HK$11,300,362,000 and the profit of
the Group for the year would have been increased by
HK$584,882,000.

On 24th July, 2023, the Group acquired an additional 2%
equity interests in [EFI%EH, a previously 49% owned of
the Group, from an independent third party. EFIER is
engaged in the sale and distribution of gas fuel and related
products, gas connection and the sale of gas appliances.
The acquisition is made as part of the Group’s strategy
to expand its market share in the downstream city gas
industry. Accordingly, EFi# 8 has become a 51% owned
subsidiary of the Group. The purchase consideration for the
acquisition was in the form of cash, with RMB37,590,000
(equivalent of HK$41,480,000) was paid on 31st August,
2023.

EPERBIERERDLET —B-ZEFH @
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38. XS 6 (&) 38. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (CONTINUED)
EFEERNKE R ERIEE The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of &
FEBBEHNAFENT F9ZE8 as at the date of acquisition were as follows:

TR L B B

BRNDAFE

Fair values

recognised on

acquisition

FHT

HK$'000

(geE5)

(Restated)

W - BRERRE Property, plant and equipment 2,357,945

"B Investment properties 147,736

TREAE Right-of-use assets 235,352

RAEFIIE & = Deferred tax assets 65,384

"E Inventories 202,320

FE W 5 AR 3 B B Ah PR MR Trade and other receivables 194,230

RITHEBRR S Bank balances and cash 284,434

FET B 5 BR 3 E At JE AT 3R Trade and other payables (1,285,250)

RITREAMEE Bank and other borrowings (301,170)

HEAaE Lease liabilities (8,028)

FERTRIE Taxation payable (1,732)

RIEFIIE A & Deferred tax liabilities (148,857)

Al R B E R EARE (R ATER) Total identifiable net assets at fair value 1,742,364

PR M 2 Non-controlling interests (853,758)

888,606

WHEE R Goodwill on acquisition 159,713
AR Satisfied by

e Cash 41,480

LR A S A RIMER R RABEAIF49%  Previously held 49% equity interest,
[t (3= A F1ER) represent by interest in a joint venture, at
fair value 1,006,839

@ CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2023



38. ¥ 50t (&)

()

e R RMEE
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE-Z_=F+-A=+—HLFE  For the year ended 31st December, 2023

38. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (CONTINUED)

HUEEPIEB R REAN
mF -

An analysis of the cash flows in respect of the acquisition of
[EPIEEE is as follows:

FHT

HK$'000

RERE Cash consideration (41,480)

BUEIR & RIRITHEH Cash and bank balances acquired 284,434
AARBEBFSHESERENRER Net inflow of cash and cash equivalents
ReEEMRANFE included in cash flows from investing

activities 242,954

BREERENUR  EFEBA
AEFBEE T _=ZF1+=A
=S+ —BLEFENGANKR
KA 1,007,772,0008 T
K% 27,110,000/8 7T ° HA
HRENELE  AEEBFAYK
A5 IN2,275,170,000/8 7T -
i A £ @ B F A B 5 B A R >
42,228,000/ 7T °

RZBEZZFAAZ+—A &
E@BE 155 EARESNKR
BRAA([AMKR])80.2%
o BRI EHE D H
REMEREBESR - MEEK
RIHFEMRBRE - ZWBEBEED
1E RS BIEAER TR
RITENTISHEREN—
Do ZUWESEHWEREAA
R#224,560,0007T (AU
& 7 262,585,000/ 7T) °

A - AEEB AU & N
F80.2% IR IE R A T ERTE o &
FER-_T_—_F+-A=+—
HHGRE MBI RN EET
BEFUAEY - BVIR T RE
B i bE A B B SERK o

®

Since the acquisition, EFIZE contributed revenue of
HK$1,007,772,000 and profit of HK$27,110,000 to the
Group’s consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31st December, 2023. Had the combination
taken place at the beginning of the year, the revenue of
the Group for the year would have been increased by
HK$2,275,170,000 and the profit of the Group for the year
would have been decreased by HK$42,228,000.

On 21st June, 2022, the Group acquired 80.2% interests
in BMBRERAT (“8MBR") from 15 individuals. &
MRS is engaged in the sale and distribution of gas fuel
and related products, gas connection and the sale of gas
appliances. The acquisition is made as part of the Group's
strategy to expand its market share in the downstream city
gas industry. The purchase consideration for the acquisition
was RMB224,560,000 (equivalent of HK$262,585,000 at
acquisition).

During the period, the Group has finalised the fair
value assessments of the acquisition of 80.2% equity
interests in AMAS. The comparative figures of the
Group’s consolidated statement of financial position at
31st December, 2022 has been restated as if the initial
accounting had been completed from the acquisition date.

EPERBIERERDLET —B-ZEFH d
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38. XK &6t ()

BMRRRUEE BB SR EE

38. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (CONTINUED)

The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of &

FEBBEHNAFENT M #AS as at the date of acquisition were as follows:

R B

BRANATE

Fair values

recognised on

acquisition

FAET

HK$'000

(re=5)

(Restated)

W - BERZE Property, plant and equipment 131,375
EREEE Right-of-use assets 23,524
NE B AT RER Interests in joint ventures 6,942
HEfhfEpAE Other intangible assets 88,115

BEWME  BELIXENZS Deposits for purchase of property, plant and

equipment 35,961

"BE Inventories 3,004
FEWE 5 B 3R I H 8 R Trade and other receivables 26,397
HBITHER LIRS Bank balances and cash 58,265
FERTE 2 BRI E A FE TR Trade and other payables (63,919)
HRAE Contract liabilities (28,486)
RIERIEE G Deferred tax liabilities (34,345)
AR A EFELRE (R A TER) Total identifiable net assets at fair value 246,833
FEIE R g Non-controlling interests (48,873)
197,960

Uk B B A P Goodwill on acquisition 64,625
wRE Total consideration 262,585

p CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2023
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(9)

RZZEZZFNA=H " x&H
WEEERBIR R BR A A ([ %
BIMAR]) 80.69% 2 - Z AT
Bt BB R FTHE RS o BRAIR R
FHERDHERERHE LEEE
e REERMEEMRREA -
ZWEFEDEARNEEBEAH
R TR TRRITERNTIS0 B
REEH)— 35 - 2B EEAU
BB A1,835,369,000/8 7T °

A - AEBC A KREZRAIL
$.80.69% iR A TETH -
REBRZ-ZZ_=_F+=-A=+
—BEGRA MR RO EE
FTEFLEY - MRS E
BEEWKEAEE K -

AR B BT BRI A E
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38. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (CONTINUED)

(9)

On 3rd August, 2022, the Group acquired 80.69% of
interests in BRI ARMDBRAF ("8REIKR"), the shares of
which were delisted from the Stock Exchange. ZRAIMASR is
engaged in the sale and distribution of gas fuel and related
products, gas connection and the sale of gas appliances.
The acquisition is made as part of the Group’s strategy
to expand its market share in the downstream city gas
industry. The purchase consideration for the acquisition was
HK$1,835,369,000.

During the period, the Group has finalised the fair
value assessments of the acquisition of 80.69% equity
interests in ERBIMAR. The comparative figures of the
Group’s consolidated statement of financial position at
31st December, 2022 has been restated as if the initial
accounting had been completed from the acquisition date.

The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of &k

RaENRFERT : BI#A S as at the date of acquisition were as follows:
U
HREAFE
Fair values
recognised on
acquisition
FHT
HK$'000
(&)
(Restated)
M - BE REE Property, plant and equipment 1,032,326
FREEE Right-of-use assets 111,109
HivmEEE Other intangible assets 236,300
REEE A RIRIIRE Investments in associates 91,336
FREFRIEEE Deferred tax assets 27,716
FE Inventories 4,454
FEWE 5 R 3K I H A B R Trade and other receivables 1,096,201
RITHEBREIR S Bank balances and cash 223,359
FERTE 5 BRI E A FE TR Trade and other payables (269,284)
aRBE Contract liabilities (255,416)
HEAE Lease liabilities (593)
RIEFIIE A E Deferred tax liabilities (169,786)
AR A EFELE (R AFER) Total identifiable net assets at fair value 2,127,722
e R Non-controlling interests (496,910)
1,630,812
WS E AR E Goodwill on acquisition 204,557
wRE Total consideration 1,835,369
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39. &iE 39. COMMITMENTS
REBEBRBREHRER LT E XK The Group had the following capital commitments at the end of
¥ - the reporting period:
—E-= —E -
2023 2022
FHET FAET
HK$’ 000 HK$'000
AT EEEETHEARNES  Capital expenditure contracted for but not
B # R R P BB E AR ¢ provided in the consolidated financial
statements in respect of:
"E Investments 142,790 1,971,892
WEEMIZE - BE REBARSE  Acquisition of property, plant and equipment
AEEE and right-of-use assets 293,985 641,887
436,775 2,613,779
40. EEEH 40. PLEDGE OF ASSETS
RZZE_=F+-_A=+—H K& At 31st December, 2023, the Group pledged the following assets
EEEBTIEEERENTRAR as security for trade payables to suppliers of natural gas and
HIEE R EN B 5 R BN A franchise performance to the government:
TS E RERPER
—EB-=F —E-F
2023 2022
FHET FAET
HK$’ 000 HK$'000
BEHEAIRITFER Pledged bank deposits 357,875 896
[ K%l“?ﬁ%’\ﬁﬂ$%lﬁfg In addition, certain loans of the Group are pledged by the
EER - SFBEHNERE M B RR I T Group’s assets, details of which are set out in notes 14 and 16 to
14216 © the consolidated financial statements.
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4. BEALHRE
EHEBEALNRS %

BRARBAMEEFTEMBEA LRSI
AEBERNFRNEFEATETTIE

41. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES

Transactions/balances with related parties

In addition to the related party transactions set out in the
respective notes, the Group entered into the following material

ARG : transactions with related parties during the year:
—E-= —E-F
2023 2022
B 5E FER FAT
Notes HK$’ 000 HK$'000
B R NEINR S ¢ Transactions with associates:
HEEM Sale of goods a 194,042 130,493
BEEM Purchase of goods b 134,623 82,406
BRFBWA Interest income from loans d 2,366 1,920
HEZNEINRS : Transactions with joint ventures:
HE®M Sale of goods a 823,979 772,411
BEEM Purchase of goods b 123,268 96,294
EFFA 8 WA Interest income from loans d 66,860 47 411
MBERZ Interest expenses d 1,869 1,179
HEZWBARIMNZS ©  Transactions with fellow subsidiaries:
HEE®M Sale of goods a 278,192 136,176
TR EBA Interest income from deposits c 26,629 18,385
BRI 2 WA Interest income from loans d 12,024 47,493
FBRX Interest expenses d 1,783 771
e Rental expenses e 31,522 32,310
BRI R AR S Transactions with non-controlling
shareholders:
HEE® Sale of goods a 291,188 315,784
BEEM Purchase of goods b 1,259,622 572,633
B Interest expenses d 60 -
e Rental expenses e - 145
B EIERARMRS © Transactions with intermediate holding
companies:
B Interest expenses d 14,430 18,342

EERRIZRERAF
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BE-_Z-_=5+-A=+—HLEFE For the year ended 31st D

4. BEALTIRE (&) 41.RE

ecember, 2023

LATED PARTY DISCLOSURES

(CONTINUED)

HEAEALTNRE R (E)
i)

n

Rt

AEZEAT  AERF  AEMEBEL
Bl RSEE R R TT R HER R A A
SEFBEPREMND FMER LK
fHEH -
AEE AT - AE QR RIFEBRBIR
EITMEEREHEQR  AERTF

FOFERBRAETIERFERHNE
BB R AR -

R-ZTZ=F+=—A=+—0 K%
BN AR B[R R E A A B EE R
TRMH AR EFARITREAMTR
1,469,909,0008 L (ZE =4 :
966,635,000 7C) + ZFFRETA
RITHEHBRES -
CBEAR - ARKE
7 A FEE AR AR R % R R
TE’JE K F BIA R T iE

EP)\E%EmﬁﬁMﬁE@E%HH%@Fa
MARBEREENERBBIRIT
R/ ER(THIBOR] )15 » M
TEIERIN - EKR R B QAT
18463,462,0008 7L (ZEZ—4 :
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Transactions/balances with related parties (Continued)

Notes:

The sales to associates, joint ventures, fellow subsidiaries, and the
non-controlling shareholders were made according to the published
prices and conditions offered to the major customers of the Group.

The purchases from the associates, joint ventures and non-
controlling shareholders were made according to the published
prices and conditions offered by the associates, joint ventures and
non-controlling shareholders to their major customers.

At 31st December, 2023, the Group placed bank and other deposits
of HK$1,469,909,000 (2022: HK$966,635,000) with China Resources
Bank of Zhuhai Co., Ltd., a fellow subsidiary of the Company, and
these deposits were included in bank balances and cash.

The interest income and expenses from loans from associates,
joint ventures, fellow subsidiaries, non-controlling shareholders
of subsidiaries and intermediate holding companies were made
according to the benchmark interest rate for RMB loans over the
same period announced by the People’s bank of China and Hong
Kong Interbank Offered Rate (“HIBOR”), except for amount due from
a fellow subsidiaries of HK$463,462,000 (2022: Nil) which bears
interest at rates ranging from 3.20% to 3.25% per annum, amounts
due to joint ventures of HK$95,249,000 (2022: HK$110,573,000)
which bearing interest at rates ranging from 1.15% to 1.65% (2022:
1.15% to 1.65%), loans to a joint venture of HK$1,909,907,000 (2022:
HK$1,937,600,000) which bears interest at a floating loan rate of the
5-year LPR downward 20% per annum and an amount due from a
fellow subsidiary of HK$2,238,960,000 which bears interest at a rate
of 3.10% per annum as at 31st December, 2022 and was repaid in
this year. Details of the transaction is set out in notes 22, 24 and 28.

The rental expenses to fellow subsidiaries and non-controlling
shareholders were made according to the market rents.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31st December, 2023

41. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES

(CONTINUED)

Transactions/balances with related parties (Continued)

The Group itself is part of a larger group of companies under
CRCL which is controlled by the government of the PRC and
the Group operates in an economic environment currently
predominated by entities controlled, jointly controlled or
significantly influenced by the PRC government.

Apart from the transactions with the parent company and its
subsidiaries which have been disclosed in other notes to the
consolidated financial statements, the Group also conducts
businesses with entities directly or indirectly controlled, jointly
controlled or significantly influenced by the PRC government in
the ordinary course of business, including businesses regarding
the majority of its bank deposits and the corresponding
interest income, certain bank and other borrowings and the
corresponding finance costs, a large portion of purchases and
part of the sales of gas. The directors of the Company consider
the transactions with these government-related entities are within
normal business operations and are carried out on market terms.
The Group has established its pricing strategies and these
strategies do not depend on whether or not the counterparties
are government-related entities.

TEETEEEAEME Compensation of key management personnel of the Group

—E-=F T
2023 2022
FTHER FET
HK$’ 000 HK$'000
ySEEER Short-term benefits 29,404 40,963
& BRIKIR A Post-employment benefits 1,822 1,784
31,226 42,747

A0 b RCBMBIEA TR BT
RETRAE 14ARF RN R
SIHERERS -

The related party transactions in respect of items b and ¢ above
also constitute connected transactions or continuing connected
transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

SMMFRRERAT —B-=TER @
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42. EXREREE 42. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT
AEBERHERABREEEB The Group manages its capital to maintain a balance between
FREREVFEEREHARITRAE continuity of cash flows from operating activities and the flexibility
HEEEEEZENFE - REFEIN through the use of bank and other borrowings. The Group also
FHERRKERERRSHESHTRR monitors the current and expected liquidity requirements and
REERRH  UEREAERANE its compliance with lending covenants regularly to ensure that
BEeLFTRHNAERARBIMR sufficient working capital and adequate committed lines of
MEESHRK - NEEBRFBETEFE funding are maintained to meet its liquidity requirements. The
ZEEBERBE T o Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from prior years.
AEEBHNEAERRIEAG (BER The capital structure of the Group consists of debts, which
TREMER) REBEAZE  TE include bank and other borrowings, senior notes, net of bank
WITHEBRRANBHEE AEGER balances and equity attributable to owners of the Company,
(REBTER - REBH REMEH comprising issued capital, retained profits and other reserves.
HK) -

AEEERETHRNERNEE - B The management of the Group reviews the capital structure on a
BERBE R AR AR T regular basis. As part of this review, management considers the
ARH—HH - WREEETEFHE cost of capital and the associated risks, and takes appropriate
REENEARREE  BERNRE actions to adjust the Group's capital structure through the
BATHR - BT ENEBTRBERS - payment of dividends, new share issues as well as the issue of

new debts or the redemption of existing debts.

@ CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2023
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For the year ended 31st December, 2023

43. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

BT AEER (a) Categories of financial instruments
—E== 2023
THEE Financial assets
BAVEFAHMERZE
BENERMEE
Financial assets
at fair value through
other comprehensive income
BB A
BERE BRAEKRE FIRHNEREE e
Financial
Debt Equity assets at
investments investments amortised cost Total
THERT THERT THER THER
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
BAFEFAEMEE  Equity investments at fair
W AR AR & value through other
comprehensive income - 382,644 - 382,644
m—fEA LR ARMEA  Loan to a joint venture
3% - - 1,909,907 1,909,907
JEW R 5 BR Trade receivables 155,681 - 11,280,246 11,435,927
SPAEEWF SR Financial assets included
BE in other receivables - - 1,938,536 1,938,536
BIEFRITFERRZMR  Pledged bank deposits
HE S and restricted cash - - 357,875 357,875
RITEBREES Bank balances and cash - - 9,978,468 9,978,468
155,681 382,644 25,465,032 26,003,357
EHEE Financial liabilities
REERE A
JRNEMEE
Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost
FTER
HK$’000
BB SRR Trade payables 14,435,105
RITREMEER Bank and other borrowings 22,172,058
HEAaE Lease liabilities 551,740
FHAE M FE S 5 K E A Financial liabilities included in other payables and other liabilities
BENESMER 5,750,845
42,909,748

EERRIZRERAF

TECC=FFR @
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43. €T A (&)

43. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(a) &WMIAEER (&) (a) Categories of financial instruments (Continued)
—EgE-= 2022
THEE Financial assets
BRATEFARMZE
WanerEE
Financial assets
at fair value through
other comprehensive income
TR
BEHRE RARE JIENeREE e
Financial
Debt Equity assets at
investments investments amortised cost Total
FET FET FET FET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BATEFAEMEE  Equity investments at fair
W AR AR & value through other
comprehensive income - 288,673 - 288,673
m—fEA LR ARMEA  Loan to a joint venture
= - - 1,937,600 1,937,600
A E R0 Trade receivables 202,040 - 10,297,933 10,499,973
SEAEAM UG R EM  Financial assets included
BENERMEAE in other receivables and
other assets - - 1,646,243 1,646,243
BIEFRITFRRZMR  Pledged bank deposits
ik and restricted cash - - 896 896
RITERRIES Bank balances and cash - - 6,437,479 6,437,479
202,040 288,673 20,320,151 20,810,864
DHEE Financial liabilities
RE AR
FIERBI SR B &
Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost
FET
HK$'000
FERTE 5 BRK Trade payables 10,277,590
BITREMEE Bank and other borrowings 17,716,411
AAAEMEMNZEEMEENSRIBE  Financial liabilities included in other payables
and other liabilities 6,702,045
34,696,046

@ CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2023
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43. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include equity
instruments at fair value through other comprehensive
income, trade and other receivables, pledged bank
deposits and restricted cash, bank balances and cash,
trade and other payables, bank and other borrowings,
medium-term notes and other long-term liabilities. Details of
these financial instruments are disclosed in the respective
notes. The risks associated with these financial instruments
and the policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out
below. The Group manages and monitors these exposures
to ensure that appropriate measures are implemented in a
timely and effective manner.

Foreign currency risk

The carrying amounts of the Group’s monetary assets and
monetary liabilities denominated in foreign currencies,
i.e. currencies other than the functional currency of the
respective group entities, which are mainly bank balances
and cash, bank and other borrowings and medium-term
notes, at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

—E-=F B
2023 2022
FERT FHET
HK$’ 000 HK$'000
EE Assets

ETHARKE US$ against RMB 69,252 70,256
E N US$ against HK$ 3,251 3,052
BITHARE HK$ against RMB 1,666 1,604
ANRME BT RMB against HK$ 1,485 411,433

afE Liabilities
ETLHBT US$ against HK$ 1,743,764 1,714,973
AER AR JPY against RMB 138,037 184,178

REEEBE BT IMNE E R
By ARSI ESMNE R - AR B
W S TS INE R B A R 4
RONE R o B E A 6 RS
EREIRINERR -

The Group manages its foreign currency risk by closely
monitoring the movements of foreign currency exchange
rates. The Group currently has not entered into any foreign
currency forward contracts to hedge against foreign
currency risk. Management will consider hedging foreign
currency exposure should the need arise.

EPERBIERERDLET —B-ZEFH @
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ANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Foreign currency risk (Continued)
Foreign currency sensitivity analysis

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 5%
(2022: 5%) increase and decrease in the relevant functional
currencies of the group entities, against the following
foreign currencies. 5% (2022: 5%) is the sensitivity rate
which represents management’s assessment of the possible
change in foreign currency rates. The sensitivity analysis
includes only outstanding monetary items denominated in
foreign currencies and adjusts their translation at the year
end for the 5% (2022: 5%) change in foreign currency
rates. The sensitivity analysis excludes balances which are
denominated in US$ for an entity with HK$ as its functional
currency since US$ is pegged to HK$. A positive number
indicates an increase in pre-tax profit for the year when
the relevant functional currencies of the group entities
strengthen by 5% (2022: 5%) against the relevant foreign
currencies. For a 5% (2022: 5%) weakening of the relevant
functional currencies of the group entities against the
relevant foreign currencies, there would be an equal but
opposite impact on the pre-tax profit for the year and the
balances below would be negative.

—E-= —F-—

2023 2022

FHET FHT

HK$’ 000 HK$'000
E uss

FRBANRF Pre-tax profit for the year 3,463 3,513
BT HK$

FRBANRF Pre-tax profit for the year 83 80
=] JPY

FRT AR Pre-tax profit for the year (6,902) (9,209)
AR RMB

FRBRNRF Pre-tax profit for the year 74 20,572

ERERS  ARNEFRERN
[E B I T R 2 R - Ft
BURE AT T e &R BB B SME
[\

p CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2023

In management’s opinion, the sensitivity analysis is
unrepresentative of the inherent foreign exchange risk as
the year end exposure does not reflect the exposure during

the year.
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43. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk
in relation to prevailing market interest rates on bank
balances and pledged bank deposits and restricted cash
(see notes 27 and 26 for details of these balances) and
floating-rate amounts due from/to joint ventures, amounts
due to intermediate holding companies and bank and
other borrowings (see notes 28 and 31 for details of these
borrowings). Management continuously monitors interest
rate fluctuation and will consider further hedging interest
rate risk should the need arise.

The Group is also exposed to fair value interest rate risk in
relation to fixed-rate bank and other borrowings, amounts
due from intermediate holding companies, amounts due
from fellow subsidiaries and senior notes (see notes 24 and
32 for details). Management continuously monitors interest
rate exposure.

Interest rate sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis has been determined based on
the exposure to interest rates for interest-bearing bank
balances, other deposits, pledged bank deposits, amounts
due from/to joint ventures, amounts due to intermediate
holding companies and bank and other borrowings.
The analysis is prepared assuming that those balances
outstanding at the end of each reporting period were
outstanding for the whole year. A 10 or 50 basis points
increase or decrease which represents management’s
assessment of the reasonably possible change in interest
rates is used.

EPERBIERERDLET —B-ZEFH @
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43. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Interest rate risk (Continued)
Interest rate sensitivity analysis (Continued)

If the interest rate on bank balances, other deposits,
pledged bank deposits and restricted cash, loans to a joint
venture and amounts due from/to joint ventures carried at
variable rates had been 10 basis points higher/lower and
all other variables were held constant, the pre-tax profit
for the year ended 31st December, 2023 would increase/
decrease by HK$12,033,000 (2022: HK$8,282,000). If the
interest rate on floating-rate bank and other borrowings
and amounts due to intermediate holding companies had
been 50 basis points higher/lower and all other variables
were held constant, the pre-tax profit for the year ended
31st December, 2023 would decrease/increase by
HK$33,644,000 (2022: HK$34,664,000). This is mainly
attributable to the Group’s exposure to interest rates
benchmarked to HIBOR on its floating-rate bank and other
borrowings and amounts due to intermediate holding
companies.

The Group’s exposure to cash flow interest rate risk is
mainly concentrated on the fluctuation of the HIBOR and the
People’s Bank of China Base Rate.

Credit risk

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in the event
of the counterparties’ failure to perform their obligations
in relation to each class of recognised financial assets
is the carrying amount of those assets as stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position. In order to
minimise the credit risk, the Group has policies in place for
determination of credit limits, credit approvals and other
monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up action is
taken to recover overdue debts.
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43. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

Before accepting any new customer, the Group carries
out searches on the creditability of the new customer and
assesses the potential customer’s credit quality and defines
credit limits by customer. Limits attributed to customers are
reviewed once a year.

In addition, the Group reviews the recoverability of each
individual trade debt on a regular basis to ensure that
adequate impairment losses are made for irrecoverable
amounts. In this regard, the Group considers that the credit
risk is significantly reduced.

The credit risk on bank deposits is limited because the
counterparties are financial institutions with high credit
standing.

Maximum exposure and year-end staging as at 31st
December, 2023

The table below shows the credit quality and the maximum
exposure to credit risk based on the Group’s credit policy,
which is mainly based on past due information unless other
information is available without undue cost or effort, and
year-end staging classification as at 31st December, 2023.
The amounts presented are gross carrying amounts for
financial assets.

SMMFRRERAT —B-=TER @
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43. €I A (&) 43. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
(b) HKEREBEEZREE(Z) (b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

EEERE (&)
R-ZF-Z=F+=-A=+—HH
By AR g R F AR (A2

(Continued)
Credit risk (Continued)

Maximum exposure and year-end staging as at 31st
December, 2023 (Continued)

128 A%
REEE BEFENRNEERE
12-month ECLs Lifetime ECLs
K& B&2 K83 il &g
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
TER T TiEn TER AR
HK$’ 000 HK$’000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
A-AAEAARMER Loan o a joint venture 1,909,907 - - - 1,909,907
ERALNEFE Amounts due from joint ventures 433,893 - - - 433,893
[N Amounts due from associates 150,100 - - - 150,100
YRR R 2R Amounts due from non-controlling
shareholders 186,740 - - - 186,740
ERRZMBLARTE Amounts due from fellow
subsidiaries 824,312 - - - 824,312
EWESET Trade receivables* - - - 11,847,395 11,847,395
A Other receivables™ 424,138 - - - 424,138
BEREIEIRZRIES  Pledged bank deposits and
restricted cash 357,875 - - - 357,875
FOEBRES Bank balances and cash 9,978,468 - - - 9,978,468
14,265,433 - - 11,847,395 26,112,828
* AR EBRA GO ELRE * For trade receivables to which the Group applies the simplified

WEKRE ZERME + BEEK
HERBENERIEENIBHRE
fisE24 -

T ERAHRMEBERANSEREE
Ao BEEHBETRERE
ENFERRE VTS HEIEH
REREN  BEGEEEER
BRIESR]-
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approach for impairment, information based on the provision
matrix is disclosed in note 24 to the financial statements.

i The credit quality of the financial assets included in other
receivables is considered to be “normal” when they are
not past due and there is no information indicating that the
financial assets had a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition.
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43. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

Maximum exposure and year-end staging as at 31st
December, 2022

The table below shows the credit quality and the maximum
exposure to credit risk based on the Group’s credit policy,
which is mainly based on past due information unless other
information is available without undue cost or effort, and
year-end staging classification as at 31st December, 2022.

MEEEZREBRNZEAEER The amounts presented are gross carrying amounts for
% 2N EEAEREERN financial assets.
HARTEE -
12EAES
EERE EEFARERREEEE
12-month ECLs Lifetime ECLs
Ba1 K82 [K&3 itz e
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
AL T T T T
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
A-HAENRREER Loans 10 a joint venture 1,937,600 - - - 1,937,600
WA ERENE Amounts due from joint ventures 258,330 - - - 258,330
FEl = N EIIE Amounts due from associates 126,386 - - - 126,386
FEIEERR R A Amounts due from non-controlling
shareholders 180,194 - - - 180,194
ERRZMBLARTE Amounts due from fellow
subsidiaries 348,944 - - - 348,944
ERESE Trade receivables* - - - 10,815,185 10,815,185
Hip Rl Other receivables™ 781818 - - - 781818
BEBRAEAREEHES  Pledged bank deposits and
restricted cash 896 - - - 896
BIEBRFS Bank balances and cash 6,437,479 - - - 6,437,479
10,071,647 - - 10,815,185 20,886,832
* AR B FEA A ELRE * For trade receivables to which the Group applies the simplified

MEKREZERME - AR
BEBMEREENIBHRE
FisE24 -

approach for impairment, information based on the provision
matrix is disclosed in note 24 to the financial statements.

o BRARGEERNERAE *
ABH - BEERETS®E
ENEERRE ML HEREL
REREN  AEGEEEEW
BRIER] -

The credit quality of the financial assets included in other
receivables is considered to be “normal” when they are not
past due and there is no information indicating that the financial
assets had a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition.

HFERRERERLE —To=HFH @
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REBBHREARTERIERZE
21,845,964,000/87C « AEPE
ERE © R 2 Fil By E A
Z AEEEBRRNEEES
AREERE T -_=F+=-A=
T—HRBRKR+ZEANRER
j: °

@ CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2023

ecember, 2023

43. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Liquidity risk

In the management of liquidity risk, the Group monitors
and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents
deemed adequate by management to finance the Group’s
operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash
flows. Management also monitors the utilisation of bank
borrowings and ensures compliance with loan covenants, if
any.

At 31st December, 2023, the Group had net current
liabilities of HK$15,655,135,000. Taking into account of
the unutilised banking facilities of HK$21,845,964,000
and internally generated funds of the Group and the other
factors described in note 2, the Group has sufficient
working capital for its present requirements for the next
twelve months from 31st December, 2023.
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43. TRIT A (&) 43. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
(b) BBEBEEEEREE(E) (b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

mEE2mEE (F)

TRAMBHEI A EEGHEBER
HEBENRREREH - Z&
REPNARE B A ERE AR &
FHBAMKRMRRSREER -
ZRBENERAEHRET
g o both interest and principal cash flows.

Liquidity risk (Continued)

The following table details the Group’s remaining
contractual maturity for its financial liabilities and lease
liabilities. The table has been drawn up based on the
undiscounted cash flows based on the earliest date on
which the Group can be required to pay. The table includes

RERY BaE RERES

nEFEHE AH-5£  EFHBsE BEsE REAT HEE
Over 1 year
Weighted Ondemand  but not more Total
average o less than than undiscounted Carrying
interest rate 1 year 5years  Over 5 years cash flows amounts
T T TR TR TR
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000
RZB-=F+ZA=1-A At 31st December, 2023
ERB A RE MR Trade and other payables
-%8 - interest-free - 15,981,757 - - 15,981,757 15,981,757
-iE - interest-bearing 5.65 4,146,854 - - 4,146,854 3,924,988
FORABEE Bank and other borrowings 2.59 5,019,394 16,996,007 730,913 22,746,314 22,172,058
TEZE Medium-term notes 2.90 - 567,740 - 567,740 551,740
RERE Lease liahilities 4.22 150,244 44,695 297,178 492,117 472,190
HtREEE Other long-term liabilities 3.95 - 57477 252,940 310,417 279,205
25,298,249 17,665,919 1,281,031 44,245,199 43,381,938
mk bt e 4 S At 31st December, 2022
ERB AT RE MR Trade and other payables
-%8 - interest-free - 14,006,363 - - 14,006,363 14,006,363
-it8 - interest-bearing 407 2,724,351 - - 2,724,351 2,618,022
BAOREMBEE Bank and other borrowings 179 7,974,946 9,939,198 508,390 18,422,534 17,716,411
HEEE Lease liabilities 4.2 106,894 178,761 138,932 424,587 407,39
AhREEE Other long-term liabilities 395 23,983 43,080 307,843 374,906 355,250
24,836,537 10,161,039 955,165 35,952,741 35,103,441

)7 B F) 2=y S B BN R 5 HA R
EERREMGEAR - A Ltk
TEEREENTETASET

The amounts included above for variable interest rate
instruments for non-derivative financial liabilities are subject
to change if changes in variable interest rates differ to those
estimates of interest rates determined at the end of the
reporting period.

SMMFRRERAT —B-=TER @
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43. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Fair value measurements of financial instruments

This note provides information about how the Group
determines fair values of various financial assets and
financial liabilities.

Some of the Group’s assets are measured at fair value for
financial reporting purposes.

In estimating the fair value of an asset, the Group uses
market-observable data to the extent that it is available.
Where Level 1 inputs are not available, the Group
establishes the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs

to perform the valuation.

The Group uses valuation techniques that include inputs
that are not based on observable market data to estimate
the fair value of certain types of financial instruments. The
valuation techniques, inputs and key assumptions used in
the determination of the fair value of various assets and
liabilities are stated below.
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43. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(c)

(Continued)

Fair value measurements of financial instruments

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets that are measured

at fair value on a recurring basis

Some of the Group’s financial assets are measured at fair

value at the end of each reporting period. The following

table gives information about how the fair values of these

financial assets are determined (in particular, the valuation

technique(s) and inputs used).

fEERER TUERE\REE
SHEE RTZRzt-BHATE AVESR  IERAEE EXTUBREARE  APEMBE §8E
Valuation Relationship of
Fairvalue  technique(s) Significant unobservable inputs to
Financial assets Fair value as at 31st December, hierarchy ~ and key input(s) ~ unobservable input(s) fair value Sensitivity
BI:E T5CE
023 2022
EEARRTEN\AB2ENE  LRRAEE- LR - g-0)  ERMBHEEAE  TER 0 il ¥t
WRARE 6,671,00047 5870000%T
Equity investments designaied  Listed equity Listed equity securities Level 1()) ~ Quoted bid prices in  N/A N/A N/A
at fair value through other securities - - HK85,870,000 an active market
comprehensive income HKS6,671,000
EEARLTENAAMAENE FLARARS-  ELTREER- ESHG)  MERE RETATRE P57 RHER ATERE  HHAN/H)STEHATE
WRARE 315,883,007 282,803 0007 FEPB) b2EE/ 40/ 5014606, 015780
MIENS RE - 1E (ZBZ2F: 10 940000
A FVEBTAY )
&8
Equity investments designated ~ Non-listed equity ~ Non-listed equity Level 3 (i) Valuation muliples  Average PE, The higher the 5% increase/decrease in
at fair value through other securities - securities - PIS, P/B, EV/EBITA multiles, the higher ~ multiples would result in
comprefensive income HKS315,863,000 HK$262,803,000 muliples of peers the fair value increase/decrease in fair
value by HK$14,686,015
(2022: HK$10,940,000)
EraiEitit! TEE ATENHE FAAN/ RS TERATE
/8106, 106 34287 (=
F22E3300.000%7)
Discount for The higher the discount, 5% increase/decrease in
[ack of marketabilty the lower the fair discount would result in
value decrease/increase in fair
valug by HKS$6,106,342
(2022: HK83,342,000)
FOVET\EHAENANER BHERER- BUERES - EZBi)  BATEZEABE TR fy ok TR
RE 155,681,007 202,040,000 7
Debt investments at fair value ~~ Trade receivables - Trade receivables - Level (i) Significant N/A N/A N/A
through ofher comprehensive  HK$155,681,000 HK$202,040,000 observation inputs

income

EERRIZRERAF

—E-C-FER @
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43. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(c)

Fair value measurements of financial instruments
(Continued)

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets that are measured
at fair value on a recurring basis (Continued)

Fair value measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2, or
3 based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value
measurements are observable and the significance of the
inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which
are described as follows:

(i) Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity
can access at the measurement date;

(i) Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly;

(iii) Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.

There were no transfers among Levels 1, 2 and 3 in the
current and prior years.

The directors of the Company consider that the carrying
amounts of other financial assets and financial liabilities
(except for senior notes as disclosed in note 32) recorded
at amortised cost in the consolidated financial statements
approximate to their fair values.

The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities
have been determined in accordance with generally
accepted pricing models based on the discounted cash
flow analysis.

p CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2023



2

5
A

R 7% Bf

=+
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

£

B %

=
mE!

n

For the year ended 31st December, 2023

+-BLEE

A=

BE-_Z_=%F+

6267201'22 0642Lb - 8502122 9ve'9l £05'265 216'66 026'708' - £20¢ 1oquis0sq 181 Iy B— =BT H=8Ty
(9ey'oee) (r98'1) (op2's1) (902'062) (0ss‘zp) 10109 (8e9'12) (625°) - uorersues} obueyoxs ubisioy -1 e
499062 - - - - 49906 - - - PosE[93D PUBPIN ERAER
166°0v6 12612 ] H'6.8 £8L') 09 698°1 0et'pl £16'91 psiubogal §is00 B0UBUY VUEREHT
22200 (ze0'shl) (ee'Lze) 984604 (eps'ovee)  (986‘09z't)  (698‘t) 045'82' (er6'a1) $1oyj Useo Bujoueu4 EUTHER
219901} WL 585'96¢ 95896, - - - - - UoljeuIquIo ssauisng HOHE
#0976} $09'%61 - - - - - - - Palolus $ases| Moy LR E
8IE'06Y'ET  966°L0p - HEOILL 998'262T 189'Ly 086121 Bbb'205° - 6207 ‘fienuer 1s| 1y B-H-H="&Ty
(91 ®10N) (z¢ a10N) (1€ a10N) (82 310N) (82 @10N) (82 @10N) (82 @10N)
(9FEH) (TCEH) (CEH) (82EH) (8TEH) (82H) (82EH)
000 $YH 000 $YH 000 $XH 000 $YH 000 $YH 000 $YH 000 $YH 000 $YH 000 $XH
gy gt gt gt gy rgd gt rgs
1ejo| sladed sbuimolioq SOUBIPISGNS  SI3P|OyBJeYS  SAINJUAA fuedwoa a|qefed
[ERIETITR) Jayjo pue Mojjaj 0y anp  buyjjonuod Juiol 0} anp Butpjoy EETENT]
widl-poys yueg sjunowy -Uou 0} anp sjunowy ajeIpaw.ajul
Jadng sjunowy ue 0} anp
junowy
£ HEEH HExd EET HYEY HEEH HERY HREY (G20
BHE 1% Eiyeng  wEsNy ESNg HEgdhy
'sollIAI}OB BulOUBUl WOJ) SMO|} YSBO SB SMOJ} YSBD JO Jusualels palepljosuod s,dnols sy
Ul PBIJISSE|D ‘8q [|IM SMO|} YSBO 8INninj JO ‘@Jom SMO[} YSBO UOIYM 10} 8SOY] aJe SalllAllor cHEMBEYEYMENERY O hEEUE S YEE Y
Buloueul) wouy Buisue sanjigel] ‘sebueyo yseo-uou pue Ysed ylog Buipn|oul ‘ssiliAljoe WEUEMY K EEVEMHH(EEHFEEHER - (&
Buloueuly wolj Buisie saliigel| s,dnotn oyl ul sebueyd s|lelop Mmol|og o|ge} oyl TN THUHE  EEEEHENEMEBESE V44222

S3ILIAILOV ONIONVNIL
NOdHd ONISIHVY S3ILITIEGVIT 40 NOILVITIONOD3IY v HFEEHEZE® vy

FEH

=

IRRIERERAE

£



B EIRRMEE
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BE-Z-_=5+1+

AN

For the year ended 31st December, 2023

T—RLEFE

—A=

81£'867'6C 566207 - HY9LL L 958262 199'Lyy 05512k 677'£05°C - 220¢ '1oquisdsq Is|¢ Iy H—=E=+H-=&u
(692'52.') (199°9) (0sz'6) (lereny't) (osk'ert) (298'78) {21z - - uopeisuei} 8Buzyoxe ubjaI0 el
692'1£6 - - - - 692'166 - - - PaJE|OP puspIAd LR
810255 699G 65969 689y Ll - [JAN re'sl €05 pasiubogsl §j800 B0UBUY YFRER
¥Sr'p07'01 (168'7L}) (621'865°S) 860208'L) 118960 (8r0'elc't) e (199'925'2) (e26) soj yseo Buioveu EUTHER
9.8 9/8 - - - - - - - UOIJRUIQUIOD SSBUISNg poyx
661'20¢ 661'20¢ - - - - - - - Palelus seses| MaN GELEE
9g'8z1 el 60.'68¢ 041'685'G 98116 886'61E £60'78. 216'62) 892610 - 220¢ hienuer 18| 1y H-E-3-=&Ty
(91 810N) (cg 810N) (1g 810N) (82 81oN) (82 81oN) (82 a1oN) (82 810N
(9HEH) (CEEH) (124 (B2EH) (B2EH) (B2EH) (B22H)
000.9)H 000.YH 000$YH 000$YH 000,$%H 000.$%H 000.$%H 000.$H 000.$YH
g+ L Lz Lgr Lgs gt U3t L
[eloL s8jou $6UIM0LI0q SalIBIPISGNS SIPIOYBIRYS  SaIMUBA fuedwoo ajoefed
101Usg 1810 pue Mojjoj oy enp  Buloiued 1ol o} anp Buipjoy 1s3J81U|
Jueg sjunowy -Uou 0} anp syunowy ajeipauLslul
sjunowy Ue 0} onp
Junowy
£ CEEE] 8219 EELES HRLVEY  EREY HEEY HEEY Elhg
HLE A0 bikzedt EoNE LEEEIEAT

(@3NNILNOD) SAILIAILOY DNIONVNIL
NOHdd HDNISIHY SIILITIGVIT 40 NOILVITIONOD3Y ‘vb

(B HFEESHEZE® vy

p CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2023



45. Lt B &

HMZE G P RRMEI8AMRE » &
SEERAFERKLEEWESIMNRRE R
HEMRAO AR BENE - ARER-ZF
TCFET A=+ —BHOEAMBRRYN
HBREEFOED - EOVBEHRERS
UefE B HAEE FERK o

e R RMEE
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE—_Z_=F+4+_-_B=+—HILEE For the year ended 31st December, 2023

45. COMPARATIVE AMOUNTS

As explained in note 38 to the consolidated financial statements,
the Group has finalised the fair value assessments of the
acquisition of &MFAR and #REIMR in the current year. The
comparative figures of the Group's consolidated financial position
as at 31st December, 2022 have been restated as if the initial
accounting had been completed from the respective acquisition
dates.

ERRAERERAT —F-SEFR @
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46. 72 B B BF B AR R 3= 46. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF

THE COMPANY

—F== T
+=ZA=+—-8 +=ZA=+—H
31st December, 31st December,
2023 2022
FHET FHET
HK$’ 000 HK$'000
ERBEE Non-current assets
W - BREREE Property, plant and equipment 203 351
KRB ARIMIELTIRE Unlisted investments in subsidiaries 8,097,972 13,850,031
FEUR I B~ R FIR Amounts due from subsidiaries 12,583,371 8,247,939
FREEE Right-of-use assets 3,217 7,247
20,684,763 22,105,568
MENEE Current assets
H i FE UK Other receivables 2,251,847 2,259,835
FE UGB 8 A B 5RIE Amounts due from subsidiaries 618,778 618,778
RITHEBRIE S Bank balances and cash 48,374 25,898
2,918,999 2,904,511
nEEE Current liabilities
HEmENRRETER Other payables and accrued charges 227,411 227,683
FERTPN B A RIFE Amounts due to subsidiaries 1,911,753 2,686,456
FEfS R R IR A B 5E Amounts due to an intermediate holding
company 3,804,920 2,507,449
HEaE Lease liabilities 3,313 4,238
RITEE Bank borrowings 500,000 -
BEBE Deferred Liabilities 112 68
6,447,509 5,425,894
mEEEFE Net current liabilities (3,528,510) (2,521,383)
17,156,253 19,584,185
AR AR R 1 Capital and reserves
%N Share capital 231,401 231,401
=] Reserves 12,356,034 14,634,521
12,587,435 14,865,922
EREEE Non-current liabilities
RITREMEE Bank and other borrowings 4,568,818 4,714,973
HEAaRE Lease liabilities - 3,290
4,568,818 4,718,263
17,156,253 19,584,185

% CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2023
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF

THE COMPANY (CONTINUED)

Movements in the Company’s reserves:
REEHE
RHEE NS KaEzRH EXGE REEN At
Shares
held for
incentive
Share Contributed award Translation Retained
premium surplus scheme reserve profits Total
W-T-Z%-F-H At 1st January, 2022 10,038,588 7,388,600 (166,250) (691,862) 616,156 17,185,232
EnEHR2ENEER Profit and total comprehensive
income for the year - - - - 329,922 329,922
B Dividends paid - (2,.880,633) - - - (2,880,633)
RZTZZE+ZA=+-H At 31st December, 2022 10,038,588 4,507,965 (166,250) (691,862) 946,078 14,634,521
EmgfR2 ENEER Profit and total comprehensive
income for the year - - - - 108,139 108,139
BiRE Dividends paid - (2,381,626) - - - (2381,626)
RZTZ=§+Zf=+-H At 31st December, 2023 10,038,588 2,126,341 (166,250) (691,862) 1,049,217 12,356,034

EHRREZERERDIFE =%

S=FEER @
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47. T BB AR EFR
= BHEA DG~ RER

RBEBRR - AEBEHBERRNER

47. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

General information of principal subsidiaries

Details of the Group’s subsidiaries at the end of the reporting

oyl e period are set out below.
BRARMERE/
HEMEL/ Efas rEEELRE
Ry Issued and Attributable
NRER Place of incorporation/ fully paid share/ equity interest TEER
Name of company establishment registered capital of the Group Principal activities
“BZzE - F
2023 2022
% %
ERRAERAT AERLHS LakiER 100 100 REER
China Resources Gas Limited British Virgin Islands Ordinary US$4 Investment holding
AEI China Gas Limited HEES Li@k1,000ET 100 100  RERR
Cayman Islands Ordinary US$1,000 Investment holding
ERIRA e ARH1,571,340,0007 39.17 2017 HERRRERBREE
PRC RMB1,571,340,000 Sale of liquefied gas and
connection of gas pipelines
ERERERABRAR il 29,980,000% 7 50.00 5000 HERCARERBAEE
PRC US$29,980,800 Sale of liquefied gas and
connection of gas pipelines
UNEERABRARF il AR 950,000,007 80.00 8000 WERLAREBBAEE
PRC RMB950,000,000 Sale of liquefied gas and
connection of gas pipelines
BIEERABRAR e AR%15,000,0007T 51.00 5100 HERCRMERBREE
PRC RMB15,000,000 Sale of liquefied gas and
connection of gas pipelines
ERRRS il 174,708,000% 7 51.00 - HERLARESERER
PRC US$174,708,000 Sale of liquefied gas and

@ CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2023
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47. TEMBE LR EH (&) 47. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
(CONTINUED)
FEMB ARG —RER (F) General information of principal subsidiaries (Continued)
BRARBRREK/
HRERL/ dMER REBEERE
R Issued and Attributable
NRER Place of incorporation/ fully paid share/ equity interest TEER
Name of company establishment registered capital of the Group Principal activities
“E-Zf  CZEC-CF
2023 2022
% %
HEEEBRRARAAM Gk AR 150,000,00070 49.00 4900 WEREREEBATE
PRC RMB150,000,000 Sale of liquefied gas and
connection of gas pipelines
EEEEREERAAM HE NE#286,582,8587T 51.00 51.00 HERCEREBEAEE
PRC RMB286,582,858 Sale of liquefied gas and
connection of gas pipelines
REBERRAARAF il AR 785,000,000 66.43 6643 HERCAREEBEEE
PRC RMB785,000,000 Sale of liquefied gas and
connection of gas pipelines
EFEREe G AR 1,000,000,0007T 51.00 4900 HWERCEREEBEATE
PRC RMB1,000,000,000 Sale of liquefied gas and

connection of gas pipelines
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47. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

(CONTINUED)

General information of principal subsidiaries (Continued)

! These companies were established in the PRC in the form of Sino-
foreign equity joint venture enterprise.

2 The Group has existing rights that give it the current ability to
direct the relevant activities of the subsidiary as the Group is able
to nominate over 50% of the board of directors. Accordingly, the
company is regarded a subsidiary of the Group.

8 These companies were established in the PRC in the form of wholly-
foreign-owned enterprises.

4 The Group has rights to direct the relevant activities of the subsidiary
as the Group signed a memorandum in which the other shareholder
would agree with the Group’s decisions on operating, investment
and financing activities of the subsidiary, and the other shareholder
would agree the appointment of the entire senior management
nominated by the Group. Accordingly, the company is accounted for
as a subsidiary of the Group.

5 The companies were acquired in 2023. Details of the acquisition are
set out in note 38.

Except for China Resources Gas Limited which is directly held by
the Company, all the above principal subsidiaries are indirectly
held by the Company and operate principally in their places of
incorporation/establishment.

Except for EEMR, none of the subsidiaries had any debt
securities outstanding at 31st December, 2023 and 2022 or at
any time during the year.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Group which, in the
opinion of the directors of the Company, principally affected the
results or assets and liabilities of the Group. To give details of
other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors of the
Company, result in particulars of excessive length.
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47. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
(CONTINUED)

Details of non-wholly-owned subsidiaries that have material

RIS non-controlling interests
TRINREBEAEZERBERHARE The table below shows details of non-wholly-owned subsidiaries
B2 EMBARE : of the Group that have material non-controlling interests:
ALK
FTERERE FEREEASREE
Place of BRIl
incorporation and  Proportion of ownership BT HERERHER Rt
ARER principal place of interests held by Profit allocated to non- Accumulated
Name of company business non-controlling interests controlling interests non-controlling interests
—ECZE S —ECZE Tz —E-=F -
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
% % FTER TR TR THET
HK$’ 000 HK$'000 HK$’ 000 HK$'000
BEMA HE
PRC 60.83 N/A 259,032 N/A 3,107,417 N/A
BHEBREERLA i
PRC 20.00 20.00 94,825 189,552 2,704,345 2,810,098
BRERRRERLA HE
PRC 50.00 50.00 215,249 289,579 1,544,988 1,858,510
REBERRRARAR e
PRC 33.57 33.57 34,517 18,498 506,139 303,228
HIZBEREERAA i
PRC 49.00 49.00 68,773 87,608 451,491 495,737
HEEBREERAA i
PRC 51.00 51.00 38,678 62,071 427,880 471,205
EFEH i
PRC 49.00 N/A 12,871 N/A 410,082 N/A

EEMARBRERLT —B-=FTH @
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47. TEMBE LR EH (&) 47. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
(CONTINUED)
BEERERERNIEZEREL Details of non-wholly-owned subsidiaries that have material
AR () non-controlling interests (continued)
ML R
TEEEBY FERERTERTE
Place of BHLAl
incorporation and  Proportion of ownership BT FERER RN Rt FERER
ARER principal place of interests held by Profit allocated to non- Accumulated
Name of company business non-controlling interests controlling interests non-controlling interests
ZEC=F S ZECZ=F —E-F —E-=F “EoCF
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
% % FiEn FET FET FEL
HK$’ 000 HK$'000 HK$’ 000 HK$'000
BEEBREERLA e
PRC 49.00 49.00 29,296 43,205 372,864 399,196
EHER #
PRC 49.00 N/A 41,659 N/A 349,880 N/A
BAFERERNER
FERWBAF 12,736,365 6,899,837

Individually immaterial
subsidiaries with
non-controlling interests

22,611,451 13,237,811

b CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2023



2

5
A

BYBHRM

=
£VT\

n

For the year ended 31st December, 2023

T—HLEFE

A

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE-ZT-_=F+

YIN e 16166 £85'L 051'85. 09581 61568 £25'L60 YIN 925998 s1sa1lu; Bujjo4uoa-Uou B4} o} 8igEIGLNE 10id WER SRR
YN w's 981'16 809'6L 012'85. 868’12 615682 686662 YN 96L'b96 fueduwo sy} jo sisuno 0} a|qeiglie 1joid (EGENEE AENA
YN £95'76 £6/8L1 160°951 29/'116 867'L28 851645 8LL8Lh YN 78888 Jeaf o) 1o} 140id [[B4VE
YIN 296192} 721029 757966 298°€1801 6062208 810'186'G 625°026' YN 08b'15€°4 anusney Vi
YN 1876087 012856 U007 GO6SH'e) Ll 10866’ 166890 YN 1E'SETL SI8SSe [el0] 9538
000$XH 000 $XH 00089 000 $YH 000.$)H 000 $XH 000$H 000 $XH 0008 000.5¥H
gt gt gy Lgy gy 4 S gy Lgy gy gy
¢e0e £200 200e £000 ¢e0e £202 ¢e0e £000 ¢00e £20?
$T0ET $TT&C $TTEC $T&C & F=CEC $TT&C $TT&C $TTEC -
EHiE R ER= R LOYEEYEENE LOYEEYREEE -4

‘suoleulwle dnolbeaul
21048Q SluUNowe Ssjuasaidal MO[@g UOIBWIOU| [BIOUBUI} PBSBWIWNS 8y
"MOjeg 1IN0 18s SI siseJelul Buljojjuoo-uou [elieleW SBY 1Byl Salieipisgns o BEZGHIHHI (87 MBS Y ZFMIE L L YT - L
s, dnoJ9 sy} Jo yoea Jo 108dsal Ul UOEUWOUI [BIOUBUY POSUBUIWNG M EBEWHEHEHHET B EEVHERHAHIEYEGHEE

(@anNILNOD)
S31YVIAISENS 1VdIONIHd 40 SHVYINIJILHVd "Lt (B) BT EMEE "Ly

<

TRO-FHER

BRRERERDR

ek
E:c )



e B RRMTE

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE-ZB-=F+=-A=+t—HLFE

For the year ended 31st December, 2023

47. TEMBLRRAEHR (F)

47. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

(CONTINUED)
HEERRRERLA EEERRRERLA FERERNRERLA ERERRRERLT
“g-cf ZE-CF ZBZ=E ZEC —g-cE ZEZ-CE CECDE CEoCF
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
T Tin T Tir T Tir Tin T
HKS'000 HK$000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BEE Total assets 1,655,640 476,401 1,830,152 2,042,089 1,217,216 1,256,671 2,968,840 N/A
WA Revenus 1,268,746 1,104,822 1,258,083 1,288,925 1,209,264 1,370,261 2,258,475 N/A
EnEH Profit for the year 84,345 121,707 66,492 88,174 63,108 55,104 42,611 N/A
LN et Profit attributable to awners
of the Company 41,330 59,636 33,911 44,969 20,720 36,606 28,326 N/A
ERERREET Profit attributable to the
non-controlling interests 41,239 60,192 33,078 46,853 24521 36,606 21,517 N/A

p CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2023
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48. TEEGE N FER 48. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL JOINT
VENTURES
AEEESRE
JoRoR:E ] Attributable
AFER Place of HEmER equity interest TEEH
Name of company establishment Registered capital of the Group Principal activities
—EC=f —T-—F
2023 2022
% %
ERERELNEERAT hE AR#2,800,000,0007T 49 49 WERCEREFRRES
PRC RMB2,800,000,000 Sale of liquefied gas and
connection of gas
pipelines
BEERRERRRBRAT HE AR717,578,6007C 49 49 HERLRREEHRESR
PRC RMB717,578,600 Sale of liquefied gas and
connection of gas
pipelines
BETHMREEERAT HE AR100,000,0007 49 49 HERLRREBHRESE
PRC RMB100,000,000 Sale of liquefied gas and
connection of gas
pipelines
BMEBRRRERAR HE AR 538,995,300 49 49 HERLRREBHRES
PRC RMB538,995,300 Sale of liquefied gas and
connection of gas
pipelines
BRERRRAERAR HE AR 5,000,000,0007T 49 49 HERICEREFRRES
PRC RMB5,000,000,000 Sale of liquefied gas and
connection of gas
pipelines
REAMEBNRBR A HE AR 1,000,000,0007T 49 49 HERILERZEEHEES
PRC RMB1,000,000,000 Sale of liquefied gas and
connection of gas
pipelines
EFERRRARAR E AR#1,000,000,0007T TER 49 HERCEREBBRES
PRC RMB1,000,000,000 N/A Sale of liquefied gas and

connection of gas
pipelines
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48.

49.

TESEQNAER (&) 48. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL JOINT
VENTURES (CONTINUED)

HREAEBHAROTZEREER The Group is able to exercise joint control over these companies

GERRN—BAE - WAEEAEH of which the decisions about the relevant activities require

ZENBITRERZEE - Bt Z the unanimous consent of the Group and the joint ventures.

EREHRATEENEE AR Accordingly, these companies are regarded as joint ventures of
the Group.

AABEERR - LXRAIHNAEE The above table lists the joint ventures of the Group which, in the
GERRHAREFANEETER opinion of the directors of the Company, principally affected the
HELEBNANEEEEFHEEANLD results of the year or form a substantial portion of the net assets
7} ARAREEZRA  HIHEMEL of the Group. To give details of other joint ventures would, in the

ANFBERSEAREBNTTER - opinion of the directors of the Company, result in particulars of

excessive length.
FTEBRLENTEER 49. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL ASSOCIATES
£808/HEAT
BENRE REBELRE
R Equity interest Attributable
NRER Place of HRER held by the joint interest equity TEER
Name of company establishment Registered capital ventures/subsidiaries of the Group Principal activities
k- ZECZE -E-CF
2023 2022 2023 2022
% % % %

AR REERH Giléi AK%889,000,00070 3240 3240 3240 240  HERLARESEREE

BRAF" PRC RMB889,000,000 Sale of liquefied gas and

connection of gas pipelines

ERMREERR HE AR1,571,340,0007T TER 39.17 TER .17 HERLRRESEREE

BRAF" PRC RMB1,571,340,000 N/A N/A Sale of liquefied gas and

connection of gas pipelines
* ZERRZROELBIZEFR G L * These companies have listed their shares on the Shanghai Stock
e Exchange.

ARBESRR - LRMAIIOANEHE
BERNTHARENEGEREERR
BEEEATE -ARDEZERR #
FIEMBE RANHIBE B ARG S
RITE °

The above table lists the associates of the Group which, in the
opinion of the directors of the Company, principally affected
the results or assets and liabilities of the Group. To give details
of other associates would, in the opinion of the directors of the

Company, result in particulars of excessive length.
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Five Year Financial Summary

¥E RESULTS
BE+-A=+—BIL5E
Year ended 31st December,
—T-AE CZEZTF T ZT-HF ZBI=Hf
2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
FHEL FET FHEL FET FET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’ 000
LON REVENUE 56,976,290 55,864,169 79,642,030 94,338,329 101,271,905
F N F PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 6,499,743 6,711,888 8,439,832 6,308,519 7,058,886
FEAG ATTRIBUTABLE TO:
RARERA OWNERS OF THE COMPANY 5,043,477 5,151,292 6,395,368 4,733,455 5,223,705
AR S NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS 1,456,266 1,560,596 2,044,464 1,575,064 1,835,181
6,499,743 6,711,888 8,439,832 6,308,519 7,058,886
EEREE ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
t=A=t—A
31st December,
“E-nF EZTF Z--F —E--F CZEZ=f
2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
FET FHET FET FHET FEx
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’ 000
(&==5)
(Restated)
AEMBE TOTAL ASSETS 81,824,020 93,870,809 106,136,308 112,303,585 137,871,085
BELEHE TOTAL LIABILITIES (46,001,805) (47,002,450) (52,098,646) (59,758,162) (74,487,403)
B4 (E TOTAL EQUITY 35,822,215 46,868,359 54,037,662 52,545,423 63,383,682
FEAERRA - EQUITY ATTRIBUTABLE TO:
AARERA OWNERS OF THE COMPANY 26,795,437 36,274,287 41,256,915 39,307,612 40,772,231
e ¥ NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS 9,026,778 10,594,072 12,780,747 13,237,811 22,611,451
A48 (E TOTAL EQUITY 35,822,215 46,868,359 54,037,662 52,545,423 63,383,682

M ARBEERAFEREEERBAMER
RERBIMRRN AR EEFG - REER =
T CoF+ A=+ -BNESHBRR
MLLBEFEEY - BRETRIER
BEUWEE ALK

Note:

The Group has finalised the fair value assessments of the acquisition & /M

B and #FEBIAE in current

year. The comparative figures of the Group’s

consolidated financial position as at 31st December 2022 have been

restated as if the initial accounting had been completed from the respective

acquisition dates.

HFERRERERLE —To=HFH @
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EEg BOARD OF DIRECTORS
HITES Executive Directors

B E () Mr. YANG Ping (Chief Executive Officer)
RN Mr. LI Xiaoshuang

FHITES Non-executive Directors

FEREE (F/E) Mr. WANG Chuandong (Chairman)
TRk E Mr. WANG Gaogiang

RUER S Mr. LIU Jian

BRu+ Ms. GE Lu

BAFHITES Independent Non-executive Directors
=I5B EE Mr. WONG Tak Shing

EELEA Mr. YU Hon To, David

BENSTE Mr. YANG Yuchuan

FHBEE Mr. LI Pok Yan
EREEREEZES AUDIT AND RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE
ENEELE (£/) Mr. YU Hon To, David (Chairman)
=5RBEE Mr. WONG Tak Shing

BEINLEE Mr. YANG Yuchuan

Bk A Mr. LIU Jian

FMWESES REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
=EBEE (EE) Mr. WONG Tak Shing (Chairman)
EIEIES e Mr. YU Hon To, David

FERLE Mr. LI Pok Yan
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REZES® NOMINATION COMMITTEE
FEREE () Mr. WANG Chuandong (Chairman)
=SB EE Mr. WONG Tak Shing

BEELE Mr. YU Hon To, David

BENEE Mr. YANG Yuchuan
TEERZER CORPORATE GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE
BEEE (FE) Mr. YANG Ping (Chairman)
=5FBEE Mr. WONG Tak Shing

BEINELE Mr. YANG Yuchuan

DNAEME COMPANY SECRETARY
EptEsE 4 Ms. CHENG Kwai Yuk

HMRER REGISTERED OFFICE
Victoria place, 5th Floor Victoria place, 5th Floor

31 Victoria Street 31 Victoria Street

Hamilton HM10 Hamilton HM10

Bermuda Bermuda

FEEEME PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS
B/A Room 1901-02

L China Resources Building

B 265k 26 Harbour Road

EHAE Wanchai

1901-02% Hong Kong
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EHEE AN EG

REE R TEERBIRO) T 69t M 2 R F 25 B

BEREET
HABEPIR
HEATB1098
KT KE8IE

FEROBFETRE

MUFG Fund Services (Bermuda) Limited

The Belvedere Building
69 Pitts Bay Road
Pembroke HMO08
Bermuda

BEREROBFELS &
SERERBERAF

EBERE165
BEREHAPOTE

LEGAL ADVISOR
Reed Smith Richards Butler

AUDITOR

KPMG

Public Interest Entity Auditor registered in accordance with the
Accounting and Financial Reporting Council Ordinance

8th Floor, Prince’s Building

10 Chater Road

Central, Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER OFFICE

MUFG Fund Services (Bermuda) Limited
The Belvedere Building

69 Pitts Bay Road

Pembroke HM08

Bermuda

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR
AND TRANSFER OFFICE

Tricor Secretaries Limited
17/F, Far East Finance Centre
16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong
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China Resources Gas Group Limited

BB BT EEE265%  Room 1901-02, China Resources Building,
FEFHAE1901-02E 26 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong.

& 5& Telephone : 2593 8200
B & Facsimile : 2598 8228
494 Website © WWW.Crcgas.com

EH Email : crgas_IR@crgas.com
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